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(7) With respect to a supported party, 
the degree of assurance the proposal 
provides to the supported party that 
the material payment and delivery ob-
ligations of the covered affiliate credit 
enhancement and the covered direct 
QFC it supports will continue to be 
performed after the covered affiliate 
support provider enters a receivership, 
insolvency, liquidation, resolution, or 
similar proceeding; 

(8) The presence, nature, and extent 
of any provisions that require a cov-
ered affiliate support provider or trans-
feree to meet conditions other than 
material payment or delivery obliga-
tions to its creditors; 

(9) The extent to which the supported 
party’s overall credit risk to the direct 
party may increase if the enhanced 
creditor protection conditions are not 
met and the likelihood that the sup-
ported party’s credit risk to the direct 
party would decrease or remain the 
same if the enhanced creditor protec-
tion conditions are met; and 

(10) Whether the proposal provides 
the counterparty with additional de-
fault rights or other rights. 

§ 382.6 [Reserved] 

§ 382.7 Exclusion of certain QFCs. 
(a) Exclusion of QFCs with FMUs. Not-

withstanding § 382.2 of this part, a cov-
ered FSI is not required to conform to 
the requirements of this part a covered 
QFC to which: 

(1) A CCP is party; or 
(2) Each party (other than the cov-

ered FSI) is an FMU. 
(b) Exclusion of certain covered entity 

and covered bank QFCs. If a covered 
QFC is also a covered QFC under part 
252 or part 47 of this title that an affil-
iate of the covered FSI is also required 
to conform pursuant to part 252 or part 
47 and the covered FSI is: 

(1) The affiliate credit enhancement 
provider with respect to the covered 
QFC, then the covered FSI is required 
to conform the credit enhancement to 
the requirements of this part but is not 
required to conform the direct QFC to 
the requirements of this part; or 

(2) The direct party to which the cov-
ered entity or covered bank is the affil-
iate credit enhancement provider, then 
the covered FSI is required to conform 

the direct QFC to the requirements of 
this part but is not required to conform 
the credit enhancement to the require-
ments of this part. 

(c) Exclusion of certain contracts. Not-
withstanding § 382.2 of this part, a cov-
ered FSI is not required to conform the 
following types of contracts or agree-
ments to the requirements of this part: 

(1) An investment advisory contract 
that: 

(i) Is with a retail customer or 
counterparty; 

(ii) Does not explicitly restrict the 
transfer of the contract (or any QFC 
entered into pursuant thereto or gov-
erned thereby, or any interest or obli-
gation in or under, or any property se-
curing, any such QFC or the contract) 
from the covered FSI except as nec-
essary to comply with section 205(a)(2) 
of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 
(15 U.S.C. 80b–5(a)(2)); and 

(iii) Does not explicitly provide a de-
fault right with respect to the contract 
or any QFC entered pursuant thereto 
or governed thereby. 

(2) A warrant that: 
(i) Evidences a right to subscribe to 

or otherwise acquire a security of the 
covered FSI or an affiliate of the cov-
ered FSI; and 

(ii) Was issued prior to January 1, 
2018. 

(d) Exemption by order. The FDIC may 
exempt by order one or more covered 
FSI(s) from conforming one or more 
contracts or types of contracts to one 
or more of the requirements of this 
part after considering: 

(1) The potential impact of the ex-
emption on the ability of the covered 
FSI(s), or affiliates of the covered 
FSI(s), to be resolved in a rapid and or-
derly manner in the event of the finan-
cial distress or failure of the entity 
that is required to submit a resolution 
plan; 

(2) The burden the exemption would 
relieve; and 

(3) Any other factor the FDIC deems 
relevant. 

PART 390—REGULATIONS TRANS-
FERRED FROM THE OFFICE OF 
THRIFT SUPERVISION 

Subparts A–E [Reserved] 
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Subpart F—Application Processing 
Procedures 

Sec. 
390.100 What does this subpart do? 
390.101 Do the same procedures apply to all 

applications under this subpart? 
390.102 How does the FDIC compute time pe-

riods under this subpart? 
390.103 Must I meet with the FDIC before I 

file my application? 
390.104 What information must I include in 

my draft business plan? 
390.105 What type of application must I file? 
390.106 What information must I provide 

with my application? 
390.107 May I keep portions of my applica-

tion confidential? 
390.108 Where do I file my application? 
390.109 What is the filing date of my appli-

cation? 
390.110 How do I amend or supplement my 

application? 
390.111 Who must publish a public notice of 

an application? 
390.112 What information must I include in 

my public notice? 
390.113 When must I publish the public no-

tice? 
390.114 Where must I publish the public no-

tice? 
390.115 What language must I use in my 

publication? 
390.116 Comment procedures. 
390.117 Who may submit a written com-

ment? 
390.118 What information should a comment 

include? 
390.119 Where are comments filed? 
390.120 How long is the comment period? 
390.121 Meeting procedures. 
390.122 When will the FDIC conduct a meet-

ing on an application? 
390.123 What procedures govern the conduct 

of the meeting? 
390.124 Will the FDIC approve or disapprove 

an application at a meeting? 
390.125 Will a meeting affect application 

processing time frames? 
390.126 If I file a notice under expedited 

treatment, when may I engage in the 
proposed activities? 

390.127 What will the FDIC do after I file my 
application? 

390.128 If the FDIC requests additional in-
formation to complete my application, 
how will it process my application? 

390.129 Will the FDIC conduct an eligibility 
examination? 

390.130 What may the FDIC require me to do 
after my application is deemed com-
plete? 

390.131 Will the FDIC require me to publish 
a new public notice? 

390.132 May the FDIC suspend processing of 
my application? 

390.133 How long is the FDIC review period? 

390.134 How will I know if my application 
has been approved? 

390.135 What will happen if the FDIC does 
not approve or disapprove my application 
within two calendar years after the filing 
date? 

Subpart G—Nondiscrimination 
Requirements 

390.140 Definitions. 
390.141 Supplementary guidelines. 
390.142 Nondiscrimination in lending and 

other services. 
390.143 Nondiscriminatory appraisal and un-

derwriting. 
390.144 Nondiscrimination in applications. 
390.145 Nondiscriminatory advertising. 
390.146 Equal Housing Lender Poster. 
390.147 Loan application register. 
390.148 Nondiscrimination in employment. 
390.149 Complaints. 
390.150 Guidelines relating to non-

discrimination in lending. 

Subparts H–N [Reserved] 

Subpart O—Subordinate Organizations 

390.250 What does this subpart cover? 
390.251 Definitions. 
390.252 How must separate corporate identi-

ties be maintained? 
390.253 What notices are required to estab-

lish or acquire a new subsidiary or en-
gage in new activities through an exist-
ing subsidiary? 

390.254 How may a subsidiary of a State sav-
ings association issue securities? 

390.255 How may a State savings association 
exercise its salvage power in connection 
with a service corporation or lower-tier 
entities? 

Subpart P [Reserved] 

Subpart Q—Definitions for Regulations 
Affecting All State Savings Associations 

390.280 When do the definitions in this sub-
part apply? 

390.281 Account. 
390.282 Accountholder. 
390.283 Affiliate. 
390.284 Affiliated person. 
390.285 Audit period. 
390.286 Certificate account. 
390.287 Consumer credit. 
390.288 Controlling person. 
390.289 Corporation. 
390.290 Demand accounts. 
390.291 Director. 
390.292 Financial institution. 
390.293 Immediate family. 
390.294 Land loan. 
390.295 Low-rent housing. 
390.296 Money Market Deposit Accounts. 
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390.297 Negotiable Order of Withdrawal Ac-
counts. 

390.298 Nonresidential construction loan. 
390.299 Nonwithdrawable account. 
390.300 Note account. 
390.301 [Reserved] 
390.302 Officer. 
390.303 Parent company; subsidiary. 
390.304 Political subdivision. 
390.305 Principal office. 
390.306 Public unit. 
390.307 Savings account. 
390.308 State savings association. 
390.309 Security. 
390.310 Service corporation. 
390.311 State. 
390.312 Subordinated debt security. 
390.313 Tax and loan account. 
390.314 United States Treasury General Ac-

count. 
390.315 United States Treasury Time De-

posit Open Account. 
390.316 With recourse. 

Subpart R—Regulatory Reporting Standards 

390.320 Regulatory reporting requirements. 
390.321 Regulatory reports. 
390.322 Audit of State savings associations. 

Subpart S—State Savings Associations— 
Operations 

390.330 Chartering documents. 
390.331 Securities: Statement of non-insur-

ance. 
390.332 Merger, consolidation, purchase or 

sale of assets, or assumption of liabil-
ities. 

390.333 Advertising. 
390.334 Directors, officers, and employees. 
390.335 Tying restriction exception. 
390.336 Employment contracts. 
390.337 Transactions with affiliates. 
390.338 Loans by State savings associations 

to their executive officers, directors and 
principal shareholders. 

390.339 Pension plans. 
390.340 Offers and sales of securities at an 

office of a State savings association. 
390.341 Inclusion of subordinated debt secu-

rities and mandatorily redeemable pre-
ferred stock as supplementary capital. 

390.342 Capital distributions by State sav-
ings associations. 

390.343 What is a capital distribution? 
390.344 Definitions applicable to capital dis-

tributions. 
390.345 Must I file with the FDIC? 
390.346 How do I file with the FDIC? 
390.347 May I combine my notice or applica-

tion with other notices or applications? 
390.348 Will the FDIC permit my capital dis-

tribution? 
390.349 Management and financial policies. 
390.350 Examinations and audits; appraisals; 

establishment and maintenance of 
records. 

390.352 Financial derivatives. 
390.353 Interest-rate-risk-management pro-

cedures. 
390.354 Procedures for monitoring Bank Se-

crecy Act (BSA) compliance. 
390.355 Suspicious Activity Reports and 

other reports and statements. 
390.356 Bonds for directors, officers, employ-

ees, and agents; form of and amount of 
bonds. 

390.357 Bonds for agents. 
390.358 Conflicts of interest. 
390.359 Corporate opportunity. 
390.360 Change of director or senior execu-

tive officer. 
390.361 Applicable definitions. 
390.362 Who must give prior notice? 
390.363 What procedures govern the filing of 

my notice? 
390.364 What information must I include in 

my notice? 
390.365 What procedures govern the FDIC’s 

review of my notice for completeness? 
390.366 What standards and procedures will 

govern the FDIC review of the substance 
of my notice? 

390.367 When may a proposed director or 
senior executive officer begin service? 

390.368 When will the FDIC waive the prior 
notice requirement? 

Subpart T—Accounting Requirements 

390.380 Form and content of financial state-
ments. 

390.381 Definitions. 
390.382 Qualification of public accountant. 
390.383 Condensed financial information 

[Parent only]. 
390.384 Financial statements for conver-

sions, SEC filings, and offering circulars. 

Subparts U–V [Reserved] 

Subpart W—Securities Offerings 

390.410 Definitions. 
390.411 Offering circular requirement. 
390.412 Exemptions. 
390.413 Non-public offering. 
390.414 Filing and signature requirements. 
390.415 Effective date. 
390.416 Form, content, and accounting. 
390.417 Use of the offering circular. 
390.418 Escrow requirement. 
390.419 Unsafe or unsound practices. 
390.420 Withdrawal or abandonment. 
390.421 Securities sale report. 
390.422 Public disclosure and confidential 

treatment. 
390.423 Waiver. 
390.424 Requests for interpretive advice or 

waiver. 
390.425 Delayed or continuous offering and 

sale of securities. 
390.426 Sales of securities at an office of a 

State savings association. 
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390.427 Current and periodic reports. 
390.428 Approval of the security. 
390.429 Form for securities sale report. 
390.430 Filing of copies of offering circulars 

in certain exempt offerings. 

Subpart X [Reserved] 

Subpart Y—Prompt Corrective Action 

390.450–390.455 [Reserved] 
390.456 Directives to take prompt corrective 

action. 
390.457 Procedures for reclassifying a State 

savings association based on criteria 
other than capital. 

390.458 Order to dismiss a director or senior 
executive officer. 

390.459 Enforcement of directives. 

Subpart Z [Reserved] 

AUTHORITY: 12 U.S.C. 1819. 
Subpart F also issued under 5 U.S.C. 552; 

559; 12 U.S.C. 2901 et seq. 
Subpart G also issued under 12 U.S.C. 2810 

et seq., 2901 et seq.; 15 U.S.C. 1691; 42 U.S.C. 
1981, 1982, 3601–3619. 

Subpart O also issued under 12 U.S.C. 1828. 
Subpart Q also issued under 12 U.S.C. 1462; 

1462a; 1463; 1464. 
Subpart R also issued under 12 U.S.C. 1463; 

1464; 1831m; 1831n; 1831p–1. 
Subpart S also issued under 12 U.S.C. 1462; 

1462a; 1463; 1464; 1468a; 1817; 1820; 1828; 1831e; 
1831o; 1831p–1; 1881–1884; 3207; 3339; 15 U.S.C. 
78b; 78l; 78m; 78n; 78p; 78q; 78w; 31 U.S.C. 5318; 
42 U.S.C. 4106. 

Subpart T also issued under 12 U.S.C. 1462a; 
1463; 1464; 15 U.S.C. 78c; 78l; 78m; 78n; 78w. 

Subpart W also issued under 12 U.S.C. 
1462a; 1463; 1464; 15 U.S.C. 78c; 78l; 78m; 78n; 
78p; 78w. 

Subpart Y also issued under 12 U.S.C. 1831o. 

SOURCE: 76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, unless 
otherwise noted. 

Subparts A—E [Reserved] 

Subpart F—Application Processing 
Procedures 

§ 390.100 What does this subpart do? 
(a) This subpart explains the FDIC’s 

procedures for processing applications, 
notices, or filings (applications) under 
parts 390 and 391 for State savings asso-
ciations. Except as provided in para-
graph (b) of this section, §§ 390.103 
through 390.110 and §§ 390.126 through 
390.135 apply whenever an FDIC regula-
tion requires any person (you) to file 
an application with the FDIC. Sections 

390.111 through 390.125, however, only 
apply when a FDIC regulation incor-
porates the procedures in those sec-
tions or where otherwise required by 
the FDIC. 

(b) This subpart does not apply to 
any of the following: 

(1) An application related to a trans-
action under section 13(c) or (k) of the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 
U.S.C. 1823(c) or (k). 

(2) A request for reconsideration, 
modification, or appeal of a final FDIC 
action. 

(3) A request related to litigation, an 
enforcement proceeding, a supervisory 
directive or supervisory agreement. 
Such requests include a request seek-
ing approval under, modification of, or 
termination of an order issued under 
subparts C or D, a supervisory agree-
ment, a supervisory directive, a con-
sent merger agreement or a document 
negotiated in settlement of an enforce-
ment matter or other litigation, unless 
an applicable FDIC regulation specifi-
cally requires an application under this 
subpart. 

(4) An application filed under a FDIC 
regulation that prescribes other appli-
cation processing procedures and time 
frames for the approval of applications. 

(c) If a FDIC regulation for a specific 
type of application prescribes some ap-
plication processing procedures, or 
time frames, the FDIC will apply this 
subpart to the extent necessary to 
process the application. For example, if 
a FDIC regulation for a specific type of 
application does not identify time peri-
ods for the processing of an applica-
tion, the time periods in this subpart 
apply. 

§ 390.101 Do the same procedures 
apply to all applications under this 
subpart? 

The FDIC processes applications for 
State savings associations under this 
subpart using two procedures, expe-
dited treatment and standard treat-
ment. To determine which treatment 
applies, you may use the following 
chart: 
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If . . . Then the FDIC will process 
your application under . . . 

(a) The applicable regulation does not specifically state that expedited treatment is available ...... Standard treatment. 
(b) You are not a State savings association ..................................................................................... Standard treatment. 
(c) Your composite rating is 3, 4, or 5. The composite rating is the composite numeric rating that 

the FDIC or the other federal banking regulator assigned to you under the Uniform Financial 
Institutions Rating System or under a comparable rating system. The composite rating refers 
to the rating assigned and provided to you, in writing, as a result of the most recent examina-
tion.

Standard treatment. 

(d) Your Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) rating is Needs to Improve or Substantial Non-
compliance. The CRA rating is the Community Reinvestment Act performance rating that the 
FDIC or the other federal banking regulator assigned and provided to you, in writing, as a re-
sult of the most recent compliance examination. See, for example, 12 CFR 195.28.

Standard treatment. 

(e) Your compliance rating is 3, 4, or 5. The compliance rating is the numeric rating that the 
FDIC or the other federal banking regulator assigned to you under the FDIC compliance rating 
system, or a comparable rating system used by the other federal banking regulator. The com-
pliance rating refers to the rating assigned and provided to you, in writing, as a result of the 
most recent compliance examination.

Standard treatment. 

(f) You fail any one of your capital requirements under 12 CFR part 324 ....................................... Standard treatment. 
(g) The FDIC has notified you that you are an association in troubled condition ............................ Standard treatment. 
(h) Neither the FDIC nor any other federal banking regulator has assigned you a composite rat-

ing, a CRA rating or a compliance rating.
Standard treatment. 

(i) You do not meet any of the criteria listed in paragraphs (a) through (h) of this section ............. Expedited treatment. 

[76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, as amended at 83 
FR 17743, Apr. 24, 2018] 

§ 390.102 How does the FDIC compute 
time periods under this subpart? 

In computing time periods under this 
subpart, the FDIC does not include the 
day of the act or event that commences 
the time period. When the last day of a 
time period is a Saturday, Sunday, or 
Federal holiday, the time period runs 

until the end of the next day that is 
not a Saturday, Sunday, or Federal 
holiday. 

§ 390.103 Must I meet with the FDIC 
before I file my application? 

(a) Chart. To determine whether you 
must attend a pre-filing meeting before 
you file an application, please consult 
the following chart: 

If you file . . . Then . . . 

An application to acquire control of a State 
savings association.

The FDIC may require you to meet with the FDIC before filing your application and 
may require you to submit a draft business plan or other relevant information be-
fore this meeting. 

(b) Contacting the appropriate FDIC re-
gion. (1) You must contact the appro-
priate FDIC region a reasonable time 
before you file an application described 
in paragraph (a) of this section. Unless 
paragraph (a) already requires a pre-fil-
ing meeting or a draft business plan, 
the appropriate FDIC region will deter-
mine whether it will require a pre-fil-
ing meeting, and whether you must 
submit a business plan or other rel-
evant information before the meeting. 
The appropriate FDIC region will also 
establish a schedule for any meeting 
and the submission of any information. 

(2) All other applicants are encour-
aged to contact the appropriate FDIC 
region to determine whether a pre-fil-
ing meeting or the submission of a 
draft business plan or other relevant 

information would expedite the appli-
cation review process. 

§ 390.104 What information must I in-
clude in my draft business plan? 

If you are required to submit a draft 
business plan under § 309.103, your plan 
must: 

(a) Clearly and completely describe 
the State savings association’s pro-
jected operations and activities; 

(b) Describe the risks associated with 
the transaction and the impact of this 
transaction on any existing activities 
and operations of the State savings as-
sociation, including financial projec-
tions for a minimum of three years; 

(c) Identify the majority of the pro-
posed board of directors and the key 
senior executive officers (as defined in 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 17:23 Feb 11, 2020 Jkt 250040 PO 00000 Frm 00450 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Q:\12\12V6.TXT PC31kp
ay

ne
 o

n 
V

M
O

F
R

W
IN

70
2 

w
ith

 $
$_

JO
B



441 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation § 390.108 

§ 390.361) of the State savings associa-
tion and demonstrate that these indi-
viduals have the expertise to prudently 
manage the activities and operations 
described in the savings association’s 
draft business plan; and 

(d) Demonstrate how applicable re-
quirements regarding serving the cred-
it and lending needs in the market 
areas served by the State savings asso-
ciation will be met. 

§ 390.105 What type of application 
must I file? 

(a) Expedited treatment. If you are eli-
gible for expedited treatment under 
§ 390.101, you may file your application 
in the form of a notice that includes all 
information required by the applicable 
substantive regulation. If the FDIC has 
designated a form for your notice, you 
must file that form. Your notice is an 
application for the purposes of all stat-
utory and regulatory references to 
‘‘applications.’’ 

(b) Standard treatment. If you are sub-
ject to standard treatment under 
§ 390.101, you must file your application 
following all applicable substantive 
regulations and guidelines governing 
the filing of applications. If the FDIC 
has a designated form for your applica-
tion, you must file that form. 

(c) Waiver requests. If you want the 
FDIC to waive a requirement that you 
provide certain information with the 
notice or application, you must include 
a written waiver request: 

(1) Describing the requirement to be 
waived and 

(2) Explaining why the information is 
not needed to enable the FDIC to 
evaluate your notice or application 
under applicable standards. 

§ 390.106 What information must I pro-
vide with my application? 

(a) Required information. You may ob-
tain information about required cer-
tifications, other regulations and 
guidelines affecting particular notices 
and applications, appropriate forms, 
and instructions from the appropriate 
FDIC region. 

(b) Captions and exhibits. You must 
caption the original application and re-
quired copies with the type of filing, 
and must include all exhibits and other 
pertinent documents with the original 

application and all required copies. 
You are not required to include origi-
nal signatures on copies if you include 
a copy of the signed signature page or 
the copy otherwise indicates that the 
original was signed. 

§ 390.107 May I keep portions of my 
application confidential? 

(a) Confidentiality. The FDIC makes 
submissions under this subpart avail-
able to the public, but may keep por-
tions of your application confidential 
based on the rules in this section. 

(b) Confidentiality request. (1) You 
may request the FDIC to keep portions 
of your application confidential. You 
must submit your request in writing 
with your application and must explain 
in detail how your request is consistent 
with the standards under the Freedom 
of Information Act (5 U.S.C. 552) and 
part 309 of this chapter. For example, 
you should explain how you will be 
substantially harmed by public disclo-
sure of the information. You must sep-
arately bind and mark the portions of 
the application you consider confiden-
tial and the portions you consider non- 
confidential. 

(2) The FDIC will not treat as con-
fidential the portion of your applica-
tion describing how you plan to meet 
your Community Reinvestment Act 
(CRA) objectives. The FDIC will make 
information in your CRA plan, includ-
ing any information incorporated by 
reference from other parts of your ap-
plication, available to the public upon 
request. 

(c) FDIC determination on confiden-
tiality. The FDIC will determine wheth-
er information that you designate as 
confidential may be withheld from the 
public under the Freedom of Informa-
tion Act (5 U.S.C. 552) and part 309 of 
this chapter. The FDIC will advise you 
before it makes information you des-
ignate as confidential available to the 
public. 

§ 390.108 Where do I file my applica-
tion? 

(a) Appropriate FDIC region. (1) You 
must file the original application and 
the number of copies indicated on the 
applicable form with the appropriate 
FDIC region. The appropriate FDIC re-
gion addresses are listed in paragraph 
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(a)(2) of this section. If the form does 
not indicate the number of copies you 
must file or if FDIC has not prescribed 
a form for your application, you must 

file the original application and two 
copies. 

(2) The addresses of appropriate FDIC 
region and the states covered by each 
office are: 

Region Office address States served 

New York ......................... 350 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1200, New York, NY 
10118.

Connecticut, Delaware, District of Columbia, 
Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Hamp-
shire, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, 
Puerto Rico, Rhode Island, Vermont, Virgin Is-
lands. 

Atlanta ............................. 10 Tenth Street, NE., Suite 800, Atlanta, GA 
30309–3906.

Alabama, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina, 
South Carolina, Virginia, West Virginia. 

Chicago ........................... 300 South Riverside Plaza, Suite 1700, Chicago, 
Illinois 60606.

Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Ohio, Michigan, Wis-
consin. 

Kansas ............................ 1100 Walnut St., Suite 2100, Kansas City, MO 
64106.

Iowa, Kansas, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, 
North Dakota, South Dakota. 

Dallas .............................. 1601 Bryan Street, Dallas, TX 75201 .................. Arkansas, Colorado, Louisiana, Mississippi, New 
Mexico, Oklahoma, Tennessee, Texas. 

San Francisco ................. 25 Jessie Street at Ecker Square, Suite 2300, 
San Francisco, CA 94105–2780.

Alaska, Arizona, California, Guam, Hawaii, 
Idaho, Montana, Nevada, Northern Mariana Is-
lands, Oregon, Utah, Washington, Wyoming. 

(b) Additional filings with FDIC head-
quarters. (1) In addition to filing in the 
appropriate FDIC region, if your appli-
cation involves a significant issue of 
law or policy or if an applicable regula-
tion or form directs you to file with 
FDIC Headquarters, you must also file 
copies of your application with the 
Risk Management and Applications 
Section at FDIC headquarters, 550 17th 
Street, NW., Washington, DC 20429. You 
must file the number of copies indi-
cated on the applicable form. If the 
form does not indicate the number of 
copies you must file or if FDIC has not 
prescribed a form for your application, 
you must file three copies. 

(2)(i) You may request a list of appli-
cations involving significant issues of 
law or policy by contacting appropriate 
FDIC region. 

(ii) The FDIC reserves the right to 
identify significant issues of law or 
policy in a particular application. The 
FDIC will advise you, in writing, if it 
makes this determination. 

§ 390.109 What is the filing date of my 
application? 

(a) Your application’s filing date is 
the date that you complete all of the 
following requirements. 

(1) You attend a pre-filing meeting 
and submit a draft business plan or rel-
evant information, if the FDIC requires 
you to do so under § 390.103. 

(2) You file your application and all 
required copies with the FDIC, as de-
scribed under § 390.108. 

(i) If you are required to file with an 
appropriate FDIC region and with the 
FDIC headquarters, you have not filed 
with the FDIC until you file with both 
offices. 

(ii) You have not filed with the ap-
propriate FDIC region or the FDIC 
headquarters until you file the applica-
tion and the required number of copies 
with that office. 

(iii) If you file after the close of busi-
ness established by appropriate FDIC 
region or the FDIC headquarters, you 
have filed with that office on the next 
business day. 

(3) [Reserved] 
(b) The FDIC may notify you that it 

has adjusted your application filing 
date if you fail to meet any applicable 
publication requirements. 

(c) If, after you properly file your ap-
plication with the appropriate FDIC re-
gion, the FDIC determines that a sig-
nificant issue of law or policy exists 
under § 390.108(b)(2)(ii), the filing date 
of your application is the day you filed 
with the appropriate FDIC region. The 
30-day review period under § 390.126 or 
§ 390.127 will restart in its entirety 
when the appropriate FDIC region for-
wards the appropriate number of copies 
of your application to the FDIC head-
quarters. 
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§ 390.110 How do I amend or supple-
ment my application? 

To amend or supplement your appli-
cation, you must file the amendment 
or supplemental information at the ap-
propriate FDIC region along with the 
number of copies required under 
§ 390.108. Your amendment or supple-
mental information also must meet the 
caption and exhibit requirements at 
§ 390.106(b). 

§ 390.111 Who must publish a public 
notice of an application? 

Sections 390.111 through 390.115 apply 
whenever a FDIC regulation requires 
an applicant (‘‘you’’) to follow the pub-
lic notice procedures in this subpart. 

§ 390.112 What information must I in-
clude in my public notice? 

Your public notice must include the 
following: 

(a) Your name and address. 
(b) The type of application. 
(c) The name of the depository insti-

tution(s) that is the subject matter of 
the application. 

(d) A statement indicating that the 
public may submit comments to the 
appropriate FDIC region. 

(e) The address of the appropriate 
FDIC region where the public may sub-
mit comments. 

(f) The date that the comment period 
closes. 

(g) A statement indicating that the 
nonconfidential portions of the appli-
cation are on file in the appropriate 
FDIC region, and are available for pub-
lic inspection during regular business 
hours. 

(h) Any other information that the 
FDIC requires you to publish. You may 
find the format for various publication 
notices in the appendix to the FDIC ap-
plication processing handbook. 

§ 390.113 When must I publish the pub-
lic notice? 

You must publish a public notice of 
the application no earlier than seven 
days before and no later than the date 
of filing of the application. 

§ 390.114 Where must I publish the 
public notice? 

You must publish the notice in a 
newspaper having a general circulation 
in the communities indicated in the 
following chart: 

If you file . . . You must publish in the following communities . . . 

(a) Bank Merger Act application under 
390.332(a), or an application for a mutual to 
stock conversion under 12 CFR part 192.

The community in which your home office is located. 

(b) A change of control notice under part 391, 
subpart E.

The community in which the home office of the State savings association 
whose stock is to be acquired is located and, if applicable, the community 
in which the home office of the acquiror’s largest subsidiary State savings 
association is located. 

§ 390.115 What language must I use in 
my publication? 

(a) English. You must publish the no-
tice in a newspaper printed in the 
English language. 

(b) Other than English. If the FDIC de-
termines that the primary language of 
a significant number of adult residents 
of the community is a language other 
than English, the FDIC may require 
that you simultaneously publish addi-
tional notice(s) in the community in 
the appropriate language(s). 

§ 390.116 Comment procedures. 

Sections 390.116 though 390.120 con-
tain the procedures governing the sub-

mission of public comments on certain 
types of applications or notices (‘‘ap-
plications’’) pending before the FDIC. 
It applies whenever a regulation incor-
porates the procedures in §§ 390.116 
through 390.120, or where otherwise re-
quired by the FDIC. 

§ 390.117 Who may submit a written 
comment? 

Any person may submit a written 
comment supporting or opposing an ap-
plication. 
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§ 390.118 What information should a 
comment include? 

(a) A comment should recite relevant 
facts, including any demographic, eco-
nomic, or financial data, supporting 
the commenter’s position. A comment 
opposing an application should also: 

(1) Address at least one of the reasons 
why the FDIC may deny the applica-
tion under the relevant statute or reg-
ulation; 

(2) Recite any relevant facts and sup-
porting data addressing these reasons; 
and 

(3) Address how the approval of the 
application could harm the commenter 
or any community. 

(b) A commenter must include any 
request for a meeting under § 390.122 in 
its comment. The commenter must de-
scribe the nature of the issues or facts 
to be discussed and the reasons why 
written submissions are insufficient to 
adequately address these facts or 
issues. 

§ 390.119 Where are comments filed? 
A commenter must file with the ap-

propriate FDIC region (See table at 
§ 390.108(a)(2)). The commenter must si-
multaneously send a copy of the com-
ment to the applicant. 

§ 390.120 How long is the comment pe-
riod? 

(a) General. Except as provided in 
paragraph (b) of this section, a com-
menter must file a written comment 
with the FDIC within 30 calendar days 
after the date of publication of the ini-
tial public notice. 

(b) Late-filed comments. The FDIC 
may consider late-filed comments if 
the FDIC determines that the comment 
will assist in the disposition of the ap-
plication. 

§ 390.121 Meeting procedures. 
Sections 390.121 through 390.125 con-

tain meeting procedures. They apply 
whenever a regulation incorporates the 
procedures in §§ 390.121 through 390.125, 
or when otherwise required by the 
FDIC. 

§ 390.122 When will the FDIC conduct 
a meeting on an application? 

(a) The FDIC will grant a meeting re-
quest or conduct a meeting on its own 

initiative, if it finds that written sub-
missions are insufficient to address 
facts or issues raised in an application, 
or otherwise determines that a meeting 
will benefit the decision-making proc-
ess. The FDIC may limit the issues 
considered at the meeting to issues 
that the FDIC decides are relevant or 
material. 

(b) The FDIC will inform the appli-
cant and all commenters requesting a 
meeting of its decision to grant or deny 
a meeting request, or of its decision to 
conduct a meeting on its own initia-
tive. 

(c) If the FDIC decides to conduct a 
meeting, the FDIC will invite the ap-
plicant and any commenters requesting 
a meeting and raising an issue that 
FDIC intends to consider at the meet-
ing. The FDIC may also invite other in-
terested persons to attend. The FDIC 
will inform the participants of the 
date, time, location, issues to be con-
sidered, and format for the meeting a 
reasonable time before the meeting. 

§ 390.123 What procedures govern the 
conduct of the meeting? 

(a) The FDIC may conduct meetings 
in any format including, but not lim-
ited to, a telephone conference, a face- 
to-face meeting, or a more formal 
meeting. 

(b) The Administrative Procedure 
Act (5 U.S.C. 551 et seq.), the Federal 
Rules of Evidence (28 U.S.C. Appendix), 
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (28 
U.S.C. Rule 1 et seq.) and the FDIC 
Rules of Practice and Procedure in Ad-
judicatory Proceedings (subpart C) do 
not apply to meetings under this sec-
tion. 

§ 390.124 Will FDIC approve or dis-
approve an application at a meet-
ing? 

The FDIC will not approve or deny an 
application at a meeting under 
§§ 390.121 through 390.125. 

§ 390.125 Will a meeting affect applica-
tion processing time frames? 

If the FDIC decides to conduct a 
meeting, it may suspend applicable ap-
plication processing time frames, in-
cluding the time frames for deeming an 
application complete and the applica-
ble approval time frames in §§ 390.126 
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through 390.135. If the FDIC suspends 
applicable application processing time 
frames, the time period will resume 
when the FDIC determines that a 
record has been developed that suffi-
ciently supports a determination on 
the issues considered at the meeting. 

§ 390.126 If I file a notice under expe-
dited treatment, when may I engage 
in the proposed activities? 

If you are eligible for expedited 
treatment and you have appropriately 
filed your notice with the FDIC, you 
may engage in the proposed activities 
upon the expiration of 30 days after the 
filing date of your notice, unless the 
FDIC takes one of the following ac-
tions before the expiration of that time 
period: 

(a) The FDIC notifies you in writing 
that you must file additional informa-
tion supplementing your notice. If you 
are required to file additional informa-
tion, you may engage in the proposed 
activities upon the expiration of 30 cal-

endar days after the date you file the 
additional information, unless the 
FDIC takes one of the actions de-
scribed in paragraphs (b) through (d) of 
this section before the expiration of 
that time period; 

(b) The FDIC notifies you in writing 
that your notice is subject to standard 
treatment under §§ 390.126 through 
390.135. The FDIC will subject your no-
tice to standard treatment if it raises a 
supervisory concern, raises a signifi-
cant issue of law or policy, or requires 
significant additional information; 

(c) The FDIC notifies you in writing 
that it is suspending the applicable 
time frames under § 390.125; or 

(d) The FDIC notifies you that it dis-
approves your notice. 

§ 390.127 What will the FDIC do after I 
file my application? 

(a) FDIC action. Within 30 calendar 
days after the filing date of your appli-
cation, the FDIC will take one of the 
following actions: 

If the FDIC . . . Then . . . 

(1) Notifies you, in writing, that your application is complete 
* * *.

The applicable review period will begin on the date that the 
FDIC deems your application complete. 

(2) Notifies you, in writing, that you must submit addition infor-
mation to complete your application * * *.

You must submit the required additional information under 
§ 390.128. 

(3) Notifies you, in writing, that your application is materially 
deficient * * *.

The FDIC will not process your application. 

(4) Takes no action * * * ............................................................ Your application is deemed complete. The applicable review 
period will begin on the day the 30-day time period expires. 

(b) Waiver requests. If your applica-
tion includes a request for waiver of an 
information requirement under 
§ 390.105(b), and the FDIC has not noti-
fied you that you must submit addi-
tional information under paragraph 
(a)(2) of this section, your request for 
waiver is granted. 

§ 390.128 If the FDIC requests addi-
tional information to complete my 
application, how will it process my 
application? 

(a) You may use the following chart 
to determine the procedure that ap-
plies to your submission of additional 
information under § 390.127(a)(1): 

If, within 30 calendar days after the 
date of FDIC’s request for additional 
information . . . 

Then, FDIC may . . . And . . . 

(1) You file a response to all infor-
mation requests * * *.

(i) Notify you in writing within 15 days after 
the filing date of your response that your 
application is complete * * * applicable 
to all response that your application is 
complete * * *.

The applicable review period will begin on 
the date that the FDIC deems your appli-
cation complete. 

(ii) Notify you in writing within 15 calendar 
days after the filing date of your response 
that you must submit additional informa-
tion regarding matters derived from or 
prompted by information already fur-
nished or any additional information nec-
essary to resolve the issues presented in 
your application * * *.

You must respond to the additional informa-
tion request within the time period re-
quired by the FDIC. The FDIC will review 
your response under the procedures de-
scribed in this section. 
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If, within 30 calendar days after the 
date of FDIC’s request for additional 
information . . . 

Then, FDIC may . . . And . . . 

(iii) Notify you in writing within 15 calendar 
days after the filing date of your response 
that your application is materially defi-
cient * * *.

The FDIC will not process your application. 

(iv) Take no action within 15 calendar days 
after the filing date of your response 
* * *.

Your application is deemed complete. The 
applicable review period will begin on the 
day that the 15-day time period expires. 

(2) You request an extension of 
time to file additional information 
* * *.

(i) Grant an extension, in writing, specifying 
the number of days for the extension 
* * *.

You must fully respond within the extended 
time period specified by the FDIC. The 
FDIC will review your response under the 
procedures described under this section. 

(ii) Notify you in writing that your extension 
request is disapproved * * *.

The FDIC will not process your application 
further. You may resubmit the application 
for processing as a new filing under the 
applicable regulation. 

(3) You fail to respond completely 
* * *.

(i) Notify you in writing that your application 
is deemed withdrawn * * *.

The FDIC will not process your application 
further. You may resubmit the application 
for processing as a new filing under the 
applicable regulation. 

(ii) Notify you, in writing, that your response 
is incomplete and extend the response 
period, specifying the number of days for 
the respond extension * * *.

You must fully respond within the extended 
time period specified by the FDIC. The 
FDIC will review your response under the 
procedures described under this section. 

(b) The FDIC may extend the 15-day 
period referenced in paragraph (a)(1) of 
this section by up to 15 calendar days, 
if the FDIC requires the additional 
time to review your response. The 
FDIC will notify you that it has ex-
tended the period before the end of the 
initial 15-day period and will briefly ex-
plain why the extension is necessary. 

(c) If your response filed under para-
graph (a)(1) of this section includes a 
request for a waiver of an informa-
tional requirement, your request for a 
waiver is granted if the FDIC fails to 
act on it within 15 calendar days after 
the filing of your response, unless the 
FDIC extends the review period under 
paragraph (b) of this section. If the 
FDIC extends the review period under 
paragraph (b), your request is granted 
if the FDIC fails to act on it by the end 
of the extended review period. 

§ 390.129 Will the FDIC conduct an eli-
gibility examination? 

(a) Eligibility examination. The FDIC 
may notify you at any time before it 
deems your application complete that 
it will conduct an eligibility examina-
tion. If the FDIC decides to conduct an 
eligibility examination, it will not 
deem your application complete until 
it concludes the examination. 

(b) Additional information. The FDIC 
may, as a result of the eligibility ex-
amination, notify you that you must 

submit additional information to com-
plete your application. If so, you must 
respond to the additional information 
request within the time period required 
by the FDIC. The FDIC will review 
your response under the procedures de-
scribed in § 390.128. 

§ 390.130 What may the FDIC require 
me to do after my application is 
deemed complete? 

After your application is deemed 
complete, but before the end of the ap-
plicable review period, 

(a) The FDIC may require you to pro-
vide additional information if the in-
formation is necessary to resolve or 
clarify the issues presented by your ap-
plication. 

(b) The FDIC may determine that a 
major issue of law or a change in cir-
cumstances arose after you filed your 
application, and that the issue or 
changed circumstances will substan-
tially effect your application. If the 
FDIC identifies such an issue or 
changed circumstances, it may: 

(1) Notify you, in writing, that your 
application is now incomplete and re-
quire you to submit additional infor-
mation to complete the application 
under the procedures described at 
§ 390.128; and 

(2) Require you to publish a new pub-
lic notice of your application under 
§ 390.131. 
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§ 390.131 Will the FDIC require me to 
publish a new public notice? 

(a) If your application was subject to 
a publication requirement, the FDIC 
may require you to publish a new pub-
lic notice of your application if: 

(1) You submitted a revision to the 
application, you submitted new or ad-
ditional information, or a major issue 
of law or a change in circumstances 
arose after the filing of your applica-
tion; and 

(2) The FDIC determines that addi-
tional comment on these matters is ap-
propriate because of the significance of 
the new information or circumstances. 

(b) The FDIC will notify you in writ-
ing if you must publish a new public 
notice of your revised application. 

(c) If you are required to publish a 
new public notice of your revised appli-
cation, you must notify the FDIC after 
you publish the new public notice. 

§ 390.132 May the FDIC suspend proc-
essing of my application? 

(a) Suspension. The FDIC may, at any 
time, indefinitely suspend processing 
of your application if: 

(1) The FDIC, another governmental 
entity, or a self-regulatory trade or 
professional organization initiates an 
investigation, examination, or admin-
istrative proceeding that is relevant to 
the FDIC’s evaluation of your applica-
tion; 

(2) You request the suspension or 
there are other extraordinary cir-
cumstances that have a significant im-
pact on the processing of your applica-
tion. 

(b) Notice. The FDIC will promptly 
notify you, in writing, if it suspends 
your application. 

§ 390.133 How long is the FDIC review 
period? 

(a) General. The applicable FDIC re-
view period is 60 calendar days after 
the date that your application is 
deemed complete, unless an applicable 
FDIC regulation specifies a different 
review period. 

(b) Multiple applications. If you sub-
mit more than one application in con-
nection with a proposed action or if 
two or more applicants submit related 
applications, the applicable review pe-
riod for all applications is the review 

period for the application with the 
longest review period, subject to statu-
tory review periods. 

(c) Extensions. (1) The FDIC may ex-
tend the review period for up to 30 cal-
endar days beyond the period described 
in paragraph (a) or (b) of this section. 
The FDIC must notify you in writing of 
the extension and the duration of the 
extension. The FDIC must issue the 
written extension before the end of the 
review period. 

(2) The FDIC may also extend the re-
view period as needed until it acts on 
the application, if the application pre-
sents a significant issue of law or pol-
icy that requires additional time to re-
solve. The FDIC must notify you in 
writing of the extension and the gen-
eral reasons for the extension. The 
FDIC must issue the written extension 
before the end of the review period, in-
cluding any extension of that period 
under paragraph (c)(1) of this section. 

§ 390.134 How will I know if my appli-
cation has been approved? 

(a) FDIC approval or denial. (1) The 
FDIC will approve or deny your appli-
cation before the expiration of the ap-
plicable review period, including any 
extensions of the review period. 

(2) The FDIC will promptly notify 
you in writing of its decision to ap-
prove or deny your application. 

(b) No FDIC action. If the FDIC fails 
to act under paragraph (a)(1) of this 
section, your application is approved. 

§ 390.135 What will happen if the FDIC 
does not approve or disapprove my 
application within two calendar 
years after the filing date? 

(a) Withdrawal. If the FDIC has not 
approved or denied your pending appli-
cation within two calendar years after 
the filing date under § 390.109, the FDIC 
will notify you, in writing, that your 
application is deemed withdrawn un-
less the FDIC determines that you are 
actively pursuing a final FDIC deter-
mination on your application. You are 
not actively pursuing a final FDIC de-
termination if you have failed to time-
ly take an action required under this 
part, including filing required addi-
tional information, or the FDIC has 
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suspended processing of your applica-
tion under § 390.132 based on cir-
cumstances that are, in whole or in 
part, within your control and you have 
failed to take reasonable steps to re-
solve these circumstances. 

(b) [Reserved] 

Subpart G—Nondiscrimination 
Requirements 

§ 390.140 Definitions. 

As used in this subpart— 
Application. For purposes of this part, 

an application for a loan or other serv-
ice is as defined in Regulation C, 12 
CFR 203.2(b). 

Dwelling. The term ‘‘dwelling’’ means 
a residential structure (whether or not 
it is attached to real property) located 
in a state of the United States of 
America, the District of Colombia, or 
the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. The 
term includes an individual condo-
minium unit, cooperative unit, or mo-
bile or manufactured home. 

State savings association. The term 
‘‘State savings association’’ means any 
State savings association as defined in 
12 U.S.C. 1813(b). 

§ 390.141 Supplementary guidelines. 
The FDIC’s policy statement found 

at 12 CFR 390.150 supplements this sub-
part and should be read together with 
this subpart. Refer also to the HUD 
Fair Housing regulations at 24 CFR 
parts 100 et seq., Federal Reserve Regu-
lation B at 12 CFR part 202, and Fed-
eral Reserve Regulation C at 12 CFR 
part 203. 

§ 390.142 Nondiscrimination in lending 
and other services. 

(a) No State savings association may 
deny a loan or other service, or dis-
criminate in the purchase of loans or 
securities or discriminate in fixing the 
amount, interest rate, duration, appli-
cation procedures, collection or en-
forcement procedures, or other terms 
or conditions of such loan or other 
service on the basis of the age or loca-
tion of the dwelling, or on the basis of 
the race, color, religion, sex, handicap, 
familial status (having one or more 
children under the age of 18), marital 
status, age (provided the person has 

the capacity to contract) or national 
origin of: 

(1) An applicant or joint applicant; 
(2) Any person associated with an ap-

plicant or joint applicant regarding 
such loan or other service, or with the 
purposes of such loan or other service; 

(3) The present or prospective own-
ers, lessees, tenants, or occupants of 
the dwelling(s) for which such loan or 
other service is to be made or given; 

(4) The present or prospective own-
ers, lessees, tenants, or occupants of 
other dwellings in the vicinity of the 
dwelling(s) for which such loan or 
other service is to be made or given. 

(b) A State savings association shall 
consider without prejudice the com-
bined income of joint applicants for a 
loan or other service. 

(c) No State savings association may 
discriminate against an applicant for a 
loan or other service on any prohibited 
basis (as defined in 12 CFR 202.2(z) and 
24 CFR part 100). 

§ 390.143 Nondiscriminatory appraisal 
and underwriting. 

(a) Appraisal. No State savings asso-
ciation may use or rely upon an ap-
praisal of a dwelling which the State 
savings association knows, or reason-
ably should know, is discriminatory on 
the basis of the age or location of the 
dwelling, or is discriminatory per se or 
in effect under the Fair Housing Act of 
1968 or the Equal Credit Opportunity 
Act. 

(b) Underwriting. Each State savings 
association shall have clearly written, 
non-discriminatory loan underwriting 
standards, available to the public upon 
request, at each of its offices. Each as-
sociation shall, at least annually, re-
view its standards, and business prac-
tices implementing them, to ensure 
equal opportunity in lending. 

§ 390.144 Nondiscrimination in appli-
cations. 

(a) No State savings association may 
discourage, or refuse to allow, receive, 
or consider, any application, request, 
or inquiry regarding a loan or other 
service, or discriminate in imposing 
conditions upon, or in processing, any 
such application, request, or inquiry on 
the basis of the age or location of the 
dwelling, or on the basis of the race, 
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color, religion, sex, handicap, familial 
status (having one or more children 
under the age of 18), marital status, 
age (provided the person has the capac-
ity to contract), national origin, or 
other characteristics prohibited from 
consideration in § 390.142(c), of the pro-
spective borrower or other person, who: 

(1) Makes application for any such 
loan or other service; 

(2) Requests forms or papers to be 
used to make application for any such 
loan or other service; or 

(3) Inquires about the availability of 
such loan or other service. 

(b) A State savings association shall 
inform each inquirer of his or her right 
to file a written loan application, and 

to receive a copy of the association’s 
underwriting standards. 

§ 390.145 Nondiscriminatory adver-
tising. 

No State savings association may di-
rectly or indirectly engage in any form 
of advertising that implies or suggests 
a policy of discrimination or exclusion 
in violation of title VIII of the Civil 
Rights Acts of 1968, the Equal Credit 
Opportunity Act, or this subpart. Ad-
vertisements for any loan for the pur-
pose of purchasing, constructing, im-
proving, repairing, or maintaining a 
dwelling or any loan secured by a 
dwelling shall include a facsimile of 
the following logotype and legend: 

§ 390.146 Equal Housing Lender Post-
er. 

(a) Each State savings association 
shall post and maintain one or more 
Equal Housing Lender Posters, the text 
of which is prescribed in paragraph (b) 
of this section, in the lobby of each of 
its offices in a prominent place or 
places readily apparent to all persons 

seeking loans. The poster shall be at 
least 11 by 14 inches in size, and the 
text shall be easily legible. It is rec-
ommended that savings associations 
post a Spanish language version of the 
poster in offices serving areas with a 
substantial Spanish-speaking popu-
lation. 

(b) The text of the Equal Housing 
Lender Poster shall be as follows: 

We Do Business In Accordance With Fed-
eral Fair Lending Laws. 

UNDER THE FEDERAL FAIR HOUSING 
ACT, IT IS ILLEGAL, ON THE BASIS OF 
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RACE, COLOR, NATIONAL ORIGIN, RELI-
GION, SEX, HANDICAP, OR FAMILIAL 
STATUS (HAVING CHILDREN UNDER THE 
AGE OF 18) TO: 

[ ] Deny a loan for the purpose of pur-
chasing, constructing, improving, repairing 
or maintaining a dwelling or to deny any 
loan secured by a dwelling; or 

[ ] Discriminate in fixing the amount, in-
terest rate, duration, application procedures, 
or other terms or conditions of such a loan 
or in appraising property. 

IF YOU BELIEVE YOU HAVE BEEN DIS-
CRIMINATED AGAINST, YOU SHOULD: 

SEND A COMPLAINT TO: 
Assistant Secretary for Fair Housing and 

Equal Opportunity, Department of Housing 
and Urban Development, Washington, DC 
20410. 

For processing under the Federal Fair 
Housing Act 

AND TO: 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 

Consumer Response Center, 1100 Walnut St, 
Box #11, Kansas City, MO 64106 

For processing under FDIC Regulations. 
UNDER THE EQUAL CREDIT OPPOR-

TUNITY ACT, IT IS ILLEGAL TO DIS-
CRIMINATE IN ANY CREDIT TRANS-
ACTION: 

[ ] On the basis of race, color, national or-
igin, religion, sex, marital status, or age; 

[ ] Because income is from public assist-
ance; or 

[ ] Because a right has been exercised 
under the Consumer Credit Protection Act. 

IF YOU BELIEVE YOU HAVE BEEN DIS-
CRIMINATED AGAINST, YOU SHOULD 
SEND A COMPLAINT TO: 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 
Consumer Response Center, 1100 Walnut St, 
Box #11, Kansas City, MO 64106 

§ 390.147 Loan application register. 
State savings associations and other 

lenders required to file Home Mortgage 
Disclosure Act Loan Application Reg-
isters with the FDIC in accordance 
with 12 CFR part 203 must enter the 
reason for denial, using the codes pro-
vided in 12 CFR part 203, with respect 
to all loan denials. 

§ 390.148 Nondiscrimination in em-
ployment. 

(a) No State savings association 
shall, because of an individual’s race, 
color, religion, sex, or national origin: 

(1) Fail or refuse to hire such indi-
vidual; 

(2) Discharge such individual; 
(3) Otherwise discriminate against 

such individual with respect to such in-
dividual’s compensation, promotion, or 

the terms, conditions, or privileges of 
such individual’s employment; or 

(4) Discriminate in admission to, or 
employment in, any program of ap-
prenticeship, training, or retraining, 
including on-the-job training. 

(b) No State savings association shall 
limit, segregate, or classify its employ-
ees in any way which would deprive or 
tend to deprive any individual of em-
ployment opportunities or otherwise 
adversely affect such individual’s sta-
tus as an employee because of such in-
dividual’s race, color, religion, sex, or 
national origin. 

(c) No State savings association shall 
discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because such 
employee or applicant has opposed any 
employment practice made unlawful by 
Federal, State, or local law or regula-
tion or because he has in good faith 
made a charge of such practice or testi-
fied, assisted, or participated in any 
manner in an investigation, pro-
ceeding, or hearing of such practice by 
any lawfully constituted authority. 

(d) No State savings association shall 
print or publish or cause to be printed 
or published any notice or advertise-
ment relating to employment by such 
savings association indicating any 
preference, limitation, specification, or 
discrimination based on race, color, re-
ligion, sex, or national origin. 

(e) This regulation shall not apply in 
any case in which the Federal Equal 
Employment Opportunities law is made 
inapplicable by the provisions of sec-
tion 2000e–1 or sections 2000e–2 (e) 
through (j) of title 42, United States 
Code. 

(f) Any violation of the following 
laws or regulations by a State savings 
association shall be deemed to be a vio-
lation of this subpart: 

(1) The Equal Employment Oppor-
tunity Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 
2000e–2000h–2, and Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission (EEOC) regu-
lations at 29 CFR part 1600; 

(2) The Age Discrimination in Em-
ployment Act, 29 U.S.C. 621–633, and 
EEOC and Department of Labor regula-
tions; 

(3) Department of the Treasury regu-
lations at 31 CFR part 12 and Office of 
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Federal Contract Compliance Pro-
grams (OFCCP) regulations at 41 CFR 
part 60; 

(4) The Veterans Employment and 
Readjustment Act of 1972, 38 U.S.C. 
2011–2012, and the Vietnam Era Vet-
erans Readjustment Adjustment As-
sistance Act of 1974, 38 U.S.C. 2021–2026; 

(5) The Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 
U.S.C. 701 et al.; and 

(6) The Immigration and Nationality 
Act, 8 U.S.C. 1324b, and INS regulations 
at 8 CFR part 274a. 

§ 390.149 Complaints. 
Complaints regarding discrimination 

in lending by a State savings associa-
tion shall be referred to the Assistant 
Secretary for Fair Housing and Equal 
Opportunity, U.S. Department of Hous-
ing and Urban Development, Wash-
ington, DC 20410 for processing under 
the Fair Housing Act, and to the Direc-
tor, Division of Depositor and Con-
sumer Protection, Federal Deposit In-
surance Corporation, 550 17th Street, 
NW., Washington, DC 20249 for proc-
essing under FDIC regulations. Com-
plaints regarding discrimination in em-
ployment by a State savings associa-
tion should be referred to the Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission, 
Washington, DC 20506 and a copy, for 
information only, sent to the Director, 
Division of Depositor and Consumer 
Protection, Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation, 550 17th Street, NW., 
Washington, DC 20249. 

§ 390.150 Guidelines relating to non-
discrimination in lending. 

(a) General. Fair housing and equal 
opportunity in home financing is a pol-
icy of the United States established by 
Federal statutes and Presidential or-
ders and proclamations. In furtherance 
of the Federal civil rights laws and the 
economical home financing purposes of 
the statutes administered by the FDIC, 
the FDIC has adopted, in this subpart, 
nondiscrimination regulations that, 
among other things, prohibit arbitrary 
refusals to consider loan applications 
on the basis of the age or location of a 
dwelling, and prohibit discrimination 
based on race, color, religion, sex, 
handicap, familial status (having one 
or more children under the age of 18), 
marital status, age (provided the per-

son has the capacity to contract), or 
national origin in fixing the amount, 
interest rate, duration, application 
procedures, collection or enforcement 
procedures, or other terms or condi-
tions of housing related loans. Such 
discrimination is also prohibited in the 
purchase of loans and securities. This 
section provides supplementary guide-
lines to aid savings associations in de-
veloping and implementing non-
discriminatory lending policies. Each 
State savings association should reex-
amine its underwriting standards at 
least annually in order to ensure equal 
opportunity. 

(b) Loan underwriting standards. The 
basic purpose of the FDIC’s non-
discrimination regulations is to require 
that every applicant be given an equal 
opportunity to obtain a loan. Each 
loan applicant’s creditworthiness 
should be evaluated on an individual 
basis without reference to presumed 
characteristics of a group. The use of 
lending standards which have no eco-
nomic basis and which are discrimina-
tory in effect is a violation of law even 
in the absence of an actual intent to 
discriminate. However, a standard 
which has a discriminatory effect is 
not necessarily improper if its use 
achieves a genuine business need which 
cannot be achieved by means which are 
not discriminatory in effect or less dis-
criminatory in effect. 

(c) Discriminatory practices— (1) Dis-
crimination on the basis of sex or marital 
status. The Civil Rights Act of 1968 and 
the National Housing Act prohibit dis-
crimination in lending on the basis of 
sex. The Equal Credit Opportunity Act, 
in addition to this prohibition, forbids 
discrimination on the basis of marital 
status. Refusing to lend to, requiring 
higher standards of creditworthiness 
of, or imposing different requirements 
on, members of one sex or individuals 
of one marital status, is discrimination 
based on sex or marital status. Loan 
underwriting decisions must be based 
on an applicant’s credit history and 
present and reasonably foreseeable eco-
nomic prospects, rather than on the 
basis of assumptions regarding com-
parative differences in creditworthi-
ness between married and unmarried 
individuals, or between men and 
women. 
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(2) Discrimination on the basis of lan-
guage. Requiring fluency in the English 
language as a prerequisite for obtain-
ing a loan may be a discriminatory 
practice based on national origin. 

(3) Income of husbands and wives. A 
practice of discounting all or part of ei-
ther spouse’s income where spouses 
apply jointly is a violation of section 
527 of the National Housing Act. As 
with other income, when spouses apply 
jointly for a loan, the determination as 
to whether a spouse’s income qualifies 
for credit purposes should depend upon 
a reasonable evaluation of his or her 
past, present, and reasonably foresee-
able economic circumstances. Informa-
tion relating to child-bearing inten-
tions of a couple or an individual may 
not be requested. 

(4) Supplementary income. Lending 
standards which consider as effective 
only the non-overtime income of the 
primary wage-earner may result in dis-
crimination because they do not take 
account of variations in employment 
patterns among individuals and fami-
lies. The FDIC favors loan under-
writing which reasonably evaluates the 
credit worthiness of each applicant 
based on a realistic appraisal of his or 
her own past, present, and foreseeable 
economic circumstances. The deter-
mination as to whether primary in-
come or additional income qualifies as 
effective for credit purposes should de-
pend upon whether such income may 
reasonably be expected to continue 
through the early period of the mort-
gage risk. Automatically discounting 
other income from bonuses, overtime, 
or part-time employment, will cause 
some applicants to be denied financing 
without a realistic analysis of their 
credit worthiness. Since statistics 
show that minority group members and 
low- and moderate-income families 
rely more often on such supplemental 
income, the practice may be racially 
discriminatory in effect, as well as ar-
tificially restrictive of opportunities 
for home financing. 

(5) Applicant’s prior history. Loan deci-
sions should be based upon a realistic 
evaluation of all pertinent factors re-
specting an individual’s creditworthi-
ness, without giving undue weight to 
any one factor. The State savings asso-

ciation should, among other things, 
take into consideration that: 

(i) In some instances, past credit dif-
ficulties may have resulted from dis-
criminatory practices; 

(ii) A policy favoring applicants who 
previously owned homes may perpet-
uate prior discrimination; 

(iii) A current, stable earnings record 
may be the most reliable indicator of 
credit-worthiness, and entitled to more 
weight than factors such as edu-
cational level attained; 

(iv) Job or residential changes may 
indicate upward mobility; and 

(v) Preferring applicants who have 
done business with the lender can per-
petuate previous discriminatory poli-
cies. 

(6) Income level or racial composition of 
area. Refusing to lend or lending on 
less favorable terms in particular areas 
because of their racial composition is 
unlawful. Refusing to lend, or offering 
less favorable terms (such as interest 
rate, downpayment, or maturity) to ap-
plicants because of the income level in 
an area can discriminate against mi-
nority group persons. 

(7) Age and location factors. Sections 
390.142–390.144 prohibit loan denials 
based upon the age or location of a 
dwelling. These restrictions are in-
tended to prohibit use of unfounded or 
unsubstantiated assumptions regarding 
the effect upon loan risk of the age of 
a dwelling or the physical or economic 
characteristics of an area. Loan deci-
sions should be based on the present 
market value of the property offered as 
security (including consideration of 
specific improvements to be made by 
the borrower) and the likelihood that 
the property will retain an adequate 
value over the term of the loan. Spe-
cific factors which may negatively af-
fect its short-range future value (up to 
3–5 years) should be clearly docu-
mented. Factors which in some cases 
may cause the market value of a prop-
erty to decline are recent zoning 
changes or a significant number of 
abandoned homes in the immediate vi-
cinity of the property. However, not all 
zoning changes will cause a decline in 
property values, and proximity to 
abandoned buildings may not affect the 
market value of a property because of 
rehabilitation programs or affirmative 
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lending programs, or because the cause 
of abandonment is unrelated to high 
risk. Proper underwriting consider-
ations include the condition and utility 
of the improvements, and various phys-
ical factors such as street conditions, 
amenities such as parks and recreation 
areas, availability of public utilities 
and municipal services, and exposure 
to flooding and land faults. However, 
arbitrary decisions based on age or lo-
cation are prohibited, since many 
older, soundly constructed homes pro-
vide housing opportunities which may 
be precluded by an arbitrary lending 
policy. 

(8) Fair Housing Act (title VIII, Civil 
Rights Act of 1968, as amended). State 
savings associations, must comply with 
all regulations promulgated by the De-
partment of Housing and Urban Devel-
opment to implement the Fair Housing 
Act, found at 24 CFR part 100 et seq., ex-
cept that they shall use the Equal 
Housing Lender logo and poster pre-
scribed by FDIC regulations at 
§§ 390.145 and 390.146 rather than the 
Equal Housing Opportunity logo and 
poster required by 24 CFR parts 109 and 
110. 

(d) Marketing practices. State savings 
associations should review their adver-
tising and marketing practices to en-
sure that their services are available 
without discrimination to the commu-
nity they serve. Discrimination in 
lending is not limited to loan decisions 
and underwriting standards; a State 
savings association does not meet its 
obligations to the community or im-
plement its equal lending responsi-
bility if its marketing practices and 
business relationships with developers 
and real estate brokers improperly re-
strict its clientele to segments of the 
community. A review of marketing 
practices could begin with an examina-
tion of an association’s loan portfolio 
and applications to ascertain whether, 
in view of the demographic character-
istics and credit demands of the com-
munity in which the institution is lo-
cated, it is adequately serving the com-
munity on a nondiscriminatory basis. 
The FDIC will systematically review 
marketing practices where evidence of 
discrimination in lending is discovered. 

Subparts H–N [Reserved] 

Subpart O—Subordinate 
Organizations 

§ 390.250 What does this subpart 
cover? 

(a) The FDIC is issuing this subpart 
O pursuant to its general rulemaking 
and supervisory authority under the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 
U.S.C. 1811 et seq., and its specific au-
thority under section 18(m) of the Fed-
eral Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. 
1828(m). This subpart applies to subor-
dinate organizations of State savings 
associations. The FDIC may, at any 
time, limit a State savings associa-
tion’s investment in any of these enti-
ties, or may limit or refuse to permit 
any activities of any of these entities 
for supervisory, legal, or safety and 
soundness reasons. 

(b) Notices under this subpart are ap-
plications for purposes of statutory and 
regulatory references to ‘‘applica-
tions.’’ Any conditions that the FDIC 
imposes in approving any application 
are enforceable as a condition imposed 
in writing by the FDIC in connection 
with the granting of a request by a 
State savings association within the 
meaning of 12 U.S.C. 1818(b) or 1818(i). 

§ 390.251 Definitions. 

For purposes of this subpart: 
Control has the same meaning as in 

part 391, subpart E. 
GAAP-consolidated subsidiary means 

an entity in which a State savings as-
sociation has a direct or indirect own-
ership interest and whose assets are 
consolidated with those of the savings 
association for purposes of reporting 
under Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP). Generally, these 
are entities in which a State savings 
association has a majority ownership 
interest. 

Lower-tier entity includes any com-
pany in which a subsidiary has a direct 
or indirect ownership interest. 

Ownership interest means any equity 
interest in a business organization, in-
cluding stock, limited or general part-
nership interests, or shares in a limited 
liability company. 

Subordinate organization means any 
corporation, partnership, business 
trust, association, joint venture, pool, 
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syndicate, or other similar business or-
ganization in which a State savings as-
sociation has a direct or indirect own-
ership interest, unless that ownership 
interest qualifies as a pass-through in-
vestment and is so designated by the 
investing State savings association. 

Subsidiary means any subordinate or-
ganization directly or indirectly con-
trolled by a State savings association. 

§ 390.252 How must separate corporate 
identities be maintained? 

(a) Each State savings association 
and subordinate organization thereof 
must be operated in a manner that 
demonstrates to the public that each 
maintains a separate corporate exist-
ence. Each must operate so that: 

(1) Their respective business trans-
actions, accounts, and records are not 
intermingled; 

(2) Each observes the formalities of 
their separate corporate procedures; 

(3) Each is adequately financed as a 
separate unit in light of normal obliga-
tions reasonably foreseeable in a busi-
ness of its size and character; 

(4) Each is held out to the public as 
a separate enterprise; and 

(5) Unless the parent State savings 
association has guaranteed a loan to 
the subordinate organization, all bor-
rowings by the subordinate organiza-
tion indicate that the parent is not lia-
ble. 

(b) The FDIC regulations that apply 
both to State savings associations and 
subordinate organizations shall not be 
construed as requiring a State savings 
association and its subordinate organi-
zations to operate as a single entity. 

§ 390.253 What notices are required to 
establish or acquire a new sub-
sidiary or engage in new activities 
through an existing subsidiary? 

When required by section 18(m) of the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Act, a State 
savings association (‘‘you’’) must file a 
notice (‘‘Notice’’) with the FDIC before 
establishing or acquiring a subsidiary 
or engaging in new activities in a sub-
sidiary. The Notice must contain all of 
the information the required under 12 
CFR 362.15. If the FDIC notifies you 
within 30 days that the Notice presents 
supervisory concerns, or raises signifi-
cant issues of law or policy, you must 

apply for and receive the FDIC’s prior 
written approval before establishing or 
acquiring the subsidiary or engaging in 
new activities in the subsidiary. 

§ 390.254 How may a subsidiary of a 
State savings association issue se-
curities? 

(a) A subsidiary may issue, either di-
rectly or through a third party inter-
mediary, any securities that its parent 
State savings association (‘‘you’’) may 
issue. The subsidiary must not state or 
imply that the securities it issues are 
covered by federal deposit insurance. A 
subsidiary may not issue any security 
the payment, maturity, or redemption 
of which may be accelerated upon the 
condition that you are insolvent or 
have been placed into receivership. 

(b) You must file a notice with the 
FDIC in accordance with § 390.253 at 
least 30 days before your first issuance 
of any securities through an existing 
subsidiary or in conjunction with es-
tablishing or acquiring a new sub-
sidiary. If the FDIC notifies you within 
30 days that the notice presents super-
visory concerns or raises significant 
issues of law or policy, you must re-
ceive the FDIC’s prior written approval 
before issuing securities through your 
subsidiary. 

(c) For as long as any securities are 
outstanding, you must maintain all 
records generated through each securi-
ties issuance in the ordinary course of 
business, including a copy of any pro-
spectus, offering circular, or similar 
document concerning such issuance, 
and make such records available for ex-
amination by the FDIC. Such records 
must include, but are not limited to: 

(1) The amount of your assets or li-
abilities (including any guarantees you 
make with respect to the securities 
issuance) that have been transferred or 
made available to the subsidiary; the 
percentage that such amount rep-
resents of the current book value of 
your assets on an unconsolidated basis; 
and the current book value of all such 
assets of the subsidiary; 

(2) The terms of any guarantee(s) 
issued by you or any third party; 

(3) A description of the securities the 
subsidiary issued; 

(4) The net proceeds from the 
issuance of securities (or the pro rata 
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portion of the net proceeds from securi-
ties issued through a jointly owned 
subsidiary); the gross proceeds of the 
securities issuance; and the market 
value of assets collateralizing the secu-
rities issuance (any assets of the sub-
sidiary, including any guarantees of its 
securities issuance you have made); 

(5) The interest or dividend rates and 
yields, or the range thereof, and the 
frequency of payments on the subsidi-
ary’s securities; 

(6) The minimum denomination of 
the subsidiary’s securities; and 

(7) Where the subsidiary marketed or 
intends to market the securities. 

§ 390.255 How may a State savings as-
sociation exercise its salvage power 
in connection with a service cor-
poration or lower-tier entities? 

(a) In accordance with this section, a 
State savings association (‘‘you’’) may 
exercise your salvage power to make a 
contribution or a loan (including a 
guarantee of a loan made by any other 
person) to a lower-tier entity (‘‘salvage 
investment’’) that exceeds the max-
imum amount otherwise permitted 
under law or regulation. You must no-
tify the FDIC at least 30 days before 
making such a salvage investment. 
This notice must demonstrate that: 

(1) The salvage investment protects 
your interest in the lower-tier entity; 

(2) The salvage investment is con-
sistent with safety and soundness; and 

(3) You considered alternatives to the 
salvage investment and determined 
that such alternatives would not ade-
quately satisfy paragraphs (a)(1) and (2) 
of this section. 

(b) If the FDIC notifies you within 30 
days that the Notice presents super-
visory concerns, or raises significant 
issues of law or policy, you must apply 
for and receive the FDIC’s prior writ-
ten approval before making a salvage 
investment. 

(c) If your lower-tier entity is a 
GAAP-consolidated subsidiary, your 
salvage investment under this section 
will be considered an investment in a 
subsidiary for purposes of subpart Z. 

Subpart P [Reserved] 

Subpart Q—Definitions for Regula-
tions Affecting All State Sav-
ings Associations 

§ 390.280 When do the definitions in 
this subpart apply? 

The definitions in this subpart apply 
throughout parts 390 and 391, unless an-
other definition is specifically pro-
vided. 

§ 390.281 Account. 
The term account means any savings 

account, demand account, certificate 
account, tax and loan account, note ac-
count, United States Treasury general 
account or United States Treasury 
time deposit-open account, whether in 
the form of a deposit or a share, held 
by an accountholder in a State savings 
association. 

§ 390.282 Accountholder. 
The term accountholder means the 

holder of an account or accounts in a 
State savings association insured by 
the Deposit Insurance Fund. The term 
does not include the holder of any sub-
ordinated debt security or any mort-
gage-backed bond issued by the State 
savings association. 

§ 390.283 Affiliate. 
The term affiliate of a State savings 

association, unless otherwise defined, 
means any corporation, business trust, 
association, or other similar organiza-
tion: 

(a) Of which a State savings associa-
tion, directly or indirectly, owns or 
controls either a majority of the voting 
shares or more than 50 per centum of 
the number of shares voted for the 
election of its directors, trustees, or 
other persons exercising similar func-
tions at the preceding election, or con-
trols in any manner the election of a 
majority of its directors, trustees, or 
other persons exercising similar func-
tions; or 

(b) Of which control is held, directly 
or indirectly through stock ownership 
or in any other manner, by the share-
holders of a State savings association 
who own or control either a majority 
of the shares of such State savings as-
sociation or more than 50 per centum 
of the number of shares voted for the 
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election of directors of such State sav-
ings association at the preceding elec-
tion, or by trustees for the benefit of 
the shareholders of any such State sav-
ings association; or 

(c) Of which a majority of its direc-
tors, trustees, or other persons exer-
cising similar functions are directors 
of any one State savings association. 

§ 390.284 Affiliated person. 
The term affiliated person of a State 

savings association means the fol-
lowing: 

(a) A director, officer, or controlling 
person of such association; 

(b) A spouse of a director, officer, or 
controlling person of such association; 

(c) A member of the immediate fam-
ily of a director, officer, or controlling 
person of such association, who has the 
same home as such person or who is a 
director or officer of any subsidiary of 
such association or of any holding com-
pany affiliate of such association; 

(d) Any corporation or organization 
(other than the State savings associa-
tion or a corporation or organization 
through which the State savings asso-
ciation operates) of which a director, 
officer or the controlling person of 
such association: 

(1) Is chief executive officer, chief fi-
nancial officer, or a person performing 
similar functions; 

(2) Is a general partner; 
(3) Is a limited partner who, directly 

or indirectly either alone or with his or 
her spouse and the members of his or 
her immediate family who are also af-
filiated persons of the association, 
owns an interest of 10 percent or more 
in the partnership (based on the value 
of his or her contribution) or who, di-
rectly or indirectly with other direc-
tors, officers, and controlling persons 
of such association and their spouses 
and their immediate family members 
who are also affiliated persons of the 
association, owns an interest of 25 per-
cent or more in the partnership; or 

(4) Directly or indirectly either alone 
or with his or her spouse and the mem-
bers of his or her immediate family 
who are also affiliated persons of the 
association, owns or controls 10 per-
cent or more of any class of equity se-
curities or owns or controls, with other 
directors, officers, and controlling per-

sons of such association and their 
spouses and their immediate family 
members who are also affiliated per-
sons of the association, 25 percent or 
more of any class of equity securities; 
and 

(5) Any trust or other estate in which 
a director, officer, or controlling per-
son of such association or the spouse of 
such person has a substantial bene-
ficial interest or as to which such per-
son or his or her spouse serves as trust-
ee or in a similar fiduciary capacity. 

§ 390.285 Audit period. 

The audit period of a State savings as-
sociation means the twelve month pe-
riod (or other period in the case of a 
change in audit period) covered by the 
annual audit conducted to satisfy 
§ 390.350. 

§ 390.286 Certificate account. 

The term certificate account means a 
savings account evidenced by a certifi-
cate that must be held for a fixed or 
minimum term. 

§ 390.287 Consumer credit. 

The term consumer credit means cred-
it extended to a natural person for per-
sonal, family, or household purposes, 
including loans secured by liens on real 
estate and chattel liens secured by mo-
bile homes and leases of personal prop-
erty to consumers that may be consid-
ered the functional equivalent of loans 
on personal security: Provided, the 
State savings association relies sub-
stantially upon other factors, such as 
the general credit standing of the bor-
rower, guaranties, or security other 
than the real estate or mobile home, as 
the primary security for the loan. Ap-
propriate evidence to demonstrate jus-
tification for such reliance should be 
retained in a State savings associa-
tion’s files. Among the types of credit 
included within this term are consumer 
loans; educational loans; unsecured 
loans for real property alteration, re-
pair or improvement, or for the equip-
ping of real property; loans in the na-
ture of overdraft protection; and credit 
extended in connection with credit 
cards. 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 17:23 Feb 11, 2020 Jkt 250040 PO 00000 Frm 00466 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Q:\12\12V6.TXT PC31kp
ay

ne
 o

n 
V

M
O

F
R

W
IN

70
2 

w
ith

 $
$_

JO
B



457 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation § 390.296 

§ 390.288 Controlling person. 

The term controlling person of a State 
savings association means any person 
or entity which, either directly or indi-
rectly, or acting in concert with one or 
more other persons or entities, owns, 
controls, or holds with power to vote, 
or holds proxies representing, ten per-
cent or more of the voting shares or 
rights of such State savings associa-
tion; or controls in any manner the 
election or appointment of a majority 
of the directors of such State savings 
association. However, a director of a 
State savings association will not be 
deemed to be a controlling person of 
such State savings association based 
upon his or her voting, or acting in 
concert with other directors in voting, 
proxies: 

(a) Obtained in connection with an 
annual solicitation of proxies, or 

(b) Obtained from savings account 
holders and borrowers if such proxies 
are voted as directed by a majority 
vote of the entire board of directors of 
such association, or of a committee of 
such directors if such committee’s 
composition and authority are con-
trolled by a majority vote of the entire 
board and if its authority is revocable 
by such a majority. 

§ 390.289 Corporation. 

The terms Corporation and FDIC 
mean the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation. 

§ 390.290 Demand accounts. 

The term demand accounts means 
non-interest-bearing demand deposits 
that are subject to check or to with-
drawal or transfer on negotiable or 
transferable order to the State savings 
association and that are permitted to 
be issued by statute, regulation, or 
otherwise and are payable on demand. 

§ 390.291 Director. 

The term director means any director, 
trustee, or other person performing 
similar functions with respect to any 
organization whether incorporated or 
unincorporated. Such term does not in-
clude an advisory director, honorary 
director, director emeritus, or similar 
person, unless the person is otherwise 

performing functions similar to those 
of a director. 

§ 390.292 Financial institution. 

The term financial institution has the 
same meaning as the term depository 
institution set forth in 12 U.S.C. 
1813(c)(1). 

§ 390.293 Immediate family. 

The term immediate family of any nat-
ural person means the following 
(whether by the full or half blood or by 
adoption): 

(a) Such person’s spouse, father, 
mother, children, brothers, sisters, and 
grandchildren; 

(b) The father, mother, brothers, and 
sisters of such person’s spouse; and 

(c) The spouse of a child, brother, or 
sister of such person. 

§ 390.294 Land loan. 

The term land loan means a loan: 
(a) Secured by real estate upon which 

all facilities and improvements have 
been completely installed, as required 
by local regulations and practices, so 
that it is entirely prepared for the 
erection of structures; 

(b) To finance the purchase of land 
and the accomplishment of all im-
provements required to convert it to 
developed building lots; or 

(c) Secured by land upon which there 
is no structure. 

§ 390.295 Low-rent housing. 

The term low-rent housing means real 
estate which is, or which is being con-
structed, remodeled, rehabilitated, 
modernized, or renovated to be, the 
subject of an annual contributions con-
tract for low-rent housing under the 
provisions of the United States Hous-
ing Act of 1937, as amended. 

§ 390.296 Money Market Deposit Ac-
counts. 

(a) Money Market Deposit Accounts 
(MMDAs) offered by State savings asso-
ciations in accordance with applicable 
state law are savings accounts on 
which interest may be paid if issued 
subject to the following limitations: 

(1) The State savings association 
shall reserve the right to require at 
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least seven days’ notice prior to with-
drawal or transfer of any funds in the 
account; and 

(2)(i) The depositor is authorized by 
the State savings association to make 
no more than six transfers per calendar 
month or statement cycle (or similar 
period) of at least four weeks by means 
of preauthorized, automatic, tele-
phonic, or data transmission agree-
ment, order, or instruction to another 
account of the depositor at the same 
State savings association to the State 
savings association itself, or to a third 
party. 

(ii) State savings associations may 
permit holders of MMDAs to make un-
limited transfers for the purpose of re-
paying loans (except overdraft loans on 
the depositor’s demand account) and 
associated expenses at the same State 
savings association (as originator or 
servicer), to make unlimited transfers 
of funds from this account to another 
account of the same depositor at the 
same State savings association or to 
make unlimited payments directly to 
the depositor from the account when 
such transfers or payments are made 
by mail, messenger, automated teller 
machine, or in person, or when such 
payments are made by telephone (via 
check mailed to the depositor). 

(3) In order to ensure that no more 
than the number of transfers specified 
in paragraph (a)(2)(i) of this section are 
made, a State savings association must 
either: 

(i) Prevent transfers of funds in ex-
cess of the limitations; or 

(ii) Adopt procedures to monitor 
those transfers on an after-the-fact 
basis and contact customers who ex-
ceed the limits on more than an occa-
sional basis. For customers who con-
tinue to violate those limits after 
being contacted by the depository 
State savings association the deposi-
tory State savings association must ei-
ther place funds in another account 
that the depositor is eligible to main-
tain or take away the account’s trans-
fer and draft capacities. 

(iii) Insured State savings associa-
tions at their option, may use on a con-
sistent basis either the date on a check 
or the date it is paid in determining 
whether the transfer limitations with-
in the specified interval are exceeded. 

(b) State savings associations may 
offer MMDAs to any depositor not in-
consistent with applicable state law. 

§ 390.297 Negotiable Order of With-
drawal Accounts. 

(a) Negotiable Order of Withdrawal 
(NOW) accounts are savings accounts 
authorized by 12 U.S.C. 1832 on which 
the State savings association reserves 
the right to require at least seven days’ 
notice prior to withdrawal or transfer 
of any funds in the account. 

(b) For purposes of 12 U.S.C. 1832: 
(1) An organization shall be deemed 

‘‘operated primarily for religious, phil-
anthropic, charitable, educational, or 
other similar purposes and * * * not 
* * * for profit’’ if it is described in sec-
tions 501(c)(3) through (13), 501(c)(19), or 
528 of the Internal Revenue Code; and 

(2) The funds of a sole proprietorship 
or unincorporated business owned by a 
husband and wife shall be deemed bene-
ficially owned by ‘‘one or more individ-
uals.’’ 

§ 390.298 Nonresidential construction 
loan. 

The term nonresidential construction 
loan means a loan for construction of 
other than one or more dwelling units. 

§ 390.299 Nonwithdrawable account. 

The term nonwithdrawable account 
means an account which by the terms 
of the contract of the accountholder 
with the State savings association or 
by provisions of state law cannot be 
paid to the accountholder until all li-
abilities, including other classes of 
share liability of the State savings as-
sociation have been fully liquidated 
and paid upon the winding up of the 
State savings association is referred to 
as a nonwithdrawable account. 

§ 390.300 Note account. 

The term note account means a note, 
subject to the right of immediate call, 
evidencing funds held by depositories 
electing the note option under applica-
ble United States Treasury Depart-
ment regulations. Note accounts are 
not savings accounts or savings depos-
its. 
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§ 390.301 [Reserved] 

§ 390.302 Officer. 
The term Officer means the president, 

any vice-president (but not an assist-
ant vice-president, second vice-presi-
dent, or other vice president having au-
thority similar to an assistant or sec-
ond vice-president), the secretary, the 
treasurer, the comptroller, and any 
other person performing similar func-
tions with respect to any organization 
whether incorporated or unincor-
porated. The term officer also includes 
the chairman of the board of directors 
if the chairman is authorized by the 
charter or by-laws of the organization 
to participate in its operating manage-
ment or if the chairman in fact partici-
pates in such management. 

§ 390.303 Parent company; subsidiary. 
The term parent company means any 

company which directly or indirectly 
controls any other company or compa-
nies. The term subsidiary means any 
company which is owned or controlled 
directly or indirectly by a person, and 
includes a subsidiary owned in whole or 
in part by a State savings association, 
or a subsidiary of that subsidiary. 

§ 390.304 Political subdivision. 
The term political subdivision includes 

any subdivision of a public unit, any 
principal department of such public 
unit: 

(a) The creation of which subdivision 
or department has been expressly au-
thorized by state statute, 

(b) To which some functions of gov-
ernment have been delegated by state 
statute, and 

(c) To which funds have been allo-
cated by statute or ordinance for its 
exclusive use and control. It also in-
cludes drainage, irrigation, navigation, 
improvement, levee, sanitary, school or 
power districts and bridge or port au-
thorities and other special districts 
created by state statute or compacts 
between the states. Excluded from the 
term are subordinate or nonautono-
mous divisions, agencies or boards 
within principal departments. 

§ 390.305 Principal office. 
The term principal office means the 

home office of a State savings associa-

tion established as such in conformity 
with the laws under which the State 
savings association is organized. 

§ 390.306 Public unit. 
The term public unit means the 

United States, any state of the United 
States, the District of Columbia, any 
territory of the United States, Puerto 
Rico, the Virgin Islands, any county, 
any municipality or any political sub-
division thereof. 

§ 390.307 Savings account. 
The term savings account means any 

withdrawable account, except a de-
mand account as defined in § 390.290, a 
tax and loan account, a note account, a 
United States Treasury general ac-
count, or a United States Treasury 
time deposit-open account. 

§ 390.308 State savings association. 
The term State savings association 

means a State savings association as 
defined in section 3 of the Federal De-
posit Insurance Act, the deposits of 
which are insured by the Corporation. 
It includes a building and loan, savings 
and loan, or homestead association, or 
a cooperative bank (other than a coop-
erative bank which is a State bank as 
defined in section 3(a)(2) of the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Act) organized and 
operating according to the laws of the 
State in which it is chartered or orga-
nized, or a corporation (other than a 
bank as defined in section 3(a)(1) of the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Act) that 
the Board of Directors of the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation deter-
mine to be operating substantially in 
the same manner as a State savings as-
sociation. 

§ 390.309 Security. 
The term security means any non- 

withdrawable account, note, stock, 
treasury stock, bond, debenture, evi-
dence of indebtedness, certificate of in-
terest or participation in any profit- 
sharing agreement, collateral-trust 
certificate, preorganization certificate 
or subscription, transferable share, in-
vestment contract, voting-trust certifi-
cate, or, in general, any interest or in-
strument commonly known as a secu-
rity, or any certificate of interest or 
participation in, temporary or interim 
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certificate for, receipt for, guarantee 
of, or warrant or right to subscribe to 
or purchase, any of the foregoing, ex-
cept that a security shall not include an 
account or deposit insured by the Fed-
eral Deposit Insurance Corporation. 

§ 390.310 Service corporation. 

The term service corporation means 
any corporation, the majority of the 
capital stock of which is owned by one 
or more savings associations and which 
engages, directly or indirectly, in any 
activities similar to activities which 
may be engaged in by a service cor-
poration in which a Federal savings as-
sociation may invest. 

§ 390.311 State. 

The term State means a State, the 
District of Columbia, Guam, Puerto 
Rico, and the Virgin Islands of the 
United States. 

§ 390.312 Subordinated debt security. 

The term subordinated debt security 
means any unsecured note, debenture, 
or other debt security issued by a State 
savings association and subordinated 
on liquidation to all claims having the 
same priority as account holders or 
any higher priority. 

§ 390.313 Tax and loan account. 

The term tax and loan account means 
an account, the balance of which is 
subject to the right of immediate with-
drawal, established for receipt of pay-
ments of Federal taxes and certain 
United States obligations. Such ac-
counts are not savings accounts or sav-
ings deposits. 

§ 390.314 United States Treasury Gen-
eral Account. 

The term United States Treasury Gen-
eral Account means an account main-
tained in the name of the United 
States Treasury the balance of which is 
subject to the right of immediate with-
drawal, except in the case of the clo-
sure of the member, and in which a 
zero balance may be maintained. Such 
accounts are not savings accounts or 
savings deposits. 

§ 390.315 United States Treasury Time 
Deposit Open Account. 

The term United States Treasury Time 
Deposit Open Account means a non-in-
terest-bearing account maintained in 
the name of the United States Treas-
ury which may not be withdrawn prior 
to the expiration of 30 days’ written 
notice from the United States Treas-
ury, or such other period of notice as 
the Treasury may require. Such ac-
counts are not savings accounts or sav-
ings deposits. 

§ 390.316 With recourse. 
(a) The term with recourse means, in 

connection with the sale of a loan or a 
participation interest in a loan, an 
agreement or arrangement under which 
the purchaser is to be entitled to re-
ceive from the seller a sum of money or 
thing of value, whether tangible or in-
tangible (including any substitution), 
upon default in payment of any loan 
involved or any part thereof or to with-
hold or to have withheld from the sell-
er a sum of money or anything of value 
by way of security against default. The 
recourse liability resulting from a sale 
with recourse shall be the total book 
value of any loan sold with recourse 
less: 

(1) The amount of any insurance or 
guarantee against loss in the event of 
default provided by a third party, 

(2) The amount of any loss to be 
borne by the purchaser in the event of 
default, and 

(3) The amount of any loss resulting 
from a recourse obligation entered on 
the books and records of the State sav-
ings association. 

(b) The term with recourse does not 
include loans or interests therein 
where the agreement of sale provides 
for the State savings association di-
rectly or indirectly 

(1) To hold or retain a subordinate in-
terest in a specified percentage of the 
loans or interests; or 

(2) To guarantee against loss up to a 
specified percentage of the loans or in-
terests, which specified percentage 
shall not exceed ten percent of the out-
standing balance of the loans or inter-
ests at the time of sale: Provided, that 
the State savings association des-
ignates adequate reserves for the sub-
ordinate interest or guarantee. 
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(c) This definition does not apply for 
purposes of determining the capital 
adequacy requirements under part 324 
of this chapter. 

[76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, as amended at 83 
FR 17743, Apr. 24, 2018] 

Subpart R—Regulatory Reporting 
Standards 

§ 390.320 Regulatory reporting re-
quirements. 

(a) Authority and scope. This subpart 
is issued by the FDIC pursuant to 12 
U.S.C. sections 1831m; 1831n(a)(2); 
1831p–1;1464(v)(1). It applies to all State 
savings associations regulated by the 
FDIC. 

(b) Records and reports—general—(1) 
Records. Each State savings association 
and its affiliates shall maintain accu-
rate and complete records of all busi-
ness transactions. Such records shall 
support and be readily reconcilable to 
any regulatory reports submitted to 
the FDIC and financial reports pre-
pared in accordance with GAAP. The 
records shall be maintained in the 
United States and be readily accessible 
for examination and other supervisory 
purposes within 5 business days upon 
request by the FDIC, at a location ac-
ceptable to the FDIC. 

(2) Reports. For purposes of examina-
tion by and regulatory reports to the 
FDIC and compliance with this section, 
all State savings associations shall use 
such forms and follow such regulatory 
reporting requirements as the FDIC 
may require by regulation or other-
wise. 

§ 390.321 Regulatory reports. 
(a) Definition and scope. This section 

applies to all regulatory reports, as de-
fined herein. A regulatory report is any 
report that the FDIC prepares, or is 
submitted to, or is used by the FDIC, 
to determine compliance with its rules 
and regulations, and to evaluate the 
safe and sound condition and operation 
of State savings associations. Regu-
latory reports are regulatory docu-
ments, not accounting documents. 

(b) Regulatory reporting requirements— 
(1) General. The instructions to regu-
latory reports are referred to as ‘‘regu-
latory reporting requirements.’’ Regu-

latory reporting requirements include, 
but are not limited to, the accounting 
instructions, guidance contained in 
FDIC regulations, financial institution 
letters, manuals, bulletins, examina-
tion handbooks, and safe and sound 
practices. Regulatory reporting re-
quirements are not limited to the min-
imum requirements under generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) 
because of the special supervisory, reg-
ulatory, and economic policy needs 
served by such reports. Regulatory re-
porting by State savings associations 
that purports to comply with GAAP 
shall incorporate the GAAP that best 
reflects the underlying economic sub-
stance of the transaction at issue. Reg-
ulatory reporting requirements shall, 
at a minimum: 

(i) Incorporate GAAP whenever 
GAAP is the referenced accounting in-
struction for regulatory reports to the 
Federal banking agencies; 

(ii) Incorporate safe and sound prac-
tices contained in FDIC regulations, fi-
nancial institution letters, bulletins, 
examination handbooks, manuals, and 
instructions to regulatory reports; and 

(iii) Incorporate additional safety 
and soundness requirements more 
stringent than GAAP, as the FDIC may 
prescribe. 

(2) Exceptions. Regulatory reporting 
requirements that are not consistent 
with GAAP, if any, are not required to 
be reflected in the audited financial 
statements, including financial state-
ments contained in securities filings 
submitted to the FDIC pursuant to the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or sub-
part W and 12 CFR part 192. 

(3) Compliance. When the FDIC deter-
mines that a State savings associa-
tion’s regulatory reports did not con-
form to regulatory reporting require-
ments in previous reporting periods, 
the association shall correct its regu-
latory reports in accordance with the 
directions of the FDIC. 

[76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, as amended at 79 
FR 63502, Oct. 24, 2014] 

§ 390.322 Audit of State savings asso-
ciations. 

(a) General. The FDIC may require, at 
any time, an independent audit of the 
financial statements of, or the applica-
tion of procedures agreed upon by the 
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FDIC to a State savings association, by 
qualified independent public account-
ants when needed for any safety and 
soundness reason identified by the 
FDIC. 

(b) Audits required for safety and 
soundness purposes. The FDIC requires 
an independent audit for safety and 
soundness purposes: 

(1) If a State savings association has 
received a composite rating of 3, 4 or 5, 
as defined at § 390.101(c). 

(2) [Reserved] 
(c) Procedures. (1) When the FDIC re-

quires an independent audit because 
such an audit is needed for safety and 
soundness purposes, the FDIC shall de-
termine whether the audit was con-
ducted and filed in a manner satisfac-
tory to the FDIC. 

(2) The FDIC may waive the inde-
pendent audit requirement described at 
paragraph (b)(1) of this section, if the 
FDIC determines that an audit would 
not provide further information on 
safety and soundness issues relevant to 
the examination rating. 

(3) When the FDIC requires the appli-
cation of procedures agreed upon by 
the FDIC for safety and soundness pur-
poses, the FDIC shall identify the pro-
cedures to be performed. The FDIC 
shall also determine whether the 
agreed upon procedures were conducted 
and filed in a manner satisfactory to 
the FDIC. 

(d) Qualifications for independent pub-
lic accountants. The audit shall be con-
ducted by an independent public ac-
countant who: 

(1) Is registered or licensed to prac-
tice as a public accountant, and is in 
good standing, under the laws of the 
state or other political subdivision of 
the United States in which the State 
savings association’s or holding com-
pany’s principal office is located; 

(2) Agrees in the engagement letter 
to provide the FDIC with access to and 
copies of any work papers, policies, and 
procedures relating to the services per-
formed; 

(3)(i) Is in compliance with the Amer-
ican Institute of Certified Public Ac-
countants’ (AICPA) Code of Profes-
sional Conduct; and 

(ii) Meets the independence require-
ments and interpretations of the Secu-

rities and Exchange Commission and 
its staff; and 

(4) Has received, or is enrolled in, a 
peer review program that meets guide-
lines acceptable to the FDIC. 

(e) Voluntary audits. When a State 
savings association obtains an inde-
pendent audit voluntarily, it must be 
performed by an independent public ac-
countant who satisfies the require-
ments of paragraphs (d)(1), (2), and 
(3)(i) of this section. 

Subpart S—State Savings 
Associations—Operations 

§ 390.330 Chartering documents. 
(a) Submission for approval. Any de 

novo State savings association prior to 
commencing operations shall file its 
charter and bylaws with the FDIC for 
approval, together with a certification 
that such charter and bylaws are per-
missible under all applicable laws, 
rules and regulations. 

(b) Availability of chartering docu-
ments. Each State savings association 
shall cause a true copy of its charter 
and bylaws and all amendments there-
to to be available to accountholders at 
all times in each office of the State 
savings association, and shall upon re-
quest deliver to any accountholders a 
copy of such charter and bylaws or 
amendments thereto. 

§ 390.331 Securities: Statement of non- 
insurance. 

Every security issued by a State sav-
ings association must include in its 
provisions a clear statement that the 
security is not insured by the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation. 

§ 390.332 Merger, consolidation, pur-
chase or sale of assets, or assump-
tion of liabilities. 

(a) No State savings association may, 
without application to and approval by 
the FDIC: 

(1) Combine with any insured deposi-
tory institution, if the acquiring or re-
sulting institution is to be a State sav-
ings association; or 

(2) Assume liability to pay any de-
posit made in, any insured depository 
institution. 

(b)(1) No State savings association 
may, without notifying the FDIC, as 
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provided in paragraph (h)(1) of this sec-
tion: 

(i) Combine with another insured de-
pository institution where a State sav-
ings association is not the resulting in-
stitution; or 

(ii) In the case of a State savings as-
sociation that meets the conditions for 
expedited treatment under § 390.101, 
convert, directly or indirectly, to a na-
tional or state bank. 

(2) A State savings association that 
does not meet the conditions for expe-
dited treatment under § 390.101 may 
not, directly or indirectly, convert to a 
national or state bank without prior 
application to and approval of FDIC, as 
provided in paragraph (h)(2)(ii) of this 
section. 

(c) No State savings association may 
make any transfer (excluding transfers 
subject to paragraphs (a) or (b) of this 
section) without notice or application 
to the FDIC, as provided in paragraph 
(h)(2) of this section. For purposes of 
this paragraph, the term ‘‘transfer’’ 
means purchases or sales of assets or 
liabilities in bulk not made in the ordi-
nary course of business including, but 
not limited to, transfers of assets or 
savings account liabilities, purchases 
of assets, and assumptions of deposit 
accounts or other liabilities, and com-
binations with a depository institution 
other than an insured depository insti-
tution. 

(d)(1) In determining whether to con-
fer approval for a transaction under 
paragraphs (a), (b)(2), or (c) of this sec-
tion, the FDIC shall take into account 
the following: 

(i) The capital level of any resulting 
State savings association; 

(ii) The financial and managerial re-
sources of the constituent institutions; 

(iii) The future prospects of the con-
stituent institutions; 

(iv) The convenience and needs of the 
communities to be served; 

(v) The conformity of the transaction 
to applicable law, regulation, and su-
pervisory policies; 

(vi) Factors relating to the fairness 
of and disclosure concerning the trans-
action, including, but not limited to: 

(A) Equitable treatment. The trans-
action should be equitable to all con-
cerned—savings account holders, bor-
rowers, creditors and stockholders (if 

any) of each State savings associa-
tion—giving proper recognition of and 
protection to their respective legal 
rights and interests. The transaction 
will be closely reviewed for fairness 
where the transaction does not appear 
to be the result of arms’ length bar-
gaining or, in the case of a stock State 
savings association, where controlling 
stockholders are receiving different 
consideration from other stockholders. 
No finder’s or similar fee should be 
paid to any officer, director, or control-
ling person of a State savings associa-
tion which is a party to the trans-
action. 

(B) Full disclosure. The filing should 
make full disclosure of all written or 
oral agreements or understandings by 
which any person or company will re-
ceive, directly or indirectly, any 
money, property, service, release of 
pledges made, or other thing of value, 
whether tangible or intangible, in con-
nection with the transaction. 

(C) Compensation to officers. Com-
pensation, including deferred com-
pensation, to officers, directors and 
controlling persons of the disappearing 
State savings association by the result-
ing institution or an affiliate thereof 
should not be in excess of a reasonable 
amount, and should be commensurate 
with their duties and responsibilities. 
The filing should fully justify the com-
pensation to be paid to such persons. 
The transaction will be particularly 
scrutinized where any of such persons 
is to receive a material increase in 
compensation above that paid by the 
disappearing State savings association 
prior to the commencement of negotia-
tions regarding the proposed trans-
action. An increase in compensation in 
excess of the greater of 15% or $10,000 
gives rise to presumptions of 
unreasonableness and sale of control. 
In the case of such an increase, evi-
dence sufficient to rebut such presump-
tions should be submitted. 

(D) Advisory boards. Advisory board 
members should be elected for a term 
not exceeding one year. No advisory 
board fees should be paid to salaried of-
ficers or employees of the resulting 
State savings association. The filing 
should describe and justify the duties 
and responsibilities and any compensa-
tion paid to any advisory board of the 
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resulting State savings association 
that consists of officers, directors or 
controlling persons of the disappearing 
institution, particularly if the dis-
appearing institution experienced sig-
nificant supervisory problems prior to 
the transaction. No advisory board fees 
should exceed the director fees paid by 
the resulting State savings association. 
Advisory board fees that are in excess 
of 115 percent of the director fees paid 
by the disappearing State savings asso-
ciation prior to commencement of ne-
gotiations regarding the transaction 
give rise to presumptions of 
unreasonableness and sale of control 
unless sufficient evidence to rebut such 
presumptions is submitted. Rebuttal 
evidence is not required if: 

(1) The advisory board fees do not ex-
ceed the fee that advisory board mem-
bers of the resulting institution receive 
for each monthly meeting attended or 
$150, whichever is greater; or 

(2) The advisory board fees do not ex-
ceed $100 per meeting attended for dis-
appearing State savings associations 
with assets greater than $10,000,000 or 
$50 per meeting attended for dis-
appearing State savings associations 
with assets of $10,000,000 or less, based 
on a schedule of 12 meetings per year. 

(E) The accounting and tax treat-
ment of the transaction; and 

(F) Fees paid and professional serv-
ices rendered in connection with the 
transaction. 

(2) In conferring approval of a trans-
action under paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion, the FDIC also will consider the 
competitive impact of the transaction, 
including whether: 

(i) The transaction would result in a 
monopoly, or would be in furtherance 
of any monopoly or conspiracy to mo-
nopolize or to attempt to monopolize 
the State savings association business 
in any part of the United States; or 

(ii) The effect of the transaction on 
any section of the country may be sub-
stantially to lessen competition, or 
tend to create a monopoly, or in any 
other manner would be in restraint of 
trade, unless the FDIC finds that the 
anticompetitive effects of the proposed 
transaction are clearly outweighed in 
the public interest by the probable ef-
fect of the transaction in meeting the 

convenience and needs of the commu-
nities to be served. 

(3) Applications and notices filed 
under this section shall be upon forms 
prescribed by the FDIC. 

(4) Applications filed under para-
graph (a) of this section must be proc-
essed in accordance with the time 
frames set forth in §§ 390.127 through 
390.135, provided that the period for re-
view may be extended only if the FDIC 
determines that the applicant has 
failed to furnish all requested informa-
tion or that the information submitted 
is substantially inaccurate, in which 
case the review period may be extended 
for up to 30 days. 

(e)(1) The following procedures apply 
to applications described in paragraph 
(a) of this section, unless the FDIC 
finds that it must act immediately to 
prevent the probable default of one of 
the depository institutions involved: 

(i) The applicant must publish a pub-
lic notice of the application in accord-
ance with the procedures in §§ 390.111 
through 390.115. In addition to the ini-
tial publication, the applicant must 
also publish on a weekly basis during 
the public comment period. 

(ii) Commenters may submit com-
ments on an application in accordance 
with the procedures in §§ 390.116 
through 390.120. The public comment 
period is 30 calendar days after the 
date of publication of the initial public 
notice. However, if the FDIC has ad-
vised the Attorney General that an 
emergency exists requiring expeditious 
action, the public comment period is 10 
calendar days after the date of publica-
tion of the initial public notice. 

(iii) The FDIC may arrange a meet-
ing in accordance with the procedures 
in §§ 390.121 through 390.125. 

(iv) The FDIC will request the Attor-
ney General, the Office of the Comp-
troller of the Currency, and the Board 
of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
System to provide reports on the com-
petitive impacts involved in the trans-
action. 

(v) The FDIC will immediately notify 
the Attorney General of the approval 
of the transaction. The applicant may 
not consummate the transaction before 
the date established under 12 U.S.C. 
1828(c)(6). 
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(2) For applications described in 
§ 390.332, certain State savings associa-
tions described below must provide af-
fected accountholders with a notice of 
a proposed account transfer and an op-
tion of retaining the account in the 
transferring State savings association. 
The notice must allow affected 
accountholders at least 30 days to con-
sider whether to retain their accounts 
in the transferring State savings asso-
ciation. The following State savings as-
sociations must provide the notices: 

(i) A State savings association trans-
ferring account liabilities to an insti-
tution the accounts of which are not 
insured by the Deposit Insurance Fund 
or the National Credit Union Share In-
surance Fund; and 

(ii) Any mutual State savings asso-
ciation transferring account liabilities 
to a stock form depository institution. 

(f) Automatic approvals by the FDIC. 
Applications filed pursuant to para-
graph (a) of this section shall be 
deemed to be approved automatically 
by the FDIC 30 calendar days after the 
FDIC sends written notice to the appli-
cant that the application is complete, 
unless: 

(1) The acquiring State savings asso-
ciation does not meet the criteria for 
expedited treatment under § 390.101; 

(2) The FDIC recommends the impo-
sition of non-standard conditions prior 
to approving the application; 

(3) The FDIC suspends the applicable 
processing time frames under § 390.125; 

(4) The FDIC raises objections to the 
transaction; 

(5) The resulting State savings asso-
ciation would be one of the 3 largest 
depository institutions competing in 
the relevant geographic area where be-
fore the transaction there were 5 or 
fewer depository institutions, the re-
sulting State savings association would 
have 25 percent or more of the total de-
posits held by depository institutions 
in the relevant geographic area, and 
the share of total deposits would have 
increased by 5 percent or more; 

(6) The resulting State savings asso-
ciation would be one of the 2 largest 
depository institutions competing in 
the relevant geographic area where be-
fore the transaction there were 6 to 11 
depository institutions the resulting 
State savings association would have 

30 percent or more of the total deposits 
held by depositing institutions in the 
relevant geographic area, and the share 
of total deposits would have increased 
by 10 percent or more; 

(7) The resulting State savings asso-
ciation would be one of the 2 largest 
depository institutions competing in 
the relevant geographic area where be-
fore the transaction there were 12 or 
more depository institutions, the re-
sulting State savings association would 
have 35 percent or more of the total de-
posits held by the depository institu-
tions in the relevant geographic area, 
and the share of total deposits would 
have increased by 15 percent or more; 

(8) The Herfindahl-Hirschman Index 
(HHI) in the relevant geographic area 
was more than 1800 before the trans-
action, and the increase in the HHI 
used by the transaction would be 50 or 
more; 

(9) In a transaction involving poten-
tial competition, the FDIC determines 
that the acquiring State savings asso-
ciation is one of three or fewer poten-
tial entrants into the relevant geo-
graphic area; 

(10) The acquiring State savings asso-
ciation has assets of $1 billion or more 
and proposes to acquire assets of $1 bil-
lion or more; 

(11) The State savings association 
that will be the resulting State savings 
association in the transaction has a 
composite Community Reinvestment 
Act rating of less than satisfactory, or 
is otherwise seriously deficient with re-
spect to the FDIC’s nondiscrimination 
regulations and the deficiencies have 
not been resolved to the satisfaction of 
the FDIC; 

(12) The transaction involves any su-
pervisory or assistance agreement with 
the FDIC; 

(13) The transaction is part of a con-
version under 12 CFR part 192; 

(14) The transaction raises a signifi-
cant issue of law or policy; or 

(15) The transaction is opposed by 
any constituent institution or con-
tested by a competing acquiror. 

(g) Definitions. (1) The terms used in 
this subpart shall have the same mean-
ing as set forth in 12 CFR 152.13(b). 

(2) Insured depository institution. In-
sured depository institution has the same 
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meaning as defined in section 3(c)(2) of 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Act. 

(3) With regard to paragraph (f) of 
this section, the term relevant geo-
graphic area is used as a substitute for 
relevant geographic market, which means 
the area within which the competitive 
effects of a merger or other combina-
tion may be evaluated. The relevant 
geographic area shall be delineated as 
a county or similar political subdivi-
sion, an area smaller than a county, or 
an aggregation of counties within 
which the merging or combining in-
sured depository institutions compete. 
In addition, the FDIC may consider 
commuting patterns, newspaper and 
other advertising activities, or other 
factors as the FDIC deems relevant. 

(h) Special requirements and procedures 
for transactions under paragraphs (b) and 
(c) of this section—(1)(i) Certain trans-
actions with no surviving State savings 
association. The FDIC must be notified 
of any transaction under paragraph 
(b)(1) of this section. Such notification 
must be submitted to the appropriate 
FDIC region, as defined in § 303.2 of this 
chapter, at least 30 days prior to the ef-
fective date of the transaction, but not 
later than the date on which an appli-
cation relating to the proposed trans-
action is filed with the primary regu-
lator of the resulting institution; the 
FDIC may, upon request or on its own 
initiative, shorten the 30-day prior no-
tification requirement. Notifications 
under this paragraph must dem-
onstrate compliance with applicable 
stockholder or accountholder approval 
requirements. Where the State savings 
association submitting the notification 
maintains a liquidation account estab-
lished pursuant to 12 CFR part 192, the 
notification must state that the result-
ing institution will assume such liq-
uidation account. 

(ii) The notification may be in the 
form of either a letter describing the 
material features of the transaction or 
a copy of a filing made with another 
Federal or state regulatory agency 
seeking approval from that agency for 
the transaction under the Bank Merger 
Act or other applicable statute. If the 
action contemplated by the notifica-
tion is not completed within one year 
after the FDIC’s receipt of the notifica-

tion, a new notification must be sub-
mitted to the FDIC. 

(2) Other transfer transactions—(i) Ex-
pedited treatment. A notice in con-
formity with § 390.105(a) may be sub-
mitted to the appropriate FDIC region, 
as defined in § 303.2 of this chapter, 
under § 390.108 for any transaction 
under paragraph (c) of this section, 
provided all constituent State savings 
associations meet the conditions for 
expedited treatment under § 390.101. No-
tices submitted under this paragraph 
must be deemed approved automati-
cally by the FDIC 30 days after receipt, 
unless the FDIC advises the applicant 
in writing prior to the expiration of 
such period that the proposed trans-
action may not be consummated with-
out the FDIC’s approval of an applica-
tion under paragraphs (h)(2)(ii) or 
(h)(2)(iii) of this section. 

(ii) Standard treatment. An applica-
tion in conformity with § 390.105(b) and 
paragraph (d) of this section must be 
submitted to the appropriate FDIC re-
gion, as defined in § 303.2 of this chap-
ter, under § 390.108 by each State sav-
ings association participating in a 
transaction under paragraph (b)(2) or 
(c) of this section, where any con-
stituent State savings association does 
not meet the conditions for expedited 
treatment under § 390.101. Applications 
under this paragraph must be processed 
in accordance with §§ 390.103 through 
390.110 and §§ 390.126 through 390.135. 

§ 390.333 Advertising. 
No State savings association shall 

use advertising (which includes print 
or broadcast media, displays or signs, 
stationery, and all other promotional 
materials), or make any representation 
which is inaccurate in any particular 
or which in any way misrepresents its 
services, contracts, investments, or fi-
nancial condition. 

§ 390.334 Directors, officers, and em-
ployees. 

(a) Directors—(1) Requirements. The 
composition of the board of directors of 
a State savings association must be in 
accordance with the following require-
ments: 

(i) A majority of the directors must 
not be salaried officers or employees of 
the State savings association or of any 
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subsidiary or (except in the case of a 
State savings association having 80% 
or more of any class of voting shares 
owned by a holding company) any hold-
ing company affiliate thereof. 

(ii) Not more than two of the direc-
tors may be members of the same im-
mediate family. 

(iii) Not more than one director may 
be an attorney with a particular law 
firm. 

(2) Prospective application. In the case 
of an association whose board of direc-
tors does not conform with any re-
quirement set forth in paragraph (a)(1) 
of this section as of October 5, 1983, 
this paragraph (a) shall not prohibit 
the uninterrupted service, including re- 
election and re-appointment, of any 
person serving on the board of direc-
tors at that date. 

(b) [Reserved] 

§ 390.335 Tying restriction exception. 

For applicable rules, see the regula-
tions issued by the Board of Governors 
of the Federal Reserve System. 

§ 390.336 Employment contracts. 

(a) General. A State savings associa-
tion may enter into an employment 
contract with its officers and other em-
ployees only in accordance with the re-
quirements of this section. All employ-
ment contracts shall be in writing and 
shall be approved specifically by a 
State savings association’s board of di-
rectors. A State savings association 
shall not enter into an employment 
contract with any of its officers or 
other employees if such contract would 
constitute an unsafe or unsound prac-
tice. The making of such an employ-
ment contract would be an unsafe or 
unsound practice if such contract could 
lead to material financial loss or dam-
age to the State savings association or 
could interfere materially with the ex-
ercise by the members of its board of 
directors of their duty or discretion 
provided by law, charter, bylaw or reg-
ulation as to the employment or termi-
nation of employment of an officer or 
employee of the State savings associa-
tion. This may occur, depending upon 
the circumstances of the case, where 
an employment contract provides for 
an excessive term. 

(b) Required provisions. Each employ-
ment contract shall provide that: 

(1) The State savings association’s 
board of directors may terminate the 
officer or employee’s employment at 
any time, but any termination by the 
State savings association’s board of di-
rectors other than termination for 
cause, shall not prejudice the officer or 
employee’s right to compensation or 
other benefits under the contract. The 
officer or employee shall have no right 
to receive compensation or other bene-
fits for any period after termination 
for cause. Termination for cause shall 
include termination because of the offi-
cer or employee’s personal dishonesty, 
incompetence, willful misconduct, 
breach of fiduciary duty involving per-
sonal profit, intentional failure to per-
form stated duties, willful violation of 
any law, rule, or regulation (other than 
traffic violations or similar offenses) or 
final cease-and-desist order, or mate-
rial breach of any provision of the con-
tract. 

(2) If the officer or employee is sus-
pended and/or temporarily prohibited 
from participating in the conduct of 
the State savings association’s affairs 
by a notice served under section 8(e)(3) 
or (g)(1) of Federal Deposit Insurance 
Act (12 U.S.C. 1818(e)(3) and (g)(1)), the 
State savings association’s obligations 
under the contract shall be suspended 
as of the date of service unless stayed 
by appropriate proceedings. If the 
charges in the notice are dismissed, the 
State savings association may in its 
discretion: 

(i) Pay the officer or employee all or 
part of the compensation withheld 
while its contract obligations were sus-
pended; and 

(ii) Reinstate (in whole or in part) 
any of its obligations which were sus-
pended. 

(3) If the officer or employee is re-
moved and/or permanently prohibited 
from participating in the conduct of 
the State savings association’s affairs 
by an order issued under section 8 (e)(4) 
or (g)(1) of the Federal Deposit Insur-
ance Act (12 U.S.C. 1818 (e)(4) or (g)(1)), 
all obligations of the State savings as-
sociation under the contract shall ter-
minate as of the effective date of the 
order, but vested rights of the con-
tracting parties shall not be affected. 
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(4) If the State savings association is 
in default (as defined in section 3(x)(1) 
of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act), 
all obligations under the contract shall 
terminate as of the date of default, but 
this paragraph (b)(4) shall not affect 
any vested rights of the contracting 
parties: Provided, that this paragraph 
(b)(4) need not be included in an em-
ployment contract if prior written ap-
proval is secured from the FDIC. 

(5)(i) All obligations under the con-
tract shall be terminated, except to the 
extent determined that continuation of 
the contract is necessary of the contin-
ued operation of the State savings as-
sociation 

(A) By the FDIC, at the time the 
FDIC enters into an agreement to pro-
vide assistance to or on behalf of the 
State savings association under the au-
thority contained in 13(c) of the Fed-
eral Deposit Insurance Act; or 

(B) By the FDIC, at the time the 
FDIC approves a supervisory merger to 
resolve problems related to operation 
of the State savings association or 
when the State savings association is 
determined by the FDIC to be in an un-
safe or unsound condition. 

(ii) Any rights of the parties that 
have already vested, however, shall not 
be affected by such action. 

§ 390.337 Transactions with affiliates. 
For applicable rules, see the regula-

tions issued by the Board of Governors 
of the Federal Reserve System. 

§ 390.338 Loans by State savings asso-
ciations to their executive officers, 
directors, and principal share-
holders. 

For applicable rules, see the regula-
tions issued by the Board of Governors 
of the Federal Reserve System. 

§ 390.339 Pension plans. 
(a) General. No State savings associa-

tion shall sponsor an employee pension 
plan which, because of unreasonable 
costs or any other reason, could lead to 
material financial loss or damage to 
the sponsor. For purposes of this sec-
tion, an employee pension plan is de-
fined in section 3(2) of the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 
1974, as amended. The prospective obli-
gation or liability of a plan sponsor to 

each plan participant shall be stated in 
or determinable from the plan, and, for 
a defined benefit plan, shall also be 
based upon an actuarial estimate of fu-
ture experience under the plan. 

(b) Funding. Actuarial cost methods 
permitted under the Employee Retire-
ment Income Security Act of 1974 and 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as 
amended, shall be used to determine 
plan funding. 

(c) Plan amendment. A plan may be 
amended to provide reasonable annual 
cost-of-living increases to retired par-
ticipants: Provided, That 

(1) Any such increase shall be for a 
period and amount determined by the 
sponsor’s board of directors, but in no 
event shall it exceed the annual in-
crease in the Consumer Price Index 
published by the Bureau of Labor Sta-
tistics; and 

(2) No increase shall be granted un-
less: 

(i) Anticipated charges to net income 
for future periods have first been found 
by such board of directors to be reason-
able and are documented by appro-
priate resolution and supporting anal-
ysis; and 

(ii) The increase will not reduce the 
State savings association’s regulatory 
capital below its regulatory capital re-
quirement. 

(d) Termination. The plan shall permit 
the sponsor’s board of directors and its 
successors to terminate such plan. No-
tice of intent to terminate shall be 
filed with the FDIC at least 60 days 
prior to the proposed termination date. 

(e) Records. Each State savings asso-
ciation maintaining a plan not subject 
to recordkeeping and reporting require-
ments of the Employee Retirement In-
come Security Act of 1974, and the In-
ternal Revenue Code of 1954, as amend-
ed, shall establish and maintain 
records containing the following: 

(1) Plan description; 
(2) Schedule of participants and bene-

ficiaries; 
(3) Schedule of participants and bene-

ficiaries’ rights and obligations; 
(4) Plan’s financial statements; and 
(5) Except for defined contribution 

plans, an opinion signed by an enrolled 
actuary (as defined by the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 
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1974) affirming that actuarial assump-
tions in the aggregate are reasonable, 
take into account the plan’s experience 
and expectations, and represent the ac-
tuary’s best estimate of the plan’s pro-
jected experiences. 

§ 390.340 Offers and sales of securities 
at an office of a State savings asso-
ciation. 

(a) A State saving association may 
not offer or sell debt or equity securi-
ties issued by the State savings asso-
ciation or an affiliate of the State sav-
ings association at an office of the 
State savings association; except that 
equity securities issued by the State 
savings association or an affiliate in 
connection with the State savings as-
sociation’s conversion from the mutual 
to stock form of organization in a con-
version approved pursuant to 12 CFR 
part 192 may be offered and sold at the 
State savings association’s offices: Pro-
vided, That: 

(1) The FDIC does not object on su-
pervisory grounds that the offer and 
sale of the securities at the offices of 
the State savings association; 

(2) No commissions, bonuses, or com-
parable payments are paid to any em-
ployee of the State savings association 
or its affiliates or to any other person 
in connection with the sale of securi-
ties at an office of a State savings asso-
ciation; except that compensation and 
commissions consistent with industry 
norms may be paid to securities per-
sonnel of registered broker-dealers; 

(3) No offers or sales are made by 
tellers or at the teller counter, or by 
comparable persons at comparable lo-
cations; 

(4) Sales activity is conducted in a 
segregated or separately identifiable 
area of the State savings association’s 
offices apart from the area accessible 
to the general public for the purposes 
of making or withdrawing deposits; 

(5) Offers and sales are made only by 
regular, full-time employees of the 
State savings association or by securi-
ties personnel who are subject to super-
vision by a registered broker-dealer; 

(6) An acknowledgment, in the form 
set forth in paragraph (c) of this sec-
tion, is signed by any customer to 
whom the security is sold in the State 

savings association’s offices prior to 
the sale of any such securities; 

(7) A legend that the security is not 
a deposit or account and is not feder-
ally insured or guaranteed appears con-
spicuously on the security and in all 
offering documents and advertisements 
for the securities; the legend must 
state in bold or other prominent type 
at least as large as other textual type 
in the document that ‘‘This security is 
not a deposit or account and is not fed-
erally insured or guaranteed’’; and 

(8) The State savings association will 
be in compliance with its current cap-
ital requirements upon completion of 
the conversion stock offering. 

(b) Securities sales practices, adver-
tisements, and other sales literature 
used in connection with offers and 
sales of securities by State savings as-
sociations shall be subject to § 390.419. 

(c) Offers and sales of securities of a 
State savings association or its affili-
ates in any office of the State savings 
association must use a one-page, unam-
biguous, certification in substantially 
the following form: 

FORM OF CERTIFICATION 

I ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THIS SECURITY 
IS NOT A DEPOSIT OR ACCOUNT AND IS 
NOT FEDERALLY INSURED, AND IS NOT 
GUARANTEED BY [insert name of State sav-
ings association] OR BY THE FEDERAL GOV-
ERNMENT. 

If anyone asserts that this security is fed-
erally insured or guaranteed, or is as safe as 
an insured deposit, I should call the FDIC’s 
appropriate regional director [insert name 
and telephone number with area code of the ap-
propriate regional director, as defined in section 
303.2 of this chapter]. 

I further certify that, before purchasing 
the [description of security being offered] of 
[name of issuer, name of State savings associa-
tion and affiliation to issuer (if different)], I re-
ceived an offering circular. 

The offering circular that I received con-
tains disclosure concerning the nature of the 
security being offered and describes the risks 
involved in the investment, including: 

[List briefly the principal risks involved and 
cross reference certain specified pages of the of-
fering circular where a more complete descrip-
tion of the risks is made.] 
Signature: llllllllllllllllll

Date: llllllllllllllllllll

(d) For purposes of this section, an 
‘‘office’’ of a State savings association 
means any premises used by the State 
savings association that are identified 
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to the public through advertising or 
signage using the State savings asso-
ciation’s name, trade name, or logo. 

§ 390.341 Inclusion of subordinated 
debt securities and mandatorily re-
deemable preferred stock as supple-
mentary capital. 

(a) Scope. A State savings association 
must comply with this section in order 
to include subordinated debt securities 
or mandatorily redeemable preferred 
stock (‘‘covered securities’’) in supple-
mentary capital (tier 2 capital) under 
part 324 of this chapter. If a State sav-
ings association does not include cov-
ered securities in supplementary cap-
ital, it is not required to comply with 
this section. 

(b) Application and notice procedures. 
(1) A State savings association must 
file an application or notice under 
§§ 390.103 through 390.110 seeking FDIC 
approval of, or non-objection to, the in-
clusion of covered securities in supple-
mentary capital. The State savings as-
sociation may file its application or 
notice before or after it issues covered 
securities, but may not include covered 
securities in supplementary capital 
until the FDIC approves the applica-
tion or does not object to the notice. 

(2) A State savings association must 
also comply with the securities offer-
ing rules at subpart W by filing an of-
fering circular for a proposed issuance 
of covered securities, unless the offer-
ing qualifies for an exemption under 
that subpart. 

(c) Securities requirements. To be in-
cluded in supplementary capital, cov-
ered securities must meet the fol-
lowing requirements: 

(1) Form. (i) Each certificate evidenc-
ing a covered security must: 

(A) Bear the following legend on its 
face, in bold type: ‘‘This security is not 
a savings account or deposit and it is 
not insured by the United States or any 
agency or fund of the United States;’’ 

(B) State that the security is subor-
dinated on liquidation, as to principal, 
interest, and premium, to all claims 
against the State savings association 
that have the same priority as savings 
accounts or a higher priority; 

(C) State that the security is not se-
cured by the State savings associa-
tion’s assets or the assets of any affil-

iate of the State savings association. 
For purposes of this subpart, the term 
affiliate means any person or company 
which controls, is controlled by, or is 
under common control with such State 
savings association. 

(D) State that the security is not eli-
gible collateral for a loan by the State 
savings association; 

(E) State the prohibition on the pay-
ment of dividends or interest at 12 
U.S.C. 1828(b) and, in the case of subor-
dinated debt securities, state the prohi-
bition on the payment of principal and 
interest at 12 U.S.C. 1831o(h); 

(F) For subordinated debt securities, 
state or refer to a document stating 
the terms under which the State sav-
ings association may prepay the obli-
gation; and 

(G) State or refer to a document stat-
ing that the State savings association 
must obtain FDIC approval before the 
voluntarily prepayment of principal on 
subordinated debt securities, the accel-
eration of payment of principal on sub-
ordinated debt securities, or the volun-
tarily redemption of mandatorily re-
deemable preferred stock (other than 
scheduled redemptions), if the State 
savings association is undercapitalized, 
significantly undercapitalized, or criti-
cally undercapitalized as described in 
subpart H of part 324 of this chapter, 
fails to meet the regulatory capital re-
quirements in part 324, or would fail to 
meet any of these standards following 
the payment. 

(ii) A State savings association must 
include such additional statements as 
the FDIC may prescribe for certifi-
cates, purchase agreements, inden-
tures, and other related documents. 

(2) Maturity requirements. Covered se-
curities must have an original weight-
ed average maturity or original 
weighted average period to required re-
demption of at least five years. 

(3) Mandatory prepayment. Subordi-
nated debt securities and related docu-
ments may not provide events of de-
fault or contain other provisions that 
could result in a mandatory prepay-
ment of principal, other than events of 
default that: 

(i) Arise from the State savings asso-
ciation’s failure to make timely pay-
ment of interest or principal; 
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(ii) Arise from its failure to comply 
with reasonable financial, operating, 
and maintenance covenants of a type 
that are customarily included in inden-
tures for publicly offered debt securi-
ties; or 

(iii) Relate to bankruptcy, insol-
vency, receivership, or similar events. 

(4) Indenture. (i) Except as provided 
in paragraph (c)(4)(ii) of this section, a 
State savings association must use an 
indenture for subordinated debt securi-
ties. If the aggregate amount of subor-
dinated debt securities publicly offered 
(excluding sales in a non-public offer-
ing as defined in § 390.413 and sold in 
any consecutive 12-month or 36-month 
period exceeds $5,000,000 or $10,000,000 
respectively (or such lesser amount 
that the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission shall establish by rule or regu-
lation under 15 U.S.C. 77ddd), the in-
denture must provide for the appoint-
ment of a trustee other than the State 
savings association or an affiliate of 
the State savings association (as de-
fined at § 390.283) and for collective en-
forcement of the security holders’ 
rights and remedies. 

(ii) A State savings association is not 
required to use an indenture if the sub-
ordinated debt securities are sold only 
to accredited investors, as that term is 
defined in 15 U.S.C. 77d(6). A State sav-
ings association must have an inden-
ture that meets the requirements of 
paragraph (c)(4)(i) of this section in 
place before any debt securities for 
which an exemption from the indenture 
requirement is claimed, are transferred 
to any non-accredited investor. If a 
State savings association relies on this 
exemption from the indenture require-
ment, it must place a legend on the 
debt securities indicating that an in-
denture must be in place before the 
debt securities are transferred to any 
non-accredited investor. 

(d) FDIC review. (1) The FDIC will re-
view notices and applications under 
§§ 390.126 through 390.135. 

(2) In reviewing notices and applica-
tions under this section, the FDIC will 
consider whether: 

(i) The issuance of the covered secu-
rities is authorized under applicable 
laws and regulations and is consistent 
with the State savings association’s 
charter and bylaws. 

(ii) The State savings association is 
at least adequately capitalized under 
subpart H of part 324 of this chapter 
and meets the regulatory capital re-
quirements in part 324. 

(iii) The State savings association is 
or will be able to service the covered 
securities. 

(iv) The covered securities are con-
sistent with the requirements of this 
section. 

(v) The covered securities and related 
transactions sufficiently transfer risk 
from the Deposit Insurance Fund. 

(vi) The FDIC has no objection to the 
issuance based on the State savings as-
sociation’s overall policies, condition, 
and operations. 

(3) The FDIC approval or non-objec-
tion is conditioned upon no material 
changes to the information disclosed in 
the application or notice submitted to 
the FDIC. The FDIC may impose such 
additional requirements or conditions 
as it may deem necessary to protect 
purchasers, the State savings associa-
tion, or the Deposit Insurance Fund. 

(e) Amendments. If a State savings as-
sociation amends the covered securi-
ties or related documents following the 
completion of the FDIC’s review, it 
must obtain the FDIC’s approval or 
non-objection under this section before 
it may include the amended securities 
in supplementary capital. 

(f) Sale of covered securities. The State 
savings association must complete the 
sale of covered securities within one 
year after the FDIC’s approval or non- 
objection under this section. A State 
savings association may request an ex-
tension of the offering period by filing 
a written request with the FDIC. The 
State savings association must dem-
onstrate good cause for the extension 
and file the request at least 30 days be-
fore the expiration of the offering pe-
riod or any extension of the offering 
period. 

(g) Reports. A State savings associa-
tion must file the following informa-
tion with the FDIC within 30 days after 
the State savings association com-
pletes the sale of covered securities in-
cludable as supplementary capital. If 
the State savings association filed its 
application or notice following the 
completion of the sale, it must submit 
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this information with its application or 
notice: 

(1) A written report indicating the 
number of purchasers, the total dollar 
amount of securities sold, the net pro-
ceeds received by the State savings as-
sociation from the issuance, and the 
amount of covered securities, net of all 
expenses, to be included as supple-
mentary capital; 

(2) Three copies of an executed form 
of the securities and a copy of any re-
lated documents governing the 
issuance or administration of the secu-
rities; and 

(3) A certification by the appropriate 
executive officer indicating that the 
State savings association complied 
with all applicable laws and regula-
tions in connection with the offering, 
issuance, and sale of the securities. 

[76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, as amended at 83 
FR 17743, Apr. 24, 2018] 

§ 390.342 Capital distributions by State 
savings associations. 

Sections 390.342 through 390.348 apply 
to all capital distributions by a State 
savings association (‘‘you’’). 

§ 390.343 What is a capital distribu-
tion? 

A capital distribution is: 
(a) A distribution of cash or other 

property to your owners made on ac-
count of their ownership, but excludes: 

(1) Any dividend consisting only of 
your shares or rights to purchase your 
shares; or 

(2) If you are a mutual State savings 
association, any payment that you are 
required to make under the terms of a 
deposit instrument and any other 
amount paid on deposits that the FDIC 
determines is not a distribution for the 
purposes of this section; 

(b) Your payment to repurchase, re-
deem, retire or otherwise acquire any 
of your shares or other ownership in-
terests, any payment to repurchase, re-
deem, retire, or otherwise acquire debt 
instruments included in your total cap-
ital under part 324 of this chapter, and 
any extension of credit to finance an 
affiliate’s acquisition of your shares or 
interests; 

(c) Any direct or indirect payment of 
cash or other property to owners or af-
filiates made in connection with a cor-

porate restructuring. This includes 
your payment of cash or property to 
shareholders of another savings asso-
ciation or to shareholders of its hold-
ing company to acquire ownership in 
that savings association, other than by 
a distribution of shares; 

(d) Any other distribution charged 
against your capital accounts if you 
would not be well capitalized, as set 
forth in subpart H of part 324 of this 
chapter, following the distribution; and 

(e) Any transaction that the FDIC 
determines, by order or regulation, to 
be in substance a distribution of cap-
ital. 

[76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, as amended at 83 
FR 17743, Apr. 24, 2018] 

§ 390.344 Definitions applicable to cap-
ital distributions. 

The following definitions apply to 
sections 390.342 through 390.348: 

Affiliate means an affiliate, as defined 
in regulations governing transactions 
with affiliates as issued by the Board of 
Governors of the Federal Reserve Sys-
tem. 

Capital means total capital, as com-
puted under part 324 of this chapter. 
For a qualifying community banking 
organization (as defined in § 324.12 of 
this chapter) that is subject to the 
community bank leverage ratio frame-
work (as defined in § 324.12 of this chap-
ter), total capital means the FDIC-su-
pervised institution’s tier 1 capital, as 
defined under § 324.2 of this chapter and 
calculated in accordance with 
§ 324.12(b) of this chapter. 

Net income means your net income 
computed in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. 

Retained net income means your net 
income for a specified period less total 
capital distributions declared in that 
period. 

Shares means common and preferred 
stock, and any options, warrants, or 
other rights for the acquisition of such 
stock. The term ‘‘share’’ also includes 
convertible securities upon their con-
version into common or preferred 
stock. The term does not include con-
vertible debt securities prior to their 
conversion into common or preferred 
stock or other securities that are not 
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equity securities at the time of a cap-
ital distribution. 

[76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, as amended at 83 
FR 17743, Apr. 24, 2018; 84 FR 61804, Nov. 13, 
2019] 

§ 390.345 Must I file with the FDIC? 
Whether and what you must file with 

the FDIC depends on whether you and 
your proposed capital distribution fall 
within certain criteria. 

(a) Application required. 

If: Then you: 

(1) You are not eligible for expedited treatment under § 390.101 ................................. Must file an application with the FDIC. 
(2) The total amount of all of your capital distributions (including the proposed capital 

distribution) for the applicable calendar year exceeds your net income for that year 
to date plus your retained net income for the preceding two years.

Must file an application with the FDIC. 

(3) You would not be at least adequately capitalized, as set forth in subpart H of part 
324 of this chapter, following the distribution.

Must file an application with the FDIC. 

(4) Your proposed capital distribution would violate a prohibition contained in any ap-
plicable statute, regulation, or agreement between you and the FDIC, or violate a 
condition imposed on you in an FDIC-approved application or notice.

Must file an application with the FDIC. 

(b) Notice required. 

If you are not required to file an application under paragraph (a) of this section, but: Then you: 

(1) You would not be well capitalized, as set forth under subpart H of part 324 of this 
chapter, following the distribution.

Must file a notice with the FDIC. 

(2) Your proposed capital distribution would reduce the amount of or retire any part 
of your common or preferred stock or retire any part of debt instruments such as 
notes or debentures included in capital under subpart H of part 324 of this chapter 
(other than regular payments required under a debt instrument approved under 
subpart H of part 324 of this chapter).

Must file a notice with the FDIC. 

(c) No prior notice required. 

If neither you nor your proposed capital distribution meet any 
of the criteria listed in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section.

Then you do not need to file a 
notice or an application with 
the FDIC before making a 
capital distribution. 

[76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, as amended at 83 FR 17743, Apr. 24, 2018] 

§ 390.346 How do I file with the FDIC? 

(a) Contents. Your notice or applica-
tion must: 

(1) Be in narrative form. 
(2) Include all relevant information 

concerning the proposed capital dis-
tribution, including the amount, tim-
ing, and type of distribution. 

(3) Demonstrate compliance with 
§ 390.348. 

(b) Schedules. Your notice or applica-
tion may include a schedule proposing 
capital distributions over a specified 
period, not to exceed 12 months. 

(c) Timing. You must file your notice 
or application at least 30 days before 
the proposed declaration of dividend or 
approval of the proposed capital dis-
tribution by your board of directors. 

§ 390.347 May I combine my notice or 
application with other notices or 
applications? 

You may combine the notice or appli-
cation required under § 390.345 with any 
other notice or application, if the cap-
ital distribution is a part of, or is pro-
posed in connection with, another 
transaction requiring a notice or appli-
cation under Parts 390 and 391. If you 
submit a combined filing, you must: 

(a) State that the related notice or 
application is intended to serve as a 
notice or application under §§ 390.342 
through 390.348; and 

(b) Submit the notice or application 
in a timely manner. 
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§ 390.348 Will the FDIC permit my cap-
ital distribution? 

The FDIC will review your notice or 
application under the review proce-
dures in §§ 390.126 through 390.135. The 
FDIC may disapprove your notice or 
deny your application filed under 
§ 390.345 in whole or in part, if the FDIC 
makes any of the following determina-
tions. 

(a) You will be undercapitalized, sig-
nificantly undercapitalized, or criti-
cally undercapitalized as set forth in 
subpart H of part 324 of this chapter, 
following the capital distribution. If so, 
the FDIC will determine if your capital 
distribution is permitted under 12 
U.S.C. 1831o(d)(1)(B). 

(b) Your proposed capital distribu-
tion raises safety or soundness con-
cerns. 

(c) Your proposed capital distribution 
violates a prohibition contained in any 
statute, regulation, agreement between 
you and the FDIC or a condition im-
posed on you in an FDIC-approved ap-
plication or notice. If so, the FDIC will 
determine whether it may permit your 
capital distribution notwithstanding 
the prohibition or condition. 

[76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, as amended at 83 
FR 17743, Apr. 24, 2018] 

§ 390.349 Management and financial 
policies. 

(a)(1) For the protection of depositors 
and other State savings associations, 
each State savings association must be 
well managed and operate safely and 
soundly. Each also must pursue finan-
cial policies that are safe and con-
sistent with economical home financ-
ing and the purposes of State savings 
associations. 

(2) As part of meeting its require-
ments under paragraph (a)(1) of this 
section, each State savings association 
must maintain sufficient liquidity to 
ensure its safe and sound operation. 

(b) Compensation to officers, direc-
tors, and employees of each State sav-
ings association shall not be in excess 
of that which is reasonable and com-
mensurate with their duties and re-
sponsibilities. Former officers, direc-
tors, and employees of State savings 
association who regularly perform 
services therefor under consulting con-

tracts are employees thereof for pur-
poses of this paragraph (b). 

§ 390.350 Examinations and audits; ap-
praisals; establishment and mainte-
nance of records. 

(a) Examinations and audits. Each 
State savings association and affiliate 
thereof shall be examined periodically, 
and may be examined at any time, by 
the FDIC, with appraisals when deemed 
advisable, in accordance with general 
policies from time to time established 
by the FDIC. 

(b) Appraisals. (1) Unless otherwise 
ordered by the FDIC, appraisal of real 
estate by the FDIC in connection with 
any examination or audit of a State 
savings association or its affiliate shall 
be made by an appraiser, or by apprais-
ers, selected by the appropriate FDIC 
region, as that term is defined in § 303.2 
of this chapter, in which such State 
savings association is located. The cost 
of such appraisal shall promptly be 
paid by such State savings association 
or its affiliate direct to such appraiser 
or appraisers upon receipt by the State 
savings association or its affiliate of a 
statement of such cost as approved by 
the appropriate regional director. A 
copy of the report of each appraisal 
made by the FDIC pursuant to any of 
the foregoing provisions of this section 
shall be furnished to the State savings 
association or its affiliate, as appro-
priate within a reasonable time, not to 
exceed 90 days, following the comple-
tion of such appraisals and the filing of 
a report thereof by the appraiser, or 
appraisers, with the appropriate FDIC 
office. 

(2) The FDIC may obtain at any time, 
at its expense, such appraisals of any of 
the assets, including the security 
therefor, of a State savings association 
or its affiliate as the FDIC deems ap-
propriate. 

(c) Establishment and maintenance of 
records. To enable the FDIC to examine 
State savings associations and affili-
ates and audit State savings associa-
tions and its affiliates, pursuant to the 
provisions of paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion, each State savings association, 
and its affiliate shall establish and 
maintain such accounting and other 
records as will provide an accurate and 
complete record of all business it 
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transacts. This includes, without limi-
tation, establishing and maintaining 
such other records as are required by 
statute or any other regulation to 
which the State savings association 
and its affiliate is subject. The docu-
ments, files, and other material or 
property comprising said records shall 
at all times be available for such exam-
ination and audit wherever any of said 
records, documents, files, material, or 
property may be. 

(d) Change in location of records. A 
State savings association shall not 
transfer the location of any of its gen-
eral accounting or control records, or 
the maintenance thereof, from its 
home office to a branch or service of-
fice, or from a branch or service office 
to its home office or to another branch 
or service office unless prior to the 
date of transfer its board of directors 
has: 

(1) By resolution authorized the 
transfer or maintenance and; 

(2) Sent a certified copy of the resolu-
tion to the appropriate regional direc-
tor for the region in which the prin-
cipal office of the State savings asso-
ciation is located. 

(e) Use of data processing services for 
maintenance of records. A State savings 
association which determines to main-
tain any of its records by means of 
data processing services shall so notify 
the appropriate regional director for 
the region in which the principal office 
of such State savings association is lo-
cated, in writing, at least 90 days prior 
to the date on which such maintenance 
of records will begin. Such notification 
shall include identification of the 
records to be maintained by data proc-
essing services and a statement as to 
the location at which such records will 
be maintained. Any contract, agree-
ment, or arrangement made by a State 
savings association pursuant to which 
data processing services are to be per-
formed for such State savings associa-
tion shall be in writing and shall ex-
pressly provide that the records to be 
maintained by such services shall at all 
times be available for examination and 
audit. 

§ 390.352 Financial derivatives. 
(a) What is a financial derivative? A fi-

nancial derivative is a financial con-

tract whose value depends on the value 
of one or more underlying assets, indi-
ces, or reference rates. The most com-
mon types of financial derivatives are 
futures, forward commitments, op-
tions, and swaps. A mortgage deriva-
tive security, such as a collateralized 
mortgage obligation or a real estate 
mortgage investment conduit, is not a 
financial derivative under this section. 

(b) May I engage in transactions involv-
ing financial derivatives? (1) [Reserved] 

(2) If you are a State savings associa-
tion, you may engage in a transaction 
involving a financial derivative if your 
charter or applicable State law author-
izes you to engage in such trans-
actions, the transaction is safe and 
sound, and you otherwise meet the re-
quirements in this section. 

(3) In general, if you engage in a 
transaction involving a financial deriv-
ative, you should do so to reduce your 
risk exposure. 

(c) What are my board of directors’ re-
sponsibilities with respect to financial de-
rivatives? (1) Your board of directors is 
responsible for effective oversight of fi-
nancial derivatives activities. 

(2) Before you may engage in any 
transaction involving a financial deriv-
ative, your board of directors must es-
tablish written policies and procedures 
governing authorized financial deriva-
tives. Your board of directors should 
review Thrift Bulletin 13a, ‘‘Manage-
ment of Interest Rate Risk, Investment 
Securities, and Derivatives Activities,’’ 
and other applicable agency guidance 
on establishing a sound risk manage-
ment program. 

(3) Your board of directors must peri-
odically review: 

(i) Compliance with the policies and 
procedures established under paragraph 
(c)(2) of this section; and 

(ii) The adequacy of these policies 
and procedures to ensure that they 
continue to be appropriate to the na-
ture and scope of your operations and 
existing market conditions. 

(4) Your board of directors must en-
sure that management establishes an 
adequate system of internal controls 
for transactions involving financial de-
rivatives. 

(d) What are management’s responsibil-
ities with respect to financial derivatives? 
(1) Management is responsible for daily 
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oversight and management of financial 
derivatives activities. Management 
must implement the policies and proce-
dures established by the board of direc-
tors and must establish a system of in-
ternal controls. This system of internal 
controls should, at a minimum, provide 
for periodic reporting to the board of 
directors and management, segregation 
of duties, and internal review proce-
dures. 

(2) Management must ensure that fi-
nancial derivatives activities are con-
ducted in a safe and sound manner and 
should review Thrift Bulletin 13a, 
‘‘Management of Interest Rate Risk, 
Investment Securities, and Derivatives 
Activities,’’ and other applicable agen-
cy guidance on implementing a sound 
risk management program. 

(e) What records must I keep on finan-
cial derivative transactions? You must 
maintain records adequate to dem-
onstrate compliance with this section 
and with your board of directors’ poli-
cies and procedures on financial deriva-
tives. 

§ 390.353 Interest-rate-risk-manage-
ment procedures. 

State savings associations shall take 
the following actions: 

(a) The board of directors or a com-
mittee thereof shall review the State 
savings association’s interest-rate-risk 
exposure and devise a policy for the 
State savings association’s manage-
ment of that risk. 

(b) The board of directors shall for-
merly adopt a policy for the manage-
ment of interest-rate risk. The man-
agement of the State savings associa-
tion shall establish guidelines and pro-
cedures to ensure that the board’s pol-
icy is successfully implemented. 

(c) The management of the State sav-
ings association shall periodically re-
port to the board of directors regarding 
implementation of the State savings 
association’s policy for interest-rate- 
risk management and shall make that 
information available upon request to 
the FDIC. 

(d) The State savings association’s 
board of directors shall review the re-
sults of operations at least quarterly 
and shall make such adjustments as it 
considers necessary and appropriate to 
the policy for interest-rate-risk man-

agement, including adjustments to the 
authorized acceptable level of interest- 
rate risk. 

§ 390.354 Procedures for monitoring 
Bank Secrecy Act (BSA) compli-
ance. 

(a) Purpose. The purpose of this regu-
lation is to require State savings asso-
ciations (as defined by § 390.308 to es-
tablish and maintain procedures rea-
sonably designed to assure and monitor 
compliance with the requirements of 
subchapter II of chapter 53 of title 31, 
United States Code, and the imple-
menting regulations promulgated 
thereunder by the U.S. Department of 
Treasury, 31 CFR part 103. 

(b) Establishment of a BSA compliance 
program—(1) Program requirement. Each 
State savings association shall develop 
and provide for the continued adminis-
tration of a program reasonably de-
signed to assure and monitor compli-
ance with the recordkeeping and re-
porting requirements set forth in sub-
chapter II of chapter 53 of title 31, 
United States Code and the imple-
menting regulations issued by the De-
partment of the Treasury at 31 CFR 
part 103. The compliance program must 
be written, approved by the State sav-
ings association’s board of directors, 
and reflected in the minutes of the 
State savings association. 

(2) Customer identification program. 
Each State savings association is sub-
ject to the requirements of 31 U.S.C. 
5318(l) and the implementing regula-
tion promulgated at 31 CFR 103.121, 
which require a customer identifica-
tion program to be implemented as 
part of the BSA compliance program 
required under this section. 

(c) Contents of compliance program. 
The compliance program shall, at a 
minimum: 

(1) Provide for a system of internal 
controls to assure ongoing compliance; 

(2) Provide for independent testing 
for compliance to be conducted by a 
savings association’s in-house per-
sonnel or by an outside party; 

(3) Designate individual(s) respon-
sible for coordinating and monitoring 
day-to-day compliance; and 

(4) Provide training for appropriate 
personnel. 
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§ 390.355 Suspicious Activity Reports 
and other reports and statements. 

(a) Periodic reports. Each State sav-
ings association shall make such peri-
odic or other reports of its affairs in 
such manner and on such forms as the 
FDIC may prescribe. The FDIC may 
provide that reports filed by State sav-
ings associations to meet the require-
ments of other regulations also satisfy 
requirements imposed under this sec-
tion. 

(b) False or misleading statements or 
omissions. No State savings association 
or director, officer, agent, employee, 
affiliated person, or other person par-
ticipating in the conduct of the affairs 
of such State savings association nor 
any person filing or seeking approval of 
any application shall knowingly: 

(1) Make any written or oral state-
ment to the FDIC or to an agent, rep-
resentative or employee of the FDIC 
that is false or misleading with respect 
to any material fact or omits to state 
a material fact concerning any matter 
within the jurisdiction of the FDIC; or 

(2) Make any such statement or omis-
sion to a person or organization audit-
ing a State savings association or oth-
erwise preparing or reviewing its finan-
cial statements concerning the ac-
counts, assets, management condition, 
ownership, safety, or soundness, or 
other affairs of the State savings asso-
ciation. 

(c) Notifications of loss and reports of 
increase in deductible amount of bond. A 
State savings association maintaining 
bond coverage as required by § 390.356 
shall promptly notify its bond com-
pany and file a proof of loss under the 
procedures provided by its bond, con-
cerning any covered losses greater than 
twice the deductible amount. 

(d) Suspicious Activity Reports—(1) 
Purpose and scope. This paragraph (d) 
ensures that State savings associations 
and service corporations file a Sus-
picious Activity Report when they de-
tect a known or suspected violation of 
Federal law or a suspicious transaction 
related to a money laundering activity 
or a violation of the Bank Secrecy Act. 

(2) Definitions. For the purposes of 
this paragraph (d): 

(i) FinCEN means the Financial 
Crimes Enforcement Network of the 
Department of the Treasury. 

(ii) Institution-affiliated party means 
any institution-affiliated party as that 
term is defined in sections 3(u) and 
8(b)(9) of the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Act (12 U.S.C. 1813(u) and 1818(b)(9)). 

(iii) SAR means a Suspicious Activity 
Report on the form prescribed by the 
FDIC. 

(3) SARs required. A State savings as-
sociation shall file a SAR with the ap-
propriate Federal law enforcement 
agencies and the Department of the 
Treasury in accordance with the form’s 
instructions, by sending a completed 
SAR to FinCEN in the following cir-
cumstances: 

(i) Insider abuse involving any amount. 
Whenever the State savings association 
detects any known or suspected Fed-
eral criminal violation, or pattern of 
criminal violations, committed or at-
tempted against the State savings as-
sociation or involving a transaction or 
transactions conducted through the 
State savings association where the 
State savings association believes that 
it was either an actual or potential vic-
tim of a criminal violation, or series of 
criminal violations, or that it was used 
to facilitate a criminal transaction, 
and it has a substantial basis for iden-
tifying one of its directors, officers, 
employees, agents or other institution- 
affiliated parties as having committed 
or aided in the commission of a crimi-
nal act, regardless of the amount in-
volved in the violation. 

(ii) Violations aggregating $5,000 or 
more where a suspect can be identified. 
Whenever the State savings association 
detects any known or suspected Fed-
eral criminal violation, or pattern of 
criminal violations, committed or at-
tempted against the State savings as-
sociation involving a transaction or 
transactions conducted through the 
State savings association and involving 
or aggregating $5,000 or more in funds 
or other assets, where the State sav-
ings association believes that it was ei-
ther an actual or potential victim of a 
criminal violation or series of criminal 
violations, or that it was used to facili-
tate a criminal transaction, and it has 
a substantial basis for identifying a 
possible suspect or group of suspects. If 
it is determined prior to filing this re-
port that the identified suspect or 
group of suspects has used an alias, 
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then information regarding the true 
identity of the suspect or group of sus-
pects, as well as alias identifiers, such 
as drivers’ license or social security 
numbers, addresses and telephone num-
bers, must be reported. 

(iii) Violations aggregating $25,000 or 
more regardless of potential suspects. 
Whenever the State savings association 
detects any known or suspected Fed-
eral criminal violation, or pattern of 
criminal violations, committed or at-
tempted against the State savings as-
sociation involving a transaction or 
transactions conducted through the 
State savings association and involving 
or aggregating $25,000 or more in funds 
or other assets, where the State sav-
ings association believes that it was ei-
ther an actual or potential victim of a 
criminal violation or series of criminal 
violations, or that it was used to facili-
tate a criminal transaction, even 
though there is no substantial basis for 
identifying a possible suspect or group 
of suspects. 

(iv) Transactions aggregating $5,000 or 
more that involve potential money laun-
dering or violations of the Bank Secrecy 
Act. Any transaction (which for pur-
poses of this paragraph (d)(3)(iv) means 
a deposit, withdrawal, transfer between 
accounts, exchange of currency, loan, 
extension of credit, purchase or sale of 
any stock, bond, certificate of deposit, 
or other monetary instrument or in-
vestment security, or any other pay-
ment, transfer, or delivery by, through, 
or to a financial institution, by what-
ever means effected) conducted or at-
tempted by, at or through the State 
savings association involving or aggre-
gating $5,000 or more in funds or other 
assets, if the State savings association 
knows, suspects, or has reason to sus-
pect that: 

(A) The transaction involves funds 
derived from illegal activities or is in-
tended or conducted in order to hide or 
disguise funds or assets derived from il-
legal activities (including, without 
limitation, the ownership, nature, 
source, location, or control of such 
funds or assets) as part of a plan to vio-
late or evade any law or regulation or 
to avoid any transaction reporting re-
quirement under Federal law; 

(B) The transaction is designed to 
evade any regulations promulgated 
under the Bank Secrecy Act; or 

(C) The transaction has no business 
or apparent lawful purpose or is not 
the sort in which the particular cus-
tomer would normally be expected to 
engage, and the institution knows of 
no reasonable explanation for the 
transaction after examining the avail-
able facts, including the background 
and possible purpose of the trans-
action. 

(4) [Reserved] 
(5) Time for reporting. A State savings 

association is required to file a SAR no 
later than 30 calendar days after the 
date of initial detection of facts that 
may constitute a basis for filing a 
SAR. If no suspect was identified on 
the date of detection of the incident re-
quiring the filing, a State savings asso-
ciation may delay filing a SAR for an 
additional 30 calendar days to identify 
a suspect. In no case shall reporting be 
delayed more than 60 calendar days 
after the date of initial detection of a 
reportable transaction. In situations 
involving violations requiring imme-
diate attention, such as when a report-
able violation is ongoing, the State 
savings association shall immediately 
notify, by telephone, an appropriate 
law enforcement authority and the 
FDIC in addition to filing a timely 
SAR. 

(6) Reports to state and local authori-
ties. A State savings association is en-
couraged to file a copy of the SAR with 
state and local law enforcement agen-
cies where appropriate. 

(7) Exception. A State savings associa-
tion need not file a SAR for a robbery 
or burglary committed or attempted 
that is reported to appropriate law en-
forcement authorities. 

(8) Retention of records. A State sav-
ings association shall maintain a copy 
of any SAR filed and the original or 
business record equivalent of any sup-
porting documentation for a period of 
five years from the date of the filing of 
the SAR. Supporting documentation 
shall be identified and maintained by 
the State savings association as such, 
and shall be deemed to have been filed 
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with the SAR. A State savings associa-
tion shall make all supporting docu-
mentation available to appropriate law 
enforcement agencies upon request. 

(9) Notification to board of directors—(i) 
Generally. Whenever a State savings as-
sociation files a SAR pursuant to this 
paragraph (d), the management of the 
State savings association shall prompt-
ly notify its board of directors, or a 
committee of directors or executive of-
ficers designated by the board of direc-
tors to receive notice. 

(ii) Suspect is a director or executive of-
ficer. If the State savings association 
files a SAR pursuant to this paragraph 
(d) and the suspect is a director or ex-
ecutive officer, the State savings asso-
ciation may not notify the suspect, 
pursuant to 31 U.S.C. 5318(g)(2), but 
shall notify all directors who are not 
suspects. 

(10) Compliance. Failure to file a SAR 
in accordance with this section and the 
instructions may subject the State sav-
ings association, its directors, officers, 
employees, agents, or other institu-
tion-affiliated parties to supervisory 
action. 

(11) Obtaining SARs. A State savings 
association may obtain SARs and the 
instructions from the appropriate FDIC 
region as defined in § 303.2 of this chap-
ter. 

(12) Confidentiality of SARs. SARs are 
confidential. Any institution or person 
subpoenaed or otherwise requested to 
disclose a SAR or the information con-
tained in a SAR shall decline to 
produce the SAR or to provide any in-
formation that would disclose that a 
SAR has been prepared or filed, citing 
this paragraph (d), applicable law (e.g., 
31 U.S.C. 5318(g)), or both, and shall no-
tify the FDIC. 

(13) Safe harbor. The safe harbor pro-
vision of 31 U.S.C. 5318(g), which ex-
empts any financial institution that 
makes a disclosure of any possible vio-
lation of law or regulation from liabil-
ity under any law or regulation of the 
United States, or any constitution, law 
or regulation of any state or political 
subdivision, covers all reports of sus-
pected or known criminal violations 
and suspicious activities to law en-
forcement and financial institution su-
pervisory authorities, including sup-
porting documentation, regardless of 

whether such reports are filed pursuant 
to this paragraph (d), or are filed on a 
voluntary basis. 

(e) Adjustable-rate mortgage indices— 
(1) Reporting obligation. Upon the re-
quest of a Federal Home Loan Bank, 
all State savings associations within 
the jurisdiction of that Federal Home 
Loan Bank shall report the data items 
set forth in paragraph (e)(2) of this sec-
tion for the Federal Home Loan Bank 
to use in calculating and publishing an 
adjustable-rate mortgage index. 

(2) Data to be reported. For purposes of 
paragraph (e)(1) of this section, the 
term ‘‘data items’’ means the data 
items previously collected from the 
monthly Thrift Financial Report or 
Consolidated Reports of Condition or 
Income (‘‘Call Report’’), as applicable, 
and such data items as may be altered, 
amended, or substituted by the re-
questing Federal Home Loan Bank. 

(3) Applicable indices. For the purpose 
of this reporting requirement, the term 
‘‘adjustable-rate mortgage index’’ 
means any of the adjustable-rate mort-
gage indices calculated and published 
by a Federal Home Loan Bank or the 
Federal Home Loan Bank Board on or 
before August 9, 1989. 

§ 390.356 Bonds for directors, officers, 
employees, and agents; form of and 
amount of bonds. 

(a) Each State savings association 
shall maintain fidelity bond coverage. 
The bond shall cover each director, of-
ficer, employee, and agent who has 
control over or access to cash, securi-
ties, or other property of the State sav-
ings association. 

(b) The amount of coverage to be re-
quired for each State savings associa-
tion shall be determined by the asso-
ciation’s management, based on its as-
sessment of the level that would be 
safe and sound in view of the associa-
tion’s potential exposure to risk; pro-
vided, such determination shall be sub-
ject to approval by the association’s 
board of directors. 

(c) Each State savings association 
may maintain bond coverage in addi-
tion to that provided by the insurance 
underwriter industry’s standard forms, 
through the use of endorsements, rid-
ers, or other forms of supplemental 
coverage, if, in the judgment of the 
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State savings association’s board of di-
rectors, additional coverage is war-
ranted. 

(d) The board of directors of each 
State savings association shall for-
mally approve the State savings asso-
ciation’s bond coverage. In deciding 
whether to approve the bond coverage, 
the board shall review the adequacy of 
the standard coverage and the need for 
supplemental coverage. Documentation 
of the board’s approval shall be in-
cluded as a part of the minutes of the 
meeting at which the board approves 
coverage. Additionally, the board of di-
rectors shall review the State savings 
association’s bond coverage at least an-
nually to assess the continuing ade-
quacy of coverage. 

§ 390.357 Bonds for agents. 

In lieu of the bond provided in 
§ 390.356 in the case of agents appointed 
by a State savings association, a fidel-
ity bond may be provided in an amount 
at least twice the average monthly col-
lections of such agents, provided such 
agents shall be required to make set-
tlement with the State savings associa-
tion at least monthly, and provided 
such bond is approved by the board of 
directors of the State savings associa-
tion. No bond need be obtained for any 
agent that is a financial institution in-
sured by the FDIC. 

§ 390.358 Conflicts of interest. 

If you are a director, officer, or em-
ployee of a State savings association, 
or have the power to direct its manage-
ment or policies, or otherwise owe a fi-
duciary duty to a State savings asso-
ciation: 

(a) You must not advance your own 
personal or business interests, or those 
of others with whom you have a per-
sonal or business relationship, at the 
expense of the State savings associa-
tion; and 

(b) You must, if you have an interest 
in a matter or transaction before the 
board of directors: 

(1) Disclose to the board all material 
nonprivileged information relevant to 
the board’s decision on the matter or 
transaction, including: 

(i) The existence, nature and extent 
of your interests; and 

(ii) The facts known to you as to the 
matter or transaction under consider-
ation; 

(2) Refrain from participating in the 
board’s discussion of the matter or 
transaction; and 

(3) Recuse yourself from voting on 
the matter or transaction (if you are a 
director). 

§ 390.359 Corporate opportunity. 

(a) If you are a director or officer of 
a State savings association, or have 
the power to direct its management or 
policies, or otherwise owe a fiduciary 
duty to a State savings association, 
you must not take advantage of cor-
porate opportunities belonging to the 
State savings association. 

(b) A corporate opportunity belongs 
to a State savings association if: 

(1) The opportunity is within the cor-
porate powers of the State savings as-
sociation or a subsidiary of the State 
savings association; and 

(2) The opportunity is of present or 
potential practical advantage to the 
State savings association, either di-
rectly or through its subsidiary. 

(c) The FDIC will not deem you to 
have taken advantage of a corporate 
opportunity belonging to the State 
savings association if a disinterested 
and independent majority of the State 
savings association’s board of direc-
tors, after receiving a full and fair 
presentation of the matter, rejected 
the opportunity as a matter of sound 
business judgment. 

§ 390.360 Change of director or senior 
executive officer. 

Sections 390.360 through 390.368 im-
plement 12 U.S.C. 1831i, which requires 
certain State savings associations to 
notify the FDIC before appointing or 
employing directors and senior execu-
tive officers. 

§ 390.361 Applicable definitions. 

The following definitions apply to 
§§ 390.360 through 390.368: 

Director means an individual who 
serves on the board of directors of a 
State savings association. This term 
does not include an advisory director 
who: 

(1) Is not elected by the shareholders; 
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(2) Is not authorized to vote on any 
matters before the board of directors or 
any committee of the board of direc-
tors; 

(3) Provides only general policy ad-
vice to the board of directors or any 
committee of the board of directors; 
and 

(4) Has not been identified by the 
FDIC in writing as an individual who 
performs the functions of a director, or 
who exercises significant influence 
over, or participates in, major policy-
making decisions of the board of direc-
tors. 

Senior executive officer means an indi-
vidual who holds the title or performs 
the function of one or more of the fol-
lowing positions (without regard to 
title, salary, or compensation): presi-
dent, chief executive officer, chief oper-
ating officer, chief financial officer, 
chief lending officer, or chief invest-
ment officer. Senior executive officer 
also includes any other person identi-
fied by the FDIC in writing as an indi-
vidual who exercises significant influ-
ence over, or participates in, major 
policymaking decisions, whether or not 
hired as an employee. 

Troubled condition means: 
(1) A State savings association that 

has a composite rating of 4 or 5, as 
composite rating is defined in 
§ 390.101(c). 

(2) [Reserved] 
(3) A State savings association that 

is subject to a capital directive, a 
cease-and-desist order, a consent order, 
a formal written agreement, or a 
prompt corrective action directive re-
lating to the safety and soundness or 
financial viability of the State savings 
association, unless otherwise informed 
in writing by the FDIC; or 

(4) A State savings association that 
is informed in writing by the FDIC 
that it is in troubled condition based 
on information available to the FDIC. 

§ 390.362 Who must give prior notice? 
(a) State savings association. Except as 

provided under § 390.368, you must no-
tify the FDIC at least 30 days before 
adding or replacing any member of 
your board of directors, employing any 
person as a senior executive officer, or 
changing the responsibilities of any 
senior executive officer so that the per-

son would assume a different senior ex-
ecutive position if: 

(1) You are a State savings associa-
tion and at least one of the following 
circumstances apply: 

(i) You do not comply with all min-
imum capital requirements under part 
324 of this chapter; 

(ii) You are in troubled condition; or 
(iii) The FDIC has notified you, in 

connection with its review of a capital 
restoration plan required under section 
38 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act 
or subpart H of part 324 of this chapter 
or otherwise, that a notice is required 
under §§ 390.360 through 390.368; or 

(2) [Reserved] 
(b) Notice by individual. If you are an 

individual seeking election to the 
board of directors of a State savings as-
sociation described in paragraph (a) of 
this section, and have not been nomi-
nated by management, you must either 
provide the prior notice required under 
paragraph (a) of this section or follow 
the process under § 390.368(b). 

[76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, as amended at 83 
FR 17743, Apr. 24, 2018] 

§ 390.363 What procedures govern the 
filing of my notice? 

The procedures found in §§ 390.103 
through 390.110 govern the filing of 
your notice under § 390.362. 

§ 390.364 What information must I in-
clude in my notice? 

(a) Content requirements. Your notice 
must include: 

(1) The information required under 12 
U.S.C. 1817(j)(6)(A), and the informa-
tion prescribed in the Interagency No-
tice of Change in Director or Senior 
Executive Officer and the Interagency 
Biographical and Financial Report 
which are available from the appro-
priate FDIC regions as defined in § 303.2 
of this chapter; 

(2) Legible fingerprints of the pro-
posed director or senior executive offi-
cer. You are not required to file finger-
prints if, within three years prior to 
the date of submission of the notice, 
the proposed director or senior execu-
tive officer provided legible finger-
prints as part of a notice filed with the 
FDIC under 12 U.S.C. 1831i; and 

(3) Such other information required 
by the FDIC. 
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(b) Modification of content require-
ments. The FDIC may require or accept 
other information in place of the con-
tent requirements in paragraph (a) of 
this section. 

§ 390.365 What procedures govern the 
FDIC’s review of my notice for com-
pleteness? 

The FDIC will first review your no-
tice to determine whether it is com-
plete. 

(a) If your notice is complete, the 
FDIC will notify you in writing of the 
date that the FDIC received the com-
plete notice. 

(b) If your notice is not complete, the 
FDIC will notify you in writing what 
additional information you need to 
submit, why we need the information, 
and when you must submit it. You 
must, within the specified time period, 
provide additional information or re-
quest that the FDIC suspend processing 
of the notice. If you fail to act within 
the specified time period, the FDIC 
may treat the notice as withdrawn or 
may review the application based on 
the information provided. 

§ 390.366 What standards and proce-
dures will govern the FDIC review 
of the substance of my notice? 

The FDIC will disapprove a notice if, 
pursuant to the standard set forth in 12 
U.S.C. 1831i(e), the FDIC finds that the 
competence, experience, character, or 
integrity of the proposed FDIC or sen-
ior executive officer indicates that it 
would not be in the best interests of 
the depositors of the State savings as-
sociation or of the public to permit the 
individual to be employed by, or asso-
ciated with, the State savings associa-
tion. If the FDIC disapproves a notice, 
it will issue a written notice that ex-
plains why the FDIC disapproved the 
notice. The FDIC will send the notice 
to the State savings association and 
the individual. 

§ 390.367 When may a proposed direc-
tor or senior executive officer begin 
service? 

(a) A proposed director or senior ex-
ecutive officer may begin service 30 
days after the date the FDIC receives 
all required information, unless: 

(1) The FDIC notifies you that it has 
disapproved the notice; or 

(2) The FDIC extends the 30-day pe-
riod for an additional period not to ex-
ceed 60 days. If the FDIC extends the 
30-day period, it will notify you in 
writing that the period has been ex-
tended, and will state the reason for 
the extension. The proposed director or 
senior executive officer may begin 
service upon expiration of the extended 
period, unless the FDIC notifies you 
that it has disapproved the notice dur-
ing the extended period. 

(b) Notwithstanding paragraph (a) of 
this section, a proposed or senior exec-
utive officer may begin service after 
the FDIC notifies you, in writing, of its 
intention not to disapprove the notice. 

§ 390.368 When will the FDIC waive 
the prior notice requirement? 

(a) Waiver request. (1) An individual 
may serve as a director or senior exec-
utive officer before filing a notice as 
described in §§ 390.360 through 390.368 if 
the FDIC issues a written finding that: 

(i) Delay would threaten the safety 
or soundness of the State savings asso-
ciation; 

(ii) Delay would not be in the public 
interest; or 

(iii) Other extraordinary cir-
cumstances exist that justify waiver of 
prior notice. 

(2) If the FDIC grants a waiver, you 
must file a notice as described in 
§§ 390.360–390.368 within the time period 
specified by the FDIC. 

(b) Automatic waiver. An individual 
may serve as a director before filing a 
notice as described in §§ 390.360 through 
390.368, if the individual was not nomi-
nated by management and the indi-
vidual submits a notice as described in 
§§ 390.360 through 390.368 within seven 
days after election as a director. 

(c) Subsequent FDIC action. The FDIC 
may disapprove a notice within 30 days 
after the FDIC issues a waiver under 
paragraph (a) of this section or within 
30 days after the election of an indi-
vidual who has filed a notice and is 
serving pursuant to an automatic waiv-
er under paragraph (b) of this section. 
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Subpart T—Accounting 
Requirements 

§ 390.380 Form and content of finan-
cial statements. 

(a) This section states the require-
ments as to form and content of finan-
cial statements included by a State 
savings association in the following 
documents. However, the FDIC’s regu-
lations governing the applicable docu-
ments specify the actual financial 
statements that are to be included in 
that document. 

(1) Any proxy statement or offering 
circular required to be used in connec-
tion with a conversion under 12 CFR 
part 192. 

(2) Any offering circular or nonpublic 
offering materials required to be used 
in connection with an offer or sale of 
securities under subpart W. 

(b) Except as otherwise provided by 
the FDIC by rule, regulation, or order 
made specifically applicable to finan-
cial statements governed by this sec-
tion, financial statements shall: 

(1) Be prepared and presented in ac-
cordance with generally accepted ac-
counting principles; 

(2) Comply with § 390.384; 
(3) Consistent with the provisions of 

this subpart, comply with articles 1, 2, 
3, 4, 10, and 11 of Regulation S–X adopt-
ed by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (17 CFR 210.l through 210.4, 
210.10, and 210.11). 

(4) Be audited, when required, by an 
independent auditor in accordance with 
the standards imposed by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Account-
ants. 

(c) The term ‘‘financial statements’’ 
includes all notes to the statements 
and related schedules. 

[76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, as amended at 79 
FR 63502, Oct. 24, 2014] 

§ 390.381 Definitions. 
(See also 17 CFR 210.1–02.) 
(a) Registrant. The term ‘‘registrant’’ 

means an applicant, a State savings as-
sociation, or any other person required 
to prepare financial statements in ac-
cordance with this subpart. 

(b) Significant subsidiary. The term 
‘‘significant subsidiary’’ means a sub-
sidiary, including its subsidiaries, 

which meets any of the following con-
ditions: 

(1) The State savings association’s 
and its other subsidiaries’ investments 
in and advances to the subsidiary ex-
ceed 10 percent of the total assets of 
the association and its subsidiaries 
consolidated as of the end of the most 
recently completed fiscal year (for pur-
poses of determining whether financial 
statements of a business acquired or to 
be acquired in a business combination 
accounted for as a pooling of interests 
are required pursuant to 17 CFR 210.3– 
05, this condition is also met when the 
number of common shares exchanged 
by the State savings association ex-
ceeds 10 percent of its total common 
shares outstanding at the date the 
combination is initiated); or 

(2) The State savings association’s 
and its other subsidiaries’ propor-
tionate share of the total assets (after 
intercompany eliminations) of the sub-
sidiary exceeds 10 percent of the total 
assets of the State savings association 
and its subsidiaries consolidated as of 
the end of the most recently completed 
fiscal year; or 

(3) The State savings association’s 
and its other subsidiaries’ equity in the 
income from continuing operations be-
fore income taxes, extraordinary items, 
and cumulative effect of a change in 
accounting principle of the subsidiary 
exceeds 10 percent of such income of 
the State savings association and its 
subsidiaries consolidated for the most 
recently completed fiscal year. 

(4) Computational note: For purposes 
of making the prescribed income test 
the following guidance should be ap-
plied: 

(i) When a loss has been incurred by 
either the parent or its consolidated 
subsidiaries or the tested subsidiary, 
but not both, the equity in the income 
or loss of the tested subsidiary should 
be excluded from the income of the 
State savings association and its sub-
sidiaries consolidated for purposes of 
the computation. 

(ii) If income of the State savings as-
sociation and its subsidiaries consoli-
dated for the most recent fiscal year is 
at least 10 percent lower than the aver-
age of the income for the last five fis-
cal years, such average income should 
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be substituted for purposes of the com-
putation. Any loss years should be 
omitted for purposes of computing av-
erage income. 

§ 390.382 Qualification of public ac-
countant. (See also 17 CFR 210.2– 
01.) 

The term ‘‘qualified public account-
ant’’ means a certified public account-
ant or licensed public accountant cer-
tified or licensed by a regulatory au-
thority of a State or other political 
subdivision of the United States who is 
in good standing as such under the laws 
of the jurisdiction where the home of-
fice of the registrant to be audited is 
located. Any person or firm who is sus-
pended from practice before the Securi-
ties and Exchange Commission or other 
governmental agency is not a ‘‘quali-
fied public accountant’’ for purposes of 
this section. 

§ 390.383 Condensed financial informa-
tion [Parent only]. 

(a) The information prescribed by 
Schedule III required by section IV of 
the appendix to § 390.384 shall be pre-
sented in a note to the financial state-
ments when the restricted net assets 
(17 CFR 210.4–08(e)(3)) of consolidated 
subsidiaries exceed 25 percent of con-
solidated net assets as of the end of the 
most recently completed fiscal year. 
The investment in and indebtedness of 
and to State savings association sub-
sidiaries shall be stated separately in 
the condensed balance sheet from 
amounts for other subsidiaries; and the 
amount of cash dividends paid to the 
parent State savings association for 
each of the last three years by the 
State savings association subsidiaries 
shall be stated separately in the con-
densed income statement from 
amounts for other subsidiaries. 

(b) For purposes of the above test, re-
stricted net assets of consolidated sub-
sidiaries shall mean that amount of the 
State savings association’s propor-
tionate share of net assets of consoli-
dated subsidiaries (after intercompany 
eliminations) which as of the end of the 
most recent year may not be trans-
ferred to the parent company by sub-
sidiaries in the form of loans, advances, 
or cash dividends without the consent 

of a third party (i.e., lender, regulatory 
agency, foreign government, etc.). 

(c) Where restrictions on the amount 
of funds which may be loaned or ad-
vanced differ from the amount re-
stricted as to transfer in the form of 
cash dividends, the amount least re-
strictive to the subsidiary shall be 
used. Redeemable preferred stocks (See 
item I (22) in the appendix to § 390.384) 
and minority interest (See item I (21) 
in the appendix to § 390.384) shall be de-
ducted in computing net assets for pur-
poses of this test. 

§ 390.384 Financial statements for con-
versions, SEC filings, and offering 
circulars. 

This section and its appendix pertain 
to the form and content of financial 
statements included as part of: 

(a) A conversion application under 12 
CFR part 192 including financial state-
ments in proxy statements and offering 
circulars, 

(b) A filing under the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. 78a et seq., 
and 

(c) Any offering circular required to 
be used in connection with the issuance 
of mutual capital certificates under 12 
CFR 163.74 and debt securities under 
§ 390.341. 

APPENDIX TO § 390.384—FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
PRESENTATION. 

This appendix specifies the various line 
items which should appear on the face of the 
financial statements governed by § 390.384 
and additional disclosures which should be 
included with the financial statements in re-
lated notes. 

I. BALANCE SHEET 

Balance sheets shall comply with the fol-
lowing provisions: 

Assets 

1. Cash and amounts due from depository in-
stitutions. (a) The amounts in this caption 
should include noninterest-bearing deposits 
with depository institutions. 

(b) State in a note the amount and terms 
of any deposits in depository institutions 
held as compensating balances against long- 
or short-term borrowing arrangements. This 
disclosure should include the provisions of 
any restrictions as to withdrawal or usage. 
Restrictions may include legally restricted 
deposits held as compensating balances 
against short-term borrowing arrangements, 
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contracts entered into with others, or com-
pany statements of intention with regard to 
particular deposits; however, time deposits 
and short-term certificates of deposits are 
not generally included in legally restricted 
deposits. In cases where compensating bal-
ance arrangements exist but are not agree-
ments which legally restrict the use of cash 
amounts shown on the balance sheet, de-
scribe in the notes to the financial state-
ments these arrangements and the amount 
involved, if determinable, for the most re-
cent audited balance sheet required and for 
any subsequent unaudited balance sheet re-
quired. Compensating balances that are 
maintained under an agreement to ensure fu-
ture credit availability shall be disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements along 
with the amount and terms of the agree-
ment. 

(c) Checks outstanding in excess of an ap-
plicant’s book balance in a demand deposit 
account shall be shown as a liability. 

2. Interest-bearing deposits in other banks. 
3. Federal funds sold and securities purchased 

under resale agreements or similar arrange-
ments. These amounts should be presented, 
i.e., gross and not netted against Federal 
funds purchased and securities sold under 
agreement to repurchase, as reported in cap-
tion 15. 

4. Trading account assets. Include securities 
considered to be held for trading purposes. 

5. Other short-term investments. 
6. Investment securities. (a) Include securi-

ties considered to be held for investment 
purposes. Disclose the aggregate book value 
of investment securities as the line item on 
the balance sheet; and also show on the face 
of the balance sheet the aggregate market 
value at the balance sheet date. The aggre-
gate amounts should include securities 
pledged, loaned, or sold under repurchase 
agreements and similar arrangements. Bor-
rowed securities and securities purchased 
under resale agreements or similar arrange-
ments should be excluded. 

(b) Disclose in a note the carrying value 
and market value of securities of (i) the U.S. 
Treasury and other U.S. Government agen-
cies and corporations; (ii) states of the U.S. 
and political subdivisions thereof; and (iii) 
other securities. 

7. Assets held for sale. Investments in assets 
considered to be held for sale purposes 
should be reported separately in the state-
ment of financial condition. 

8. Loans. (a) Disclose separately: (i) Total 
loans (including financing type leases), (ii) 
allowance for loan losses, (iii) unearned in-
come on installment loans, (iv) discount on 
loans purchased, and (v) loans in process. 

(b) State on the balance sheet or in a note 
the amount of loans in each of the following 
categories: (i) Real estate mortgage; (ii) real 
estate construction; (iii) installment; and 
(iv) commercial, financial, and agricultural. 

(c)(i) Include under the real estate mort-
gage category loans payable in monthly, 
quarterly, or other periodic installments and 
secured by developed income property and/or 
personal residences. 

(ii) Include under the real estate construc-
tion category loans secured by real estate 
which are made for the purpose of financing 
construction of real estate and land develop-
ment projects. 

(iii) Include under the installment cat-
egory loans to individuals generally repay-
able in monthly installments. This category 
shall include, but not be limited to, credit 
card and related activities, individual auto-
mobile loans, other installment loans, mo-
bile home loans, and residential repair and 
modernization loans. 

(iv) Include under the commercial, finan-
cial, and agricultural category all loans not 
included in another category. This category 
shall include, but not be limited to, loans to 
real estate investment trusts, mortgage 
companies, banks, and other financial insti-
tutions; loans for carrying securities; and 
loans for agricultural purposes. Do not in-
clude loans secured primarily by developed 
real estate. 

(d) State separately any other loan cat-
egory regardless of relative size if necessary 
to reflect any unusual risk concentration. 

(e) Unearned income on installment loans 
shall be shown and deducted separately from 
total loans. 

(f) Unamortized discounts on purchased 
loans shall be deducted separately from total 
loans. 

(g) Loans in process shall be deducted sepa-
rately from total loans. 

(h) A series of categories other than those 
specified in item (b) of paragraph 8. may be 
used to present details of loans if considered 
a more appropriate presentation. The cat-
egories specified in item (b) of paragraph 8. 
should be considered the minimum cat-
egories that may be presented. 

(i) For each period for which an income 
statement is presented, disclose in a note the 
total dollar amount of loans being serviced 
by the State savings association for the ben-
efit of others. 

(j)(i)(A) As of each balance sheet date, dis-
close in a note the aggregate dollar amount 
of loans (exclusive of loans to any such per-
sons which in the aggregate do not exceed 
$60,000 during the last year) made by the 
State savings association or any of its sub-
sidiaries to directors, executive officers, or 
principal holders of equity securities (17 CFR 
210.1–02) of the State savings association or 
any of its significant subsidiaries (17 CFR 
210.1–02) or to any associate of such persons. 
For the latest fiscal year, an analysis of ac-
tivity with respect to such aggregate loans 
to related parties should be provided. The 
analysis should include at the beginning of 
the period new loans, repayments, and other 
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changes. (Other changes, if significant, 
should be explained.) 

(B) This disclosure need not be furnished 
when the aggregate amount of such loans at 
the balance sheet date (or with respect to 
the latest fiscal year, the maximum amount 
outstanding during the period) does not ex-
ceed 5 percent of stockholders’ equity at the 
balance sheet date. 

(ii) If a significant portion of the aggregate 
amount of loans outstanding at the end of 
the fiscal year disclosed pursuant to item 
(i)(A) of this paragraph (j) relates to non-
accrual, past due, restructured, and poten-
tial problem loans (see Securities and Ex-
change Commission’s Securities Act Indus-
try Guide 3, section III.C.), so state and dis-
close the aggregate amount of such loans 
along with such other information necessary 
to an understanding of the effects of the 
transactions on the financial statements. 

(iii) Notwithstanding the aggregate disclo-
sure called for by paragraph (j)(i) of this bal-
ance sheet caption 8, if any loans were not 
made in the ordinary course of business dur-
ing any period for which an income state-
ment is required to be filed, provide an ap-
propriate description of each such loan (see 
17 CFR 210.9–03.7(e)(3)). 

(iv) For purposes only of Balance Sheet 
item 8(j), the following definitions shall 
apply: 

(A) Associate used to indicate a relationship 
with any person means (1) any corporation, 
venture, or organization of which such per-
son is a general partner or is, directly or in-
directly, the beneficial owner of 10 percent or 
more of any class of equity securities; (2) any 
trust or other estate in which such person 
has a substantial beneficial interest or for 
which such person serves as trustee or in a 
similar capacity; and (3) any member of the 
immediate family of any of the foregoing 
persons. 

(B) Executive officer means the president, 
any vice president in charge of a principal 
business unit, division, or function (such as 
loans, investments, operations, administra-
tion, or finance), and any other officer or 
person who performs similar policy-making 
functions. 

(C) Immediate family with regard to a per-
son means such person’s spouse, parents, 
children, siblings, mother- and father-in-law, 
sons- and daughters-in-law, and brothers- 
and sisters-in-law. 

(D) Ordinary course of business with regard 
to loans means those loans which were made 
on substantially the same terms, including 
interest rate and collateral, as those pre-
vailing at the same time for comparable 
transactions with unrelated persons and did 
not involve more than the normal risk of 
collectibility or present other unfavorable 
features. 

(k) For each period for which an income 
statement is presented, furnish in a note a 

statement of changes in the allowance for 
loan losses, showing balances at beginning 
and end of the period, provision charged to 
income, recoveries of amounts previously 
charged off, and losses charged to the allow-
ance. 

9. Premises and equipment. 
10. Real estate owned. State, parentheti-

cally or otherwise: 
(a) The amount of real estate owned by 

class as described in item (b) of paragraph 10. 
and the basis for determining that amount; 
and 

(b) A description of each class of real es-
tate owned (i) acquired by foreclosure or by 
deed in lieu of foreclosure, (ii) in judgment 
and subject to redemption, or (iii) acquired 
for development or resale. Show separately 
any accumulated depreciation or valuation 
allowances. Disclose the policies regarding, 
and amounts of, capitalized costs, including 
interest. 

11. Investment in joint ventures. In a note, 
present summarized aggregate financial 
statements for investments in real estate or 
other joint ventures which individually (a) 
are 20 percent or more owned by the State 
savings association or any of its subsidiaries, 
or (b) have liabilities (including contingent 
liabilities) to the parent exceeding 10 percent 
of the parent’s regulatory capital. If an al-
lowance for real estate losses subsequent to 
acquisition is maintained, the amount shall 
be disclosed, deducted from the other real es-
tate owned, and a statement of changes in 
the allowance showing balances at beginning 
and end of period should be included. Provi-
sion charged to income and losses charged to 
the allowance account shall be furnished for 
each period for which an income statement 
is filed. 

12. Other assets. (a) Disclose separately on 
the balance sheet or in a note thereto any of 
the following assets or any other asset the 
amount of which exceeds 30 percent of stock-
holders’ equity. The remaining assets may be 
shown as one amount. 

(i) Accrued interest receivable. State sepa-
rately those amounts relating to loans and 
those amounts relating to investments. 

(ii) Excess of cost over assets acquired (net 
of amortization). 

(b) State in a note (i) amounts rep-
resenting investments in affiliates and in-
vestments in other persons which are ac-
counted for by the equity method, and (ii) in-
debtedness of affiliates and other persons, 
the investments in which are accounted for 
by the equity method. State the basis of de-
termining the amounts reported under para-
graph (b)(i). 

13. Total assets. 

Liabilities, and Stockholders’ Equity 

14. Deposits. (a) Disclose separately on the 
balance sheet or in a note the amounts in 
the following categories of interest-bearing 
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and noninterest-bearing deposits: (i) NOW 
account and MMDA deposits, (ii) savings de-
posits, and (iii) time deposits. 

(b) Include under the savings-deposits cat-
egory interest-bearing deposits without spec-
ified maturity or contractual provisions re-
quiring advance notice of intention to with-
draw funds. Include deposits for which a 
State savings association may require at its 
option written notice of intended withdrawal 
not less than 14 days in advance. 

(c) Include under the time-deposits cat-
egory deposits subject to provisions speci-
fying maturity or other withdrawal condi-
tions such as time certificates of deposits, 
open account time deposits, and deposits ac-
cumulated for the payment of personal 
loans. 

(d) Include accrued interest or dividends, if 
appropriate. 

15. Short-term borrowings. (a) State sepa-
rately, here or in a note, the amounts pay-
able for (i) Federal funds purchased and secu-
rities sold under agreements to repurchase, 
(ii) commercial paper, and (iii) other short- 
term borrowings. 

(b) Federal funds purchased and sales of se-
curities under repurchase agreements shall 
be reported gross and not netted against 
sales of Federal funds and purchase of securi-
ties under resale agreements. 

(c) Include as securities sold under agree-
ments to repurchase all transactions of this 
type regardless of (i) whether they are called 
simultaneous purchases and sales, buy- 
backs, turnarounds, overnight transactions, 
delayed deliveries, or other terms signifying 
the same substantive transaction, and (ii) 
whether the transactions are with the same 
or different institutions, if the purpose of the 
transactions is to repurchase identical or 
similar securities. 

(d) The amount and terms (including com-
mitment fees and the conditions under which 
lines may be withdrawn) of unused lines of 
credit for short-term financing shall be dis-
closed, if significant, in the notes to the fi-
nancial statements. The amount of these 
lines of credit which support a commercial 
paper borrowing arrangement or similar ar-
rangements shall be separately identified. 

16. Advance payments by borrowers for taxes 
and insurance. 

17. Other liabilities. Disclose separately on 
the balance sheet or in a note any of the fol-
lowing liabilities or any other items which 
are individually in excess of 30 percent of 
stockholders’ equity (except that amounts in 
excess of 5 percent of stockholders’ equity 
should be disclosed with respect to item (d)). 
The remaining items may be shown as one 
amount. 

(a) Income taxes payable. 
(b) Deferred income taxes. 
(c) Indebtedness to affiliate and other per-

sons the investment in which is accounted 
for by the equity method. 

(d) Indebtedness to directors, executive of-
ficers, and principal holders of equity securi-
ties of the registrant or any of its significant 
subsidiaries. (The guidance in balance sheet 
caption ‘‘8(j)’’ shall be used to identify re-
lated parties for purposes of this disclosure.) 

18. Bonds, mortgages, and similar debt. (a) In-
clude bonds, Federal Home Loan Bank ad-
vances, capital notes, debentures, mortgages, 
and similar debt. 

(b) For each issue or type of obligation 
state in a note: 

(i) The general character of each type of 
debt, including: (A) The rate of interest, (B) 
the date of maturity, or, if maturing seri-
ally, a brief indication of the serial matu-
rities, such as ‘‘maturing serially from 1980 
to 1990,’’ (C) if the payment of principal or 
interest is contingent, an appropriate indica-
tion of such contingency, (D) a brief indica-
tion of priority, and (E) if convertible, the 
basis. For amounts owed to related parties 
see 17 CFR 210.4–08(k). 

(ii) The amount and terms (including com-
mitment fees and the conditions under which 
commitments may be withdrawn) of unused 
commitments for long-term financing ar-
rangements that, if used, would be disclosed 
under this caption shall be disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements, if signifi-
cant. 

(c) State in the notes with appropriate ex-
planations (i) the title and amount of each 
issue of debt of a subsidiary included in item 
(a) of paragraph 18 which has not been as-
sumed or guaranteed by the State savings 
association, and (ii) any liens on premises of 
a subsidiary or its consolidated subsidiaries 
which have not been assumed by the sub-
sidiary or its consolidated subsidiaries. 

19. Deferred credits. State separately those 
items which exceed 30 percent of stock-
holders’ equity. 

20. Commitments and contingent liabilities. 
Total commitments to fund loans should be 
disclosed. The dollar amounts and terms of 
other than floating market-rate commit-
ments should also be disclosed. 

21. Minority interest in consolidated subsidi-
aries. 

22. Preferred stock subject to mandatory re-
demption requirements or the redemption of 
which is outside the control of the issuer. (a) In-
clude under this caption amounts applicable 
to any class of stock which has any of the 
following characteristics: (i) It is redeemable 
at a fixed or determinable price on a fixed or 
determinable date or dates, whether by oper-
ation of a sinking fund or otherwise; (ii) it is 
redeemable at the option of the holder; or 
(iii) it has conditions for redemption which 
are not solely within the control of the 
issuer, such as stock which must be re-
deemed out of future earnings. Amounts at-
tributable to preferred stock which is not re-
deemable or is redeemable solely at the op-
tion of the issuer shall be included under 
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caption 23 unless it meets one or more of the 
above criteria. 

(b) State on the face of the balance sheet 
the title, carrying amount, and redemption 
amount of each issue. (If there is more than 
one issue, these amounts may be aggregated 
on the face of the balance sheet and details 
concerning each issue may be presented in 
the note required by item (c) of paragraph 
22.) Show also the dollar amount of any 
shares subscribed for but unissued, and show 
the deduction of subscriptions receivable 
therefrom. If the carrying value is different 
from the redemption amount, describe the 
accounting treatment for such difference in 
the note required by item (c) of paragraph 22. 
Also state in this note or on the face of the 
balance sheet, for each issue, the number of 
shares authorized and the number of shares 
issued or outstanding, as appropriate. (See 17 
CFR 210.4–07.) 

(c) State in a separate note captioned ‘‘Re-
deemable Preferred Stock’’ (i) a general de-
scription of each issue, including its redemp-
tion features (e.g., sinking fund, at option of 
holders, out of future earnings) and the 
rights, if any, of holders in the event of de-
fault, including the effect, if any, on junior 
securities in the event a required dividend, 
sinking fund, or other redemption pay-
ment(s) is not made, (ii) the combined aggre-
gate amount of redemption requirements for 
all issues each year for the five years fol-
lowing the date of the latest balance sheet, 
and (iii) the changes in each issue for each 
period for which an income statement is re-
quired to be presented. (See also 17 CFR 
210.4–08(d).) 

(d) Securities reported under this caption 
are not to be included under a general head-
ing ‘‘stockholders’ equity’’ or combined in a 
total with items described in captions 23, 24 
or 25, which follow. 

23. Preferred stock which is not redeemable or 
is redeemed solely at the option of the issuer. 
State on the face of the balance sheet, or, if 
more than one issue is outstanding, state in 
a note, the title of each issue and the dollar 
amount thereof. Show also the dollar 
amount of any shares subscribed for but 
unissued, and show the deduction of sub-
scriptions receivable. State on the face of 
the balance sheet or in a note, for each issue, 
the number of shares authorized and the 
number of shares issued or outstanding, as 
appropriate. (See 17 CFR 210.4–07.) Show in a 
note or separate statement the changes in 
each class of preferred shares reported under 
this caption for each period for which an in-
come statement is required to be presented. 
(See also 17 CFR 210.4–08(d).) 

24. Common stock. For each class of com-
mon shares state, on the face of the balance 
sheet, the number of shares issued or out-
standing, as appropriate (see 17 CFR 210.4– 
07), and the dollar amount thereof. If con-
vertible, this fact should be indicated on the 

face of the balance sheet. For each class of 
common stock state, on the face of the bal-
ance sheet or in a note, the title of the issue, 
the number of shares authorized, and, if con-
vertible, the basis for conversion (see also 17 
CFR 210.4–08(d).) Show also the dollar 
amount of any common stock subscribed for 
but unissued, and show the deduction of sub-
scriptions receivable. Show in a note or 
statement the changes in each class of com-
mon stock for each period for which an in-
come statement is required to be presented. 

25. Other stockholders’ equity. (a) Separate 
captions shall be shown on the face of the 
balance sheet for (i) additional paid-in cap-
ital, (ii) other additional capital, and (iii) re-
tained earnings, both (A) restricted and (B) 
unrestricted. (See 17 CFR 210.4–08(e).) Addi-
tional paid-in capital and other additional 
capital may be combined with the stock cap-
tion to which it applies, if appropriate. State 
whether or not the State savings association 
is in compliance with the Federal regulatory 
capital requirements (and state require-
ments where applicable). Also include the 
dollar amount of those regulatory capital re-
quirements and the amount by which the 
State savings association exceeds or fails to 
meet those requirements. 

(b) For a period of at least 10 years subse-
quent to the effective date of a quasi-reorga-
nization, any description of retained earn-
ings shall indicate the point in time from 
which the new retained earnings dates, and 
for a period of at least three years shall indi-
cate, on the face of the balance sheet, the 
total amount of the deficit eliminated. 

(c) Changes in stockholders’ equity shall be 
disclosed in accordance with the require-
ments of 17 CFR 210.3–04. 

26. Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity. 

II. INCOME STATEMENT 

Income statements shall comply with the 
following provisions: 

1. Interest and fees on loans. (a) Include in-
terest, service charges, and fees which are re-
lated to or are an adjustment of the loan in-
terest yield. 

(b) Current amortization of premiums on 
mortgages or other loans shall be deducted 
from interest on loans, and current accretion 
of discount on such items shall be added to 
interest on loans. 

(c) Discounts and other deferred amounts 
which are related to or are an adjustment of 
the loan interest yield shall be amortized 
into income using the interest (level yield) 
method. 

2. Interest and dividends on investment secu-
rities. Include accretion of discount on secu-
rities and deduct amortization of premiums 
on securities. 

3. Trading account interest. Include interest 
from securities carried in a dealer trading 
account or accounts that are held principally 
for resale to customers. 
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4. Other interest income. Include interest on 
short-term investments (Federal funds sold 
and securities purchased under agreements 
to resell) and interest on bank deposits. 

5. Total interest income. 
6. Interest on deposits. Include interest on 

all deposits. On the income statement or in 
a note, state separately, in the same cat-
egories as those specified for deposits at bal-
ance sheet caption 14(a), the interest on 
those deposits. Early withdrawal penalties 
should be netted against interest on deposits 
and, if material, disclosed on the income 
statement. 

7. Interest on short-term borrowings. Include 
interest on borrowed funds, including Fed-
eral funds purchased, securities sold under 
agreements to repurchase, commercial 
paper, and other short-term borrowings. 

8. Interest on long-term borrowings. Include 
interest on bonds, capital notes, debentures, 
mortgages on State savings association 
premises, capitalized leases, and similar 
debt. 

9. Total interest expense. 
10. Net interest income. 
11. Provision for loan losses or provision 

for credit losses, as applicable. 
12. Net interest income after provision for loan 

losses or provision for credit losses, as applica-
ble. 

13. Other income. Disclose separately any of 
the following amounts, or any other item of 
other income, which exceeds 1 percent of the 
aggregate of total interest income and other 
income. The remaining amount may be 
shown as one amount, except for investment 
securities gains or losses which shall be 
shown separately regardless of size. 

(a) Commissions and fees from fiduciary 
activities. 

(b) Fees for other services to customers. 
(c) Commissions, fees, and markups on se-

curities underwriting and other securities 
activities. 

(d) Profit or loss on transactions in invest-
ment securities. 

(e) Equity in earnings of unconsolidated 
subsidiaries and 50-percent- or less-owned 
persons. 

(f) Gains or losses on disposition of invest-
ments in securities of subsidiaries and 50- 
percent- or less-owned persons. 

(g) Profit or loss from real estate oper-
ations. 

(h) Other fees related to loan originations 
or commitments not included in income 
statement caption 1. 

The remaining other income may be shown 
in one amount. 

(i) Investment securities gains or losses. 
The method followed in determining the cost 
of investments sold (e.g., ‘‘average cost,’’ 
‘‘first-in, first-out,’’ or ‘‘identified certifi-
cate’’) and related income taxes shall be dis-
closed. 

14. Other expenses. Disclose separately any 
of the following amounts, or any other item 
of other expense, which exceeds 1 percent of 
the aggregate of total interest income and 
other income. The remaining amounts may 
be shown as one amount. 

(a) Salaries and employee benefits. 
(b) Net occupancy expense of premises. 
(c) Net cost of operations of other real es-

tate (including provisions for real estate 
losses, rental income, and gains and losses 
on sales of real estate). 

(d) Minority interest in income of consoli-
dated subsidiaries. 

(e) Goodwill amortization. 
15. Other income and expenses. State sepa-

rately material events or transactions that 
are unusual in nature or occur infrequently, 
but not both, and therefore do not meet both 
criteria for classification as an extraor-
dinary item. Examples of items which would 
be reported separately are gain or loss from 
the sale of premises and equipment, provi-
sion for loss on real estate owned, or provi-
sion for gain or loss on the sale of loans. 

16. Income or losses before income tax expense. 
17. Income tax expense. The information re-

quired by 17 CFR 210.4–08(h) should be dis-
closed. 

18. Income or loss before extraordinary items 
effects of changes in accounting principles. 

19. Extraordinary items, less applicable tax. 
20. Cumulative effects of changes in account-

ing principles. 
21. Net income or loss. 
22. Earnings-per-share data. 
23. Conversion footnote. If the State savings 

association is an applicant for conversion 
from a mutual to a stock association or has 
converted within the last three years, de-
scribe in a note the general terms of the con-
version and restrictions on the operations of 
the State savings association imposed by the 
conversion. Also, state the amount of net 
proceeds received from the conversion and 
costs associated with the conversion. 

24. Mergers and acquisitions. For the period 
in which a business combination occurs and 
is accounted for by the purchase method of 
accounting, in addition to those disclosures 
required by Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion No. 16, the State savings association 
shall make those disclosures as noted below 
for all combinations involving significant ac-
quisitions. (A significant acquisition is de-
fined for this purpose to be one in which the 
assets of the acquired State savings associa-
tion, or group of State savings associations, 
exceed 10 percent of the assets of the consoli-
dated State savings association at the end of 
the most recent period being reported upon). 
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(a) Amounts and descriptions of discounts 
and premiums related to recording the ag-
gregate interest-bearing assets and liabil-
ities at their fair market value. The disclo-
sure should also include the methods of am-
ortization or accretion and the estimated re-
maining lives. 

(b) The net effect on net income before 
taxes of the amortization and accretion of 
discounts, premiums, and intangible assets 
related to the purchase accounting trans-
action(s). For subsequent periods, the State 
savings association shall disclose the re-
maining total unamortized or unaccreted 
amounts of discounts, premiums, and intan-
gible assets as of the date of the most recent 
balance sheet presented. In addition, the 
State savings association shall disclose the 
net effect on net income before taxes of the 
amortization and accretion of discounts, pre-
miums, and intangible assets related to prior 
business combinations accounted for by the 
purchase method of accounting. Such disclo-
sures need not be made if the total amounts 
of discounts, premiums, or intangible assets 
do not exceed 30 percent of stockholders’ eq-
uity as of the date of the most recent bal-
ance sheet presented. 

III. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

The amounts shown in this statement 
should be those items which materially en-

hance the reader’s understanding of the 
State savings association’s business. For ex-
ample, gains from sales of loans should be 
segregated from sales of mortgage-backed se-
curities and other securities, if material, 
proceeds from principal repayments and ma-
turities from loans and mortgage-backed se-
curities should be segregated from proceeds 
from sales of loans and mortgage-backed se-
curities, purchases of loans, mortgage- 
backed securities and other securities should 
be segregated, if material. Additional guid-
ance may be found in the FASB’s Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 95 
Statement of Cash Flows. 

IV. SCHEDULES REQUIRED TO BE FILED 

The following schedules, which should be 
examined by an independent accountant, 
shall be filed unless the required information 
is not applicable or is presented in the re-
lated financial statements: 

(1) Schedule I—Indebtedness of and to related 
parties—Not Current. For each period for 
which an income statement is required, the 
following schedule should be filed in support 
of the amounts required to be reported by 
balance sheet items 8(j) and 17(c) unless such 
aggregate amount does not exceed 5 percent 
of stockholders’ equity at either the begin-
ning or the end of the period: 

INDEBTEDNESS OF AND TO RELATED PARTIES—NOT CURRENT 

Indebtedness of— 

Name of person 1 Balance at beginning Additions 2 Deductions 3 Balance at end 

A B C D E 

1 The persons named shall be grouped as in the related schedule required for investments in related parties. The information 
called for shall be shown separately for any persons whose investments were shown separately in such related schedule. 

2 For each person named in column A, explain in a note the nature and purpose of any increase during the period that is in ex-
cess of 10 percent of the related balance at either the beginning or end of the period. 

3 If deduction was other than a receipt or disbursement of cash, explain. 

INDEBTEDNESS OF AND TO RELATED PARTIES—NOT CURRENT 

Indebtedness to— 

Name of person 1 Balance at beginning Additions 2 Deductions 3 Balance at end 

A F G H I 

1 The persons named shall be grouped as in the related schedule required for investments in related parties. The information 
called for shall be shown separately for any persons whose investments were shown separately in such related schedule. 

2 For each person named in column A, explain in a note the nature and purpose of any increase during the period that is in ex-
cess of 10 percent of the related balance at either the beginning or end of the period. 

3 If deduction was other than a receipt or disbursement of cash, explain. 

(2) Schedule II—Guarantees of securities of 
other issuers. The following schedule should 
be filed as of the date of the most recently 
audited balance sheet with respect to any 

guarantees of securities of other issuers by 
the person for which the statements are 
being filed: 
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GUARANTEES OF SECURITIES OF OTHER ISSUERS 4 

Col. A. Name of issuer of se-
curities guaranteed by person 

for which statement is filed 

Col. B. Title of issue of each 
class of securities guaranteed 

Col. C. Total amount guaran-
teed and outstanding 5 

Col. D. Amount owned by per-
son or persons for which 

statement is filed 

4 Indicate in a note to the most recent schedule being filed for a particular person or group any significant changes since the 
date of the related balance sheet. If this schedule is filed in support of consolidated or combined statements, there shall be set 
forth guarantees by any person included in the consolidation or combination, except that such guarantees of securities which are 
included in the consolidated or combined balance sheet need not be set forth. 

5 Indicate any amounts included in column C which are included also in column D or E. 

GUARANTEES OF SECURITIES OF OTHER ISSUERS 4 

Col. A. Name of issuer of se-
curities guaranteed by person 

for which statement is filed 

Col. E. Amount in treasury of 
issuer of securities guaran-

teed 
Col. F. Nature of guarantee 6 

Col. G. Nature of any default 
by issue of securities guaran-

teed in principal, interest, 
sinking fund or redemption 

provisions, or payment of divi-
dends 7 

4 Indicate in a note to the most recent schedule being filed for a particular person or group any significant changes since the 
date of the related balance sheet. If this schedule is filed in support of consolidated or combined statements, there shall be set 
forth guarantees by any person included in the consolidation or combination, except that such guarantees of securities which are 
included in the consolidated or combined balance sheet need not be set forth. 

6 There need be made only a brief statement of the nature of the guarantee, such as ‘‘Guarantee of principal and interest,’’ or 
‘‘Guarantee of dividends.’’ If the guarantee is of interest or dividends, state the annual aggregate amount of interest or dividends 
so guaranteed. 

7 Only a brief statement as to any such defaults need be made. 

(3) Schedule III—Condensed financial infor-
mation. The following schedule shall be filed 
as of the dates and for the periods specified 
in the schedule. 

Condensed Financial Information 

[Parent only] 
[The State savings association may deter-

mine disclosure based on information pro-
vided in footnotes below] 

(a) Provide condensed financial informa-
tion as to financial position, changes in fi-
nancial position, and results of operations of 
the State savings association as of the same 
dates and for the same periods for which au-
dited consolidated financial statements are 
required. The financial information required 
need not be presented in greater detail than 
is required for condensed statement by 17 
CFR 210.10–01(a) (2), (3), (4). Detailed footnote 
disclosure which would normally be included 
with complete financial statements may be 
omitted with the exception of disclosure re-
garding material contingencies, long-term 
obligations, and guarantees. Description of 
significant provisions of the state savings as-
sociation’s long-term obligations, manda-
tory dividend, or redemption requirements of 
redeemable stocks, and guarantees of the 
State savings association shall be provided 
along with a 5-year schedule of maturities of 
debt. If the material contingencies, long- 
term obligations, redeemable stock require-
ments, and guarantees of the State savings 
association have been separately disclosed in 
the consolidated statements, they need not 
be repeated in this schedule. 

(b) Disclose separately the amount of cash 
dividends paid to the State savings associa-
tion for each of the last three fiscal years by 
consolidated subsidiaries, unconsolidated 
subsidiaries, and 50-percent- or less-owned 
persons accounted for by the equity method, 
respectively. 

[76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, as amended at 84 
FR 4250, Feb. 14, 2019] 

Subparts U–V [Reserved] 

Subpart W—Securities Offerings 

§ 390.410 Definitions. 

(a) For purposes of this subpart, the 
following definitions apply: 

(1) Accredited investor means the same 
as in Commission Rule 501(a) (17 CFR 
230.501(a)) under the Securities Act, 
and includes any State savings associa-
tion. 

(2) Commission means the Securities 
and Exchange Commission. 

(3) Dividend or interest reinvestment 
plan means a plan which is offered sole-
ly to existing security holders of the 
State savings association which allows 
such persons to reinvest dividends or 
interest paid to them on securities 
issued by the State savings associa-
tion, and which also may allow addi-
tional cash amounts to be contributed 
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by the participants in the plan, pro-
vided that the securities to be issued 
are newly issued, or are purchased for 
the account of plan participants, at 
prices not in excess of current market 
prices at the time of purchase, or at 
prices not in excess of an amount de-
termined in accordance with a pricing 
formula specified in the plan and based 
upon average or current market prices 
at the time of purchase. 

(4) Employee benefit plan means any 
purchase, savings, option, rights, 
bonus, ownership, appreciation, profit 
sharing, thrift, incentive, pension or 
similar plan solely for officers, direc-
tors or employees. 

(5) Exchange Act means the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78a– 
78jj). 

(6) Filing date means the date on 
which a document is actually received 
during business hours, 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. 
Eastern Standard Time, by the FDIC, 
550 17th Street, NW., Washington, DC 
20429. However if the last date on which 
a document can be accepted falls on a 
Saturday, Sunday, or holiday, such 
document may be filed on the next 
business day. 

(7) Issuer means a State savings asso-
ciation which issues or proposes to 
issue any security. 

(8) Offer; Sale or sell. For purposes of 
this subpart, the term offer, offer to sell, 
or offer for sale shall include every at-
tempt or offer to dispose of, or solicita-
tion of an offer to buy, a security or in-
terest in a security, for value. How-
ever, these terms shall not include pre-
liminary negotiations or agreements 
between an issuer and any underwriter 
or among underwriters who are or are 
to be in privity of contract with the 
issuer. Sale and sell includes every con-
tract to sell or otherwise dispose of a 
security or interest in a security for 
value. Every offer or sale of a warrant 
or right to purchase or subscribe to an-
other security of the same or another 
issuer, as well as every sale or offer of 
a security which gives the holder a 
present or future right or privilege to 
convert the security into another secu-
rity of the same or another issuer, in-
cludes an offer and sale of the other se-
curity only at the time of the offer or 
sale of the warrant or right or convert-
ible security; but neither the exercise 

of the right to purchase or subscribe or 
to convert nor the issuance of securi-
ties pursuant thereto is an offer or 
sale. 

(9) Person means the same as in 12 
CFR 192.25, and includes a State sav-
ings association. 

(10) Purchase and buy mean the same 
as in 12 CFR 192.25. 

(11) State savings association means 
the same as in section 3(b) of the Fed-
eral Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C. 
1813(b)), and includes a state-chartered 
savings association in organization 
which is granted conditional approval 
of insurance of accounts by the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation. In addi-
tion, for purposes of § 390.411, State sav-
ings association includes any under-
writer participating in the distribution 
of securities of a State savings associa-
tion. 

(12) Securities Act means the Securi-
ties Act of 1933 (15 U.S.C. 77a–77aa). 

(13) Security means any non- 
withdrawable account, note, stock, 
treasury stock, bond, debenture, evi-
dence of indebtedness, certificate of in-
terest or participation in any profit- 
sharing agreement, collateral-trust 
certificate, preorganization or sub-
scription, transferable share, invest-
ment contract, voting trust certificate 
or, in general, any interest or instru-
ment commonly known as a security, or 
any certificate of interest or participa-
tion in, temporary or interim certifi-
cate for, receipt for, guarantee of, or 
warrant or right to subscribe to or pur-
chase any of the foregoing, except that 
a security shall not include an account 
insured, in whole or in part, by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. 

(14) Underwriter means any person 
who has purchased from an issuer with 
a view to, or offers or sells for an issuer 
in connection with, the distribution of 
any security, or participates or has a 
participation in the direct or indirect 
underwriting of any such undertaking; 
but such term shall not include a per-
son whose interest is limited to a com-
mission from an underwriter or dealer 
not in excess of the usual and cus-
tomary distributors’ or sellers’ com-
mission and such term shall also not 
include any person who has continually 
held the securities being transferred 
for a period of two (2) consecutive 
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years provided that the securities sold 
in any one (1) transaction shall be less 
than ten percent (10%) of the issued 
and outstanding securities of the same 
class. The following shall apply for the 
purpose of determining the period secu-
rities have been held: 

(i) Stock dividends, splits and recapital-
izations. Securities acquired from the 
issuer as a dividend or pursuant to a 
stock split, reverse split or recapital-
ization shall be deemed to have been 
acquired at the same time as the secu-
rities on which the dividend or, if more 
than one, the initial dividend was paid, 
the securities involved in the split or 
reverse split, or the securities surren-
dered in connection with the recapital-
ization. 

(ii) Conversions. If the securities sold 
were acquired from the issuer for con-
sideration consisting solely of other se-
curities of the same issuer surrendered 
for conversion, the securities so ac-
quired shall be deemed to have been ac-
quired at the same time as the securi-
ties surrendered for conversion. 

(iii) Contingent issuance of securities. 
Securities acquired as a contingent 
payment of the purchase price of an eq-
uity interest in a business, or the as-
sets of a business, sold to the issuer or 
an affiliate of the issuer shall be 
deemed to have been acquired at the 
time of such sale if the issuer was then 
committed to issue the securities sub-
ject only to conditions other than the 
payment of further consideration for 
such securities. An agreement entered 
into in connection with any such pur-
chase to remain in the employment of, 
or not to compete with, the issuer or 
affiliate or the rendering of services 
pursuant to such agreement shall not 
be deemed to be the payment of further 
consideration for such securities. 

(iv) Pledged securities. Securities 
which are bona fide pledged by any per-
son other than the issuer when sold by 
the pledgee, or by a purchaser, after a 
default in the obligation secured by the 
pledge, shall be deemed to have been 
acquired when they were acquired by 
the pledgor, except that if the securi-
ties were pledged without recourse 
they shall be deemed to have been ac-
quired by the pledgee at the time of the 
pledge or by the purchaser at the time 
of purchase. 

(v) Gifts of securities. Securities ac-
quired from any person, other than the 
issuer, by gift shall be deemed to have 
been acquired by the donee when they 
were acquired by the donor. 

(vi) Trusts. Securities acquired from 
the settler of a trust by the trust or ac-
quired from the trust by the bene-
ficiaries thereof shall be deemed to 
have been acquired when they were ac-
quired by the settler. 

(vii) Estates. Securities held by the 
estate of a deceased person or acquired 
from such an estate by the bene-
ficiaries thereof shall be deemed to 
have been acquired when they were ac-
quired by the deceased person, except 
that no holding period is required if the 
estate is not an affiliate of the issuer 
or if the securities are sold by a bene-
ficiary of the estate who is not such an 
affiliate. 

(viii) Exchange transactions. A person 
receiving securities in a transaction in-
volving an exchange of the securities of 
one issuer for securities of another 
issuer shall be deemed to have acquired 
the securities received when such per-
son acquired the securities exchanged. 

(b) A term not defined in this subpart 
but defined elsewhere in this part, 
when used in subpart, shall have the 
meanings given elsewhere in this part, 
unless the context otherwise requires. 

(c) When used in the rules, regula-
tions, or forms of the Commission re-
ferred to in this subpart, the term Com-
mission shall be deemed to refer to the 
FDIC, the term registrant shall be 
deemed to refer to an issuer defined in 
this subpart, and the term registration 
statement or prospectus shall be deemed 
to refer to an offering circular filed 
under this subpart, unless the context 
otherwise requires. 

§ 390.411 Offering circular require-
ment. 

(a) General. No State savings associa-
tion shall offer or sell, directly or indi-
rectly, any security issued by it unless: 

(1) The offer or sale is accompanied 
or preceded by an offering circular 
which includes the information re-
quired by this subpart and which has 
been filed and declared effective pursu-
ant to this subpart; or 

(2) An exemption is available under 
this subpart. 
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(b) Communications not deemed an 
offer. The following communications 
shall not be deemed an offer under this 
subpart: 

(1) Prior to filing an offering circular, 
any notice of a proposed offering which 
satisfies the requirements of Commis-
sion Rule 135 (17 CFR 230.135) under the 
Securities Act; 

(2) Subsequent to filing an offering 
circular, any notice circular, advertise-
ment, letter, or other communication 
published or transmitted to any person 
which satisfies the requirements of 
Commission Rule 134 (17 CFR 230.134) 
under the Securities Act; and 

(3) Oral offers of securities covered by 
an offering circular made after filing 
the offering circular with the FDIC. 

(c) Preliminary offering circular. Not-
withstanding paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion, a preliminary offering circular 
may be used for an offer of any secu-
rity prior to the effective date of the 
offering circular if: 

(1) The preliminary offering circular 
has been filed pursuant to this subpart; 

(2) The preliminary offering circular 
includes the information required by 
this subpart, except for the omission of 
information relating to offering price, 
discounts or commissions, amount of 
proceeds, conversion rates, call prices, 
or other matters dependent on the of-
fering price; and 

(3) The offering circular declared ef-
fective by the FDIC is furnished to the 
purchaser prior to, or simultaneously 
with, the sale of any such security. 

§ 390.412 Exemptions. 

The offering circular requirement of 
§ 390.411 shall not apply to an issuer’s 
offer or sale of securities: 

(a) [Reserved] 
(b) Exempt from registration under 

either section 3(a) or section 4 of the 
Securities Act, but only by reason of 
an exemption other than section 3(a)(5) 
(for regulated State savings associa-
tions), and section 3(a)(11) (for intra-
state offerings) of the Securities Act; 

(c) In a conversion from the mutual 
to the stock form of organization pur-
suant to12 CFR part 192, except for a 
supervisory conversion undertaken 
pursuant to subpart C of 12 CFR part 
192; 

(d) In a non-public offering which sat-
isfies the requirements of § 390.413; 

(e) That are debt securities issued in 
denominations of $100,000 or more, 
which are fully collateralized by cash, 
any security issued, or guaranteed as 
to principal and interest, by the United 
States, the Federal Home Loan Mort-
gage Corporation, Federal National 
Mortgage Association, Government Na-
tional Mortgage Association or by in-
terests in mortgage notes secured by 
real property; 

(f) Distributed exclusively abroad to 
foreign nationals: Provided, That— 

(1) The offering is made subject to 
safeguards reasonably designed to pre-
clude distribution or redistribution of 
the securities within, or to nationals 
of, the United States; and 

(2) Such safeguards include, without 
limitation, measures that would be suf-
ficient to ensure that registration of 
the securities would not be required if 
the securities were not exempt under 
the Securities Act; or 

(g) To its officers, directors or em-
ployees pursuant to an employee ben-
efit plan or a dividend or interest rein-
vestment plan, and provided that any 
such plan has been approved by the ma-
jority of shareholders present in person 
or by proxy at an annual or special 
meeting of the shareholders of the 
State savings association. 

§ 390.413 Non-public offering. 

Offers and sales of securities by an 
issuer that satisfy the conditions of 
paragraph (a) or (b) of this section and 
the requirements of paragraphs (c) and 
(d) of this section shall be deemed to be 
transactions not involving any public 
offering within the meaning of section 
4(2) of the Securities Act and 
§§ 390.412(b) and 390.412(d). However, an 
issuer shall not be deemed to be not in 
compliance with the provisions of this 
subpart solely by reason of making an 
untimely filing of the notice required 
to be filed by paragraph (c) of this sec-
tion so long as the notice is actually 
filed and all other conditions and re-
quirements of this subpart are satis-
fied. 

(a) Regulation D. The offer and sale of 
all securities in the transaction satis-
fies the Commission’s Regulation D (17 
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CFR 230.501–230.506), except for the no-
tice requirements of Commission Rule 
503 (17 CFR 230.503) and the limitations 
on resale in Commission Rule 502(d) (17 
CFR 230.502(d)). 

(b) Sales to 35 persons. The offer and 
sale of all securities in the transaction 
satisfies each of the following condi-
tions: 

(1) Sales of the security are not made 
to more than 35 persons during the of-
fering period, as determined under the 
integration provisions of Commission 
Rule 502(a) (17 CFR 230.502(a)). The 
number of purchasers referred to above 
is exclusive of any accredited investor, 
officer, director or affiliate of the 
issuer. For purposes of paragraph (b) of 
this section, a husband and wife (to-
gether with any custodian or trustee 
acting for the account of their minor 
children) are counted as one person and 
a partnership, corporation or other or-
ganization which was not specifically 
formed for the purpose of purchasing 
the security offered in reliance upon 
this exemption, is counted as one per-
son. 

(2) All purchasers either have a pre-
existing personal or business relation-
ship with the issuer or any of its offi-
cers, directors or controlling persons, 
or by reason of their business or finan-
cial experience or the business or fi-
nancial experience of their professional 
advisors who are unaffiliated with and 
who are not compensated by the issuer 
or any affiliate or selling agent of the 
issuer, directly or indirectly, could rea-
sonably be assumed to have the capac-
ity to protect their own interests in 
connection with the transaction. 

(3) Each purchaser represents that 
the purchaser is purchasing for the 
purchaser’s own account (or a trust ac-
count if the purchaser is a trustee) and 
not with a view to or for sale in con-
nection with any distribution of the se-
curity. 

(4) The offer and sale of the security 
is not accomplished by the publication 
of any advertisement. 

(c) Filing of notice of sales. Within 30 
days after the first sale of the securi-
ties, every six months after the first 
sale of the securities and not later than 
30 days after the last sale of securities 
in an offering pursuant to this subpart, 
the issuer, shall file with the FDIC a 

report describing the results of the sale 
of securities as required by § 390.421(b). 

(d) Limitation on resale. The issuer 
shall exercise reasonable care to assure 
that the purchasers of the securities 
are not underwriters within the mean-
ing of § 390.410(a)(14), which reasonable 
care shall include, but not be limited 
to, the following: 

(1) Reasonable inquiry to determine 
if the purchaser is acquiring the securi-
ties for the purchaser or for other per-
sons; 

(2) Written disclosure to each pur-
chaser prior to the sale that the securi-
ties are not offered by an offering cir-
cular filed with, and declared effective 
by, the FDIC pursuant to § 390.411, but 
instead are being sold in reliance upon 
the exemption from the offering cir-
cular requirement provided for by this 
subpart; and 

(3) Placement of a legend on the cer-
tificate, or other document evidencing 
the securities, indicating that the secu-
rities have not been offered by an offer-
ing circular filed with, and declared ef-
fective by, the FDIC and that due care 
should be taken to ensure that the sell-
er of the securities is not an under-
writer within the meaning of 
§ 390.410(a)(14). 

§ 390.414 Filing and signature require-
ments. 

(a) Procedures. An offering circular, 
amendment, notice, report, or other 
document required by this subpart 
shall, unless otherwise indicated, be 
filed in accordance with the require-
ments of 12 CFR 192.115(a), 192.150(a)(6), 
192.155, 192.180(b), and Form AC, Gen-
eral Instruction B, of this subpart. 

(b) Number of copies. (1) Unless other-
wise required, any filing under this 
subpart shall include nine copies of the 
document to be filed with the FDIC, as 
follows: 

(i) Seven copies, which shall include 
one manually signed copy with exhib-
its, three conformed copies with exhib-
its, and three conformed copies with-
out exhibits, to the FDIC, ATTN: Ac-
counting and Securities Disclosure 
Section, 550 17th Street NW, Wash-
ington, DC 20429; and 

(ii) Two copies, which shall include 
one manually signed copy with exhibits 
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and one conformed copy, without ex-
hibits, to the appropriate regional di-
rector. 

(2) Within five days after the effec-
tive date of an offering circular or the 
commencement of a public offering 
after the effective date, whichever oc-
curs later, nine copies of the offering 
circular used shall be filed with the 
FDIC as follows: Seven copies to the 
FDIC, 550 17th Street NW., ATTN: Ac-
counting and Securities Disclosure 
Section, Washington, DC, and two cop-
ies to the appropriate Regional Direc-
tor. 

(3) After the effective date of an of-
fering circular, an offering circular 
which varies from the form previously 
filed shall not be used, unless it in-
cludes only non-material supplemental 
or additional information and until 10 
copies have been filed with the FDIC in 
the manner required. 

(c) Signature. (1) Any offering cir-
cular, amendment, or consent filed 
with the FDIC pursuant to this subpart 
shall include an attached manually 
signed signature page which authorizes 
the filing and has been signed by: 

(i) The issuer, by its duly authorized 
representative; 

(ii) The issuer’s principal executive 
officer; 

(iii) The issuer’s principal financial 
officer; 

(iv) The issuer’s principal accounting 
officer; and 

(v) At least a majority of the issuer’s 
directors. 

(2) Any other document filed pursu-
ant to this subpart shall be signed by a 
person authorized to do so. 

(3) At least one copy of every docu-
ment filed pursuant to this subpart 
shall be manually signed, and every 
copy of a document filed shall: 

(i) Have the name of each person who 
signs typed or printed beneath the sig-
nature; 

(ii) State the capacity or capacities 
in which the signature is provided; 

(iii) Provide the name of each direc-
tor of the issuer, if a majority of direc-
tors is required to sign the document; 
and 

(iv) With regard to any copies not 
manually signed, bear typed or printed 
signatures. 

§ 390.415 Effective date. 
(a) Except as provided for in para-

graph (d) of this section, an offering 
circular filed by a State savings asso-
ciation shall be deemed to be auto-
matically declared effective by the 
FDIC on the twentieth day after filing 
or on such earlier date as the FDIC 
may determine for good cause shown. 

(b) If any amendment is filed prior to 
the effective date, the offering circular 
shall be deemed to have been filed 
when such amendment was filed. 

(c) The period until automatic effec-
tiveness under this subpart shall be 
stated at the bottom of the facing page 
of the Form OC or any amendment. 

(d) The effectiveness will be delayed 
if a duly authorized amendment, tele-
gram confirmed in writing, or letter 
states that the effective date is delayed 
until a further amendment is filed spe-
cifically stating that the offering cir-
cular will become effective in accord-
ance with this subpart. 

(e) An amendment filed after the ef-
fective date of the offering circular 
shall become effective on such date as 
the FDIC may determine. 

(f) If it appears to the FDIC at any 
time that the offering circular includes 
any untrue statement of a material 
fact or omits to state any material fact 
required to be stated therein or nec-
essary to make the statements therein 
not misleading, then the FDIC may 
pursue any remedy it is authorized to 
pursue under section 8 of the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Act, as amended (12 
U.S.C. 1818), including, but not limited 
to, institution of cease-and-desist pro-
ceedings. 

§ 390.416 Form, content, and account-
ing. 

(a) Form and content. Any offering 
circular or amendment filed pursuant 
to this subpart shall: 

(1) Be filed under cover of Form OC, 
which is under 12 CFR part 192; 

(2) Comply with the requirements of 
Items 3 and 4 of Form OC and the re-
quirements of all items of the form for 
registration (17 CFR part 239) that the 
issuer would be eligible to use were it 
required to register the securities 
under the Securities Act; 

(3) Comply with all item require-
ments of the Form S–1 (17 CFR part 
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239) for registration under the Securi-
ties Act, if the association issuing the 
securities is not in compliance with the 
FDIC’s regulatory capital requirements 
during the time the offering is made; 

(4) Where a form specifies that the in-
formation required by an item in the 
Commission’s Regulation S–K (17 CFR 
part 229) should be furnished, include 
such information and all of the infor-
mation required by Item 7 of Form PS, 
which is under 12 CFR part 192; 

(5) Include after the facing page of 
the Form OC a cross-reference sheet 
listing each item requirement of the 
form for registration under the Securi-
ties Act and indicate for each item the 
applicable heading or subheading in 
the offering circular under which the 
required information is disclosed; 

(6) Include in part II of the Form OC 
the applicable undertakings required 
by the form for registration under the 
Securities Act; 

(7) If the issuer has not previously 
been required to file reports pursuant 
to section 13(a) of the Exchange Act or 
§ 390.427, include in part II of Form OC 
the following undertaking: ‘‘The issuer 
hereby undertakes, in connection with 
any distribution of the offering cir-
cular, to have a preliminary or effec-
tive offering circular including the in-
formation required by this subpart dis-
tributed to all persons expected to be 
mailed confirmations of sale not less 
than 48 hours prior to the time such 
confirmations are expected to be 
mailed;’’ 

(8) In offerings involving the issuance 
of options, warrants, subscription 
rights or conversion rights within the 
meaning of § 390.410(a)(8), include in 
part II of Form OC an undertaking to 
provide a copy of the issuer’s most re-
cent audited financial statements to 
persons exercising such options, war-
rants or rights promptly upon receiv-
ing written notification of the exercise 
thereof; 

(9) Include as supplemental informa-
tion and not as part of the Form OC 
and only with respect to de novo offer-
ings, a copy of the application for in-
surance of accounts as submitted to 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora-
tion for state-chartered savings asso-
ciations; and 

(10) In addition to the information 
expressly required to be included by 
this subpart, there shall be added such 
further material information, if any, as 
may be necessary to make the required 
statements, in light of the cir-
cumstances under which they are 
made, not misleading. 

(b) Accounting requirements. To be de-
clared effective an offering circular or 
amendment shall satisfy the account-
ing requirements in subpart T. 

§ 390.417 Use of the offering circular. 
(a) An offering circular or amend-

ment declared effective by the FDIC 
shall not be used more than nine 
months after the effective date, unless 
the information contained therein is as 
of a date not more than 16 months 
prior to such use. 

(b) An offering circular filed under 
§ 390.414(b)(3) shall not extend the pe-
riod for which an effective offering cir-
cular or amendment may be used under 
paragraph (c) of this section. 

(c) If any event arises, or change in 
fact occurs, after the effective date and 
such event or change in fact, individ-
ually or in the aggregate, results in the 
offering circular containing any untrue 
statement of material fact, or omitting 
to state a material fact necessary in 
order to make statements made in the 
offering circular not misleading under 
the circumstances, then no offering cir-
cular, which has been declared effec-
tive under this subpart, shall be used 
until an amendment reflecting such 
event or change in fact has been filed 
with, and declared effective by, the 
FDIC. 

§ 390.418 Escrow requirement. 
(a) Any funds received in an offering 

which is offered and sold on a best ef-
forts all-or-none condition or with a 
minimum-maximum amount to be sold 
shall be held in an escrow or similar 
separate account until such time as all 
of the securities are sold with respect 
to a best efforts all-or-none offering or 
the stated minimum amount of securi-
ties are sold in a minimum-maximum 
offering. 

(b) If the amount of securities re-
quired to be sold under escrow condi-
tions in paragraph (a) of this section 
are not sold within the time period for 
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the offering as disclosed in the offering 
circular, all funds in the escrow ac-
count shall be promptly refunded un-
less the FDIC otherwise approves an 
extension of the offering period upon a 
showing of good cause and provided 
that the extension is consistent with 
the public interest and the protection 
of investors. 

§ 390.419 Unsafe or unsound practices. 
(a) No person shall directly or indi-

rectly, 
(1) Employ any device, scheme or ar-

tifice to defraud, 
(2) Make any untrue statement of a 

material fact or omit to state a mate-
rial fact necessary in order to make 
statements made, in light of the cir-
cumstances under which they were 
made, not misleading, or 

(3) Engage in any act, practice, or 
course of business which operates as a 
fraud or deceit upon any person, in 
connection with the purchase or sale of 
any security of a State savings associa-
tion. 

(b) Violations of this subpart shall 
constitute an unsafe or unsound prac-
tice within the meaning of section 8 of 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as 
amended, 12 U.S.C. 1818. 

(c) Nothing in this subpart shall be 
construed as a limitation on the appli-
cability of section 10(b) of the Ex-
change Act (15 U.S.C. 78j(b)) or Rule 
10b–5 promulgated thereunder (17 CFR 
240.10b–5). 

§ 390.420 Withdrawal or abandonment. 
(a) Any offering circular, amend-

ment, or exhibit may be withdrawn 
prior to the effective date. A with-
drawal shall be signed and state the 
grounds upon which it is made. Any 
document withdrawn will not be re-
moved from the files of the FDIC, but 
will be marked ‘‘Withdrawn upon the 
request of the issuer on (date).’’ 

(b) When an offering circular or 
amendment has been on file with the 
FDIC for a period of nine months and 
has not become effective, the FDIC 
may, in its discretion, determine 
whether the filing has been abandoned, 
after notifying the issuer that the fil-
ing is out of date and must either be 
amended to comply with the applicable 
requirements of this subpart or be 

withdrawn within 30 days after the 
date of such notice. When a filing is 
abandoned, the filing will not be re-
moved from the files of the FDIC, but 
will be marked ‘‘Declared abandoned 
by the FDIC on (date).’’ 

§ 390.421 Securities sale report. 

(a) Within 30 days after the first sale 
of the securities, every six months 
after such 30 day period and not later 
than 30 days after the later of the last 
sale of securities in an offering pursu-
ant to § 390.411 or the application of the 
proceeds therefrom, the issuer shall 
file with the FDIC a report describing 
the results of the sale of the securities 
and the application of the proceeds, 
which shall include all of the informa-
tion required by Form G–12 set forth at 
§ 390.429 and shall also include the fol-
lowing: 

(1) The name, address, and docket 
number of the issuer; 

(2) The title, number, aggregate and 
per-unit offering price of the securities 
sold; 

(3) The aggregate and per-unit dollar 
amounts of actual itemized expenses, 
discounts or commissions, and other 
fees; 

(4) The aggregate and per-unit dollar 
amounts of the net proceeds raised, and 
the use of proceeds therefrom; and 

(5) The number of purchasers of each 
class of securities sold and the number 
of owners of record of each class of the 
issuer’s equity securities after the 
issuance of the securities or termi-
nation of the offer. 

(b) Within 30 days after the first sale 
of the securities, every six months 
after the first sale of the securities and 
not later than 30 days after the last 
sale of securities in an offering pursu-
ant to § 390.413, the issuer shall file 
with the FDIC a report describing the 
results of the sale of securities, which 
shall include all of the information re-
quired by Form G–12 set forth at 
§ 390.429, and shall also include the fol-
lowing: 

(1) All of the information required by 
paragraph (a) of this section; and 

(2) A detailed statement of the fac-
tual and legal grounds for the exemp-
tion claimed. 
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§ 390.422 Public disclosure and con-
fidential treatment. 

(a) Any offering circular, amend-
ment, exhibit, notice, or report filed 
pursuant to this subpart will be pub-
licly available. Any other related docu-
ments will be treated in accordance 
with the provisions of the Freedom of 
Information Act (5 U.S.C. 552), the Pri-
vacy Act of 1974 (5 U.S.C. 552a), and 
parts 309 and 310 of this chapter. 

(b) Any requests for confidential 
treatment of information in a docu-
ment required to be filed under this 
subpart shall be made as required 
under Commission Rule 24b–2 (17 CFR 
240.24b–2) under the Exchange Act. 

§ 390.423 Waiver. 

(a) The FDIC may waive any require-
ment of this subpart, or any required 
information: 

(1) Determined to be unnecessary by 
the FDIC; 

(2) In connection with a transaction 
approved by the FDIC for supervisory 
reasons, or 

(3) Where a provision of this subpart 
conflicts with a requirement of appli-
cable state law. 

(b) Any condition, stipulation or pro-
vision binding any person acquiring a 
security issued by a State savings asso-
ciation which seeks to waive compli-
ance with any provision of this subpart 
shall be void, unless approved by the 
FDIC. 

§ 390.424 Requests for interpretive ad-
vice or waiver. 

Any requests to the FDIC for inter-
pretive advice or a waiver with respect 
to any provision of this subpart shall 
satisfy the following requirements: 

(a) A copy of the request, including 
any attachments, shall be filed with 
the FDIC; 

(b) The provisions of this subpart to 
which the request relates, the partici-
pants in the proposed transaction, and 
the reasons for the request, shall be 
specifically identified or described; and 

(c) The request shall include a legal 
opinion as to each legal issue raised 
and an accounting opinion as to each 
accounting issue raised. 

§ 390.425 Delayed or continuous offer-
ing and sale of securities. 

Any offer or sale of securities under 
§ 390.411 may be made on a continuous 
or delayed basis in the future, if: 

(a) The securities would satisfy all of 
the eligibility requirements of the 
Commission’s Rule 415, 17 CFR 230.415; 
and 

(b) The association issuing the secu-
rities is in compliance with the FDIC’s 
regulatory capital requirements during 
the time the offering is made. 

§ 390.426 Sales of securities at an of-
fice of a State savings association. 

Sales of securities of a State savings 
association or its affiliates at an office 
of a State savings association may 
only be made in accordance with the 
provisions of § 390.340. 

§ 390.427 Current and periodic reports. 

(a) Each State savings association 
which files an offering circular which 
becomes effective pursuant to this sub-
part, after such effective date, shall 
file with the FDIC periodic and current 
reports on Forms 8–K, 10–Q and 10–K as 
may be required by section 13 of the 
Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78m) as if the 
securities sold by such offering circular 
were securities registered pursuant to 
section 12 of the Exchange Act (15 
U.S.C. 78l). The duty to file periodic 
and current reports under this subpart 
shall be automatically suspended if and 
so long as any issue of securities of the 
State savings association is registered 
pursuant to section 12 of the Exchange 
Act (15 U.S.C. 78l). The duty to file 
under this subpart shall also be auto-
matically suspended as to any fiscal 
year, other than the fiscal year within 
which such offering circular became ef-
fective, if, at the beginning of such fis-
cal year, the securities of each class to 
which the offering circular relates are 
held of record by less than three hun-
dred persons and upon the filing of a 
Form 15. 

(b) For purposes of registering securi-
ties under section 12(b) or 12(g) of the 
Exchange Act, an issuer subject to the 
reporting requirements of paragraph 
(a) of this section may use the Commis-
sion’s registration statement on Form 
10 or Form 8–A or 8–B as applicable. 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 17:23 Feb 11, 2020 Jkt 250040 PO 00000 Frm 00509 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Q:\12\12V6.TXT PC31kp
ay

ne
 o

n 
V

M
O

F
R

W
IN

70
2 

w
ith

 $
$_

JO
B



500 

12 CFR Ch. III (1–1–20 Edition) § 390.428 

§ 390.428 Approval of the security. 
Any securities of a State savings as-

sociation which are not exempt under 
this subpart and are offered or sold 
pursuant to an offering circular which 
becomes effective under this subpart, 
are deemed to be approved as to form 
and terms for purposes of this subpart. 

§ 390.429 Form for securities sale re-
port. 

FDIC, 550 17th Street, NW., 
Washington, DC 20429 

[Form G–12] 

Securities Sale Report Pursuant to § 390.12 

FDIC No. llllllllllllllllll

Issuer’s Name: lllllllllllllll

Address: lllllllllllllllllll

If in organization, state the date of 
FDIC certification of insurance of ac-
counts: ll 

State the title, number, aggregate 
and per-unit offering price of the secu-
rities sold: llll 

State the aggregate and per-unit dol-
lar amounts of actual itemized offering 
expenses, discounts, commissions, and 
other fees: llll 

State the aggregate and per-unit dol-
lar amounts of the net proceeds raised: 
llll 

Describe the use of proceeds. If un-
known, provide reasonable estimates of 
the dollar amount allocated to each 
purpose for which the proceeds will be 
used: llll 

State the number of purchasers of 
each class of securities sold and the 
number of owners of record of each 
class of the issuer’s equity securities at 
the close or termination of the offer-
ing: llll 

For a non-public offering, also state 
the factual and legal grounds for the 
exemption claimed (attach additional 
pages if necessary): llll 

For a non-public offering, all offering 
materials used should be listed: 
llll 

Person to Contact: lllllllllllll

Telephone No.: lllllllllllllll

This issuer has duly caused this secu-
rities sale report to be signed on its be-
half by the undersigned person. 

Date of securities sale report llllllll

Issuer: llllllllllllllllllll

Signature: llllllllllllllllll

Name: llllllllllllllllllll

Title: llllllllllllllllllll

Instruction: Print the name and title 
of the signing representative under his 
or her signature. Ten copies of the se-
curities sale report should be filed, in-
cluding one copy manually signed, as 
required under 12 CFR 390.414. 

Attention 
Intentional misstatements or omis-

sions of fact constitute violations of 
Federal law (See 18 U.S.C. 1001 and 
§ 390.355(b)). 

§ 390.430 Filing of copies of offering 
circulars in certain exempt offer-
ings. 

A copy of the offering circular, or 
similar document, if any, used in con-
nection with an offering exempt from 
the offering circular requirement of 
§ 390.411 by reason of § 390.412(e) or 
§ 390.413 shall be mailed to the FDIC 
within 30 days after the first sale of 
such securities. Such copy of the offer-
ing circular, or similar document, is 
solely for the information of the FDIC 
and shall not be deemed to be ‘‘filed’’ 
with the FDIC pursuant to § 390.411. 
The mailing to the FDIC of such offer-
ing circular, or similar document, shall 
not be a pre-condition of the applicable 
exemption from the offering circular 
requirements of § 390.411. 

Subpart X [Reserved] 

Subpart Y—Prompt Corrective 
Action 

§§ 390.450–390.455 [Reserved] 

§ 390.456 Directives to take prompt 
corrective action. 

(a) Notice of intent to issue a directive— 
(1) In general. The FDIC shall provide 
an undercapitalized, significantly 
undercapitalized, or critically under-
capitalized State savings association 
or, where appropriate, any company 
that controls the State savings asso-
ciation, prior written notice of the 
FDIC’s intention to issue a directive 
requiring such State savings associa-
tion or company to take actions or to 
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follow proscriptions described in sec-
tion 38 that are within the FDIC’s dis-
cretion to require or impose under sec-
tion 38 of the FDI Act, including sec-
tions 38(e)(5), (f)(2), (f)(3), or (f)(5). The 
State savings association shall have 
such time to respond to a proposed di-
rective as provided by the FDIC under 
paragraph (c) of this section. 

(2) Immediate issuance of final direc-
tive. If the FDIC finds it necessary in 
order to carry out the purposes of sec-
tion 38 of the FDI Act, the FDIC may, 
without providing the notice prescribed 
in paragraph (a)(1) of this section, issue 
a directive requiring a State savings 
association or any company that con-
trols a State savings association imme-
diately to take actions or to follow 
proscriptions described in section 38 
that are within the FDIC’s discretion 
to require or impose under section 38 of 
the FDI Act, including section 38(e)(5), 
(f)(2), (f)(3), or (f)(5). A State savings 
association or company that is subject 
to such an immediately effective direc-
tive may submit a written appeal of 
the directive to the FDIC. Such an ap-
peal must be received by the FDIC 
within 14 calendar days of the issuance 
of the directive, unless the FDIC per-
mits a longer period. The FDIC shall 
consider any such appeal, if filed in a 
timely matter, within 60 days of receiv-
ing the appeal. During such period of 
review, the directive shall remain in ef-
fect unless the FDIC, in its sole discre-
tion, stays the effectiveness of the di-
rective. 

(b) Contents of notice. A notice of in-
tention to issue a directive shall in-
clude: 

(1) A statement of the State savings 
association’s capital measures and cap-
ital levels; 

(2) A description of the restrictions, 
prohibitions or affirmative actions 
that the FDIC proposes to impose or 
require; 

(3) The proposed date when such re-
strictions or prohibitions would be ef-
fective or the proposed date for com-
pletion of such affirmative actions; and 

(4) The date by which the State sav-
ings association or company subject to 
the directive may file with the FDIC a 
written response to the notice. 

(c) Response to notice—(1) Time for re-
sponse. A State savings association or 

company may file a written response to 
a notice of intent to issue a directive 
within the time period set by the FDIC. 
The date shall be at least 14 calendar 
days from the date of the notice unless 
the FDIC determines that a shorter pe-
riod is appropriate in light of the finan-
cial condition of the State savings as-
sociation or other relevant cir-
cumstances. 

(2) Content of response. The response 
should include: 

(i) An explanation why the action 
proposed by the FDIC is not an appro-
priate exercise of discretion under sec-
tion 38; 

(ii) Any recommended modification 
of the proposed directive; and 

(iii) Any other relevant information, 
mitigating circumstances, documenta-
tion, or other evidence in support of 
the position of the State savings asso-
ciation or company regarding the pro-
posed directive. 

(d) FDIC consideration of response. 
After considering the response, the 
FDIC may: 

(1) Issue the directive as proposed or 
in modified form; 

(2) Determine not to issue the direc-
tive and so notify the State savings as-
sociation or company; or 

(3) Seek additional information or 
clarification of the response from the 
State savings association or company, 
or any other relevant source. 

(e) Failure to file response. Failure by 
a State savings association or company 
to file with the FDIC, within the speci-
fied time period, a written response to 
a proposed directive shall constitute a 
waiver of the opportunity to respond 
and shall constitute consent to the 
issuance of the directive. 

(f) Request for modification or rescission 
of directive. Any State savings associa-
tion or company that is subject to a di-
rective under this subpart, upon a 
change in circumstances, request in 
writing that the FDIC reconsider the 
terms of the directive, and may pro-
pose that the directive be rescinded or 
modified. Unless otherwise ordered by 
the FDIC, the directive shall continue 
in place while such request is pending 
before the FDIC. 
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§ 390.457 Procedures for reclassifying 
a State savings association based on 
criteria other than capital. 

(a) Reclassification based on unsafe or 
unsound condition or practice—(1) 
Issuance of notice of proposed reclassi-
fication—(i) Grounds for reclassification. 
(A) Pursuant to § 324.403(d) of this chap-
ter, the FDIC may reclassify a well 
capitalized State savings association as 
adequately capitalized or subject an 
adequately capitalized or undercapital-
ized institution to the supervisory ac-
tions applicable to the next lower cap-
ital category if: 

(1) The FDIC determines that the 
State savings association is in unsafe 
or unsound condition; or 

(2) The FDIC deems the State savings 
association to be engaged in an unsafe 
or unsound practice and not to have 
corrected the deficiency. 

(B) Any action pursuant to this para-
graph (a)(1)(i) shall hereinafter be re-
ferred to as ‘‘reclassification.’’ 

(ii) Prior notice to institution. Prior to 
taking action pursuant to § 324.403(d) of 
this chapter, the FDIC shall issue and 
serve on the State savings association 
a written notice of the FDIC’s inten-
tion to reclassify the State savings as-
sociation. 

(2) Contents of notice. A notice of in-
tention to reclassify a State savings 
association based on unsafe or unsound 
condition shall include: 

(i) A statement of the State savings 
association’s capital measures and cap-
ital levels and the category to which 
the State savings association would be 
reclassified; 

(ii) The reasons for reclassification of 
the State savings association; 

(iii) The date by which the State sav-
ings association subject to the notice 
of reclassification may file with the 
FDIC a written appeal of the proposed 
reclassification and a request for a 
hearing, which shall be at least 14 cal-
endar days from the date of service of 
the notice unless the FDIC determines 
that a shorter period is appropriate in 
light of the financial condition of the 
State savings association or other rel-
evant circumstances. 

(3) Response to notice of proposed re-
classification. A State savings associa-
tion may file a written response to a 
notice of proposed reclassification 

within the time period set by the FDIC. 
The response should include: 

(i) An explanation of why the State 
savings association is not in unsafe or 
unsound condition or otherwise should 
not be reclassified; and 

(ii) Any other relevant information, 
mitigating circumstances, documenta-
tion, or other evidence in support of 
the position of the State savings asso-
ciation or company regarding the re-
classification. 

(4) Failure to file response. Failure by 
a State savings association to file, 
within the specified time period, a 
written response with the FDIC to a 
notice of proposed reclassification 
shall constitute a waiver of the oppor-
tunity to respond and shall constitute 
consent to the reclassification. 

(5) Request for hearing and presen-
tation of oral testimony or witnesses. The 
response may include a request for an 
informal hearing before the FDIC or its 
designee under this section. If the 
State savings association desires to 
present oral testimony or witnesses at 
the hearing, the State savings associa-
tion shall include a request to do so 
with the request for an informal hear-
ing. A request to present oral testi-
mony or witnesses shall specify the 
names of the witnesses and the general 
nature of their expected testimony. 
Failure to request a hearing shall con-
stitute a waiver of any right to a hear-
ing, and failure to request the oppor-
tunity to present oral testimony or 
witnesses shall constitute a waiver of 
any right to present oral testimony or 
witnesses. 

(6) Order for informal hearing. Upon 
receipt of a timely written request that 
includes a request for a hearing, the 
FDIC shall issue an order directing an 
informal hearing to commence no later 
than 30 days after receipt of the re-
quest, unless the FDIC allows further 
time at the request of the State sav-
ings association. The hearing shall be 
held in Washington, DC or at such 
other place as may be designated by 
the FDIC, before a presiding officer(s) 
designated by the FDIC to conduct the 
hearing. 

(7) Hearing procedures. (i) The State 
savings association shall have the right 
to introduce relevant written materials 
and to present oral argument at the 
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hearing. The State savings association 
may introduce oral testimony and 
present witnesses only if expressly au-
thorized by the FDIC or the presiding 
officer(s). Neither the provisions of the 
Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.S.C. 
554–557) governing adjudications re-
quired by statute to be determined on 
the record nor subpart C apply to an 
informal hearing under this section un-
less the FDIC orders that such proce-
dures shall apply. 

(ii) The informal hearing shall be re-
corded and a transcript furnished to 
the State savings association upon re-
quest and payment of the cost thereof. 
Witnesses need not be sworn, unless 
specifically requested by a party or the 
presiding officer(s). The presiding offi-
cer(s) may ask questions of any wit-
ness. 

(iii) The presiding officer(s) may 
order that the hearing be continued for 
a reasonable period (normally five 
business days) following completion of 
oral testimony or argument to allow 
additional written submissions to the 
hearing record. 

(8) Recommendation of presiding offi-
cers. Within 20 calendar days following 
the date the hearing and the record on 
the proceeding are closed, the presiding 
officer(s) shall make a recommenda-
tion to the FDIC on the reclassifica-
tion. 

(9) Time for decision. Not later than 60 
calendar days after the date the record 
is closed or the date of the response in 
a case where no hearing was requested, 
the FDIC will decide whether to reclas-
sify the State savings association and 
notify the State savings association of 
the FDIC’s decision. 

(b) Request for rescission of reclassifica-
tion. Any State savings association 
that has been reclassified under this 
section, may, upon a change in cir-
cumstances, request in writing that 
the FDIC reconsider the reclassifica-
tion, and may propose that the reclas-
sification be rescinded and that any di-
rectives issued in connection with the 
reclassification be modified, rescinded, 
or removed. Unless otherwise ordered 
by the FDIC, the State savings associa-
tion shall remain subject to the reclas-
sification and to any directives issued 
in connection with that reclassifica-

tion while such request is pending be-
fore the FDIC. 

[76 FR 47655, Aug. 5, 2011, as amended at 83 
FR 17744, Apr. 24, 2018] 

§ 390.458 Order to dismiss a director 
or senior executive officer. 

(a) Service of notice. When the FDIC 
issues and serves a directive on a State 
savings association pursuant to § 390.456 
requiring the State savings association 
to dismiss any director or senior execu-
tive officer under section 38(f)(2)(F)(ii) 
of the FDI Act, the FDIC shall also 
serve a copy of the directive, or the rel-
evant portions of the directive where 
appropriate, upon the person to be dis-
missed. 

(b) Response to directive—(1) Request 
for reinstatement. A director or senior 
executive officer who has been served 
with a directive under paragraph (a) of 
this section (Respondent) may file a 
written request for reinstatement. The 
request for reinstatement shall be filed 
within 10 calendar days of the receipt 
of the directive by the Respondent, un-
less further time is allowed by the 
FDIC at the request of the Respondent. 

(2) Contents of request; informal hear-
ing. The request for reinstatement 
should include reasons why the Re-
spondent should be reinstated, and may 
include a request for an informal hear-
ing before the FDIC or its designee 
under this section. If the Respondent 
desires to present oral testimony or 
witnesses at the hearing, the Respond-
ent shall include a request to do so 
with the request for an informal hear-
ing. The request to present oral testi-
mony or witnesses shall specify the 
names of the witnesses and the general 
nature of their expected testimony. 
Failure to request a hearing shall con-
stitute a waiver of any right to a hear-
ing and failure to request the oppor-
tunity to present oral testimony or 
witnesses shall constitute a waiver of 
any right or opportunity to present 
oral testimony or witnesses. 

(3) Effective date. Unless otherwise or-
dered by the FDIC, the dismissal shall 
remain in effect while a request for re-
instatement is pending. 

(c) Order for informal hearing. Upon 
receipt of a timely written request 
from a Respondent for an informal 
hearing on the portion of a directive 
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requiring a State savings association 
to dismiss from office any director or 
senior executive officer, the FDIC shall 
issue an order directing an informal 
hearing to commence no later than 30 
days after receipt of the request, unless 
the Respondent requests a later date. 
The hearing shall be held in Wash-
ington, DC, or at such other place as 
may be designated by the FDIC, before 
a presiding officer(s) designated by the 
FDIC to conduct the hearing. 

(d) Hearing procedures. (1) A Respond-
ent may appear at the hearing person-
ally or through counsel. A Respondent 
shall have the right to introduce rel-
evant written materials and to present 
oral argument. A Respondent may in-
troduce oral testimony and present 
witnesses only if expressly authorized 
by the FDIC or the presiding officer(s). 
Neither the provisions of the Adminis-
trative Procedure Act governing adju-
dications required by statute to be de-
termined on the record nor subpart C 
apply to an informal hearing under this 
section unless the FDIC orders that 
such procedures shall apply. 

(2) The informal hearing shall be re-
corded and a transcript furnished to 
the Respondent upon request and pay-
ment of the cost thereof. Witnesses 
need not be sworn, unless specifically 
requested by a party or the presiding 
officer(s). The presiding officer(s) may 
ask questions of any witness. 

(3) The presiding officer(s) may order 
that the hearing be continued for a rea-
sonable period (normally five business 
days) following completion of oral tes-
timony or argument to allow addi-
tional written submissions to the hear-
ing record. 

(e) Standard for review. A Respondent 
shall bear the burden of demonstrating 
that his or her continued employment 
by or service with the State savings as-
sociation would materially strengthen 
the State savings association’s ability: 

(1) To become adequately capitalized, 
to the extent that the directive was 
issued as a result of the State savings 
association’s capital level or failure to 
submit or implement a capital restora-
tion plan; and 

(2) To correct the unsafe or unsound 
condition or unsafe or unsound prac-
tice, to the extent that the directive 
was issued as a result of classification 

of the State savings association based 
on supervisory criteria other than cap-
ital, pursuant to section 38(g) of the 
FDI Act. 

(f) Recommendation of presiding offi-
cers. Within 20 calendar days following 
the date the hearing and the record on 
the proceeding are closed, the presiding 
officer(s) shall make a recommenda-
tion to the FDIC concerning the Re-
spondent’s request for reinstatement 
with the State savings association. 

(g) Time for decision. Not later than 60 
calendar days after the date the record 
is closed or the date of the response in 
a case where no hearing has been re-
quested, the FDIC shall grant or deny 
the request for reinstatement and no-
tify the Respondent of the FDIC’s deci-
sion. If the FDIC denies the request for 
reinstatement, the FDIC shall set forth 
in the notification the reasons for the 
FDIC’s action. 

§ 390.459 Enforcement of directives. 
(a) Judicial remedies. Whenever a 

State savings association or company 
that controls a State savings associa-
tion fails to comply with a directive 
issued under section 38, the FDIC may 
seek enforcement of the directive in 
the appropriate United States district 
court pursuant to section 8(i)(1) of the 
FDI Act. 

(b) Administrative remedies—(1) Failure 
to comply with directive. Pursuant to 
section 8(i)(2)(A) of the FDI Act, the 
FDIC may assess a civil money penalty 
against any State savings association 
or company that controls a State sav-
ings association that violates or other-
wise fails to comply with any final di-
rective issued under section 38 and 
against any institution-affiliated party 
who participates in such violation or 
noncompliance. 

(2) Failure to implement capital restora-
tion plan. The failure of a State savings 
association to implement a capital res-
toration plan required under section 38, 
or this subpart, or the failure of a com-
pany having control of a State savings 
association to fulfill a guarantee of a 
capital restoration plan made pursuant 
to section 38(e)(2) of the FDI Act shall 
subject the State savings association 
or company to the assessment of civil 
money penalties pursuant to section 
8(i)(2)(A) of the FDI Act. 
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(c) Other enforcement action. In addi-
tion to the actions described in para-
graphs (a) and (b) of this section, the 
FDIC may seek enforcement of the pro-
visions of section 38 or this subpart 

through any other judicial or adminis-
trative proceeding authorized by law. 

Subpart Z [Reserved] 

PARTS 391–399 [RESERVED] 
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